

final report

Project code:

B.FLT.0398

Prepared by:

Dr Benjamin Jones Dr Kimberley Wockner Dr Kevin Sullivan Lucy Richardson Tim Sullivan Dr Peter Watts

Date published:

2 May 2017

PUBLISHED BY Meat and Livestock Australia Limited Locked Bag 1961 NORTH SYDNEY NSW 2059

Feedlot dust suppression review

Meat & Livestock Australia acknowledges the matching funds provided by the Australian Government to support the research and development detailed in this publication.

This publication is published by Meat & Livestock Australia Limited ABN 39 081 678 364 (MLA). Care is taken to ensure the accuracy of the information contained in this publication. However MLA cannot accept responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the information or opinions contained in the publication. You should make your own enquiries before making decisions concerning your interests. Reproduction in whole or in part of this publication is prohibited without prior written consent of MLA.

Abstract

Dust generation can be an issue for many Australian feedlots and can adversely impact livestock, employees and the community. Within a feedlot, the sources of dust generation can be categorised as manure-related, traffic-related and feed-related. Consultation with Australian lot feeders and a detailed literature review was conducted to review currently available technologies and strategies to suppress dust in the feedlot environment and identify new research and development opportunities to suppress dust. Within this report, the findings for each of the dust sources are addressed as follows:

- 1. Description of dust generation;
- 2. Data on dust components;
- 3. Impacts of dust on livestock, employees, contractors, and the community; and
- 4. Dust hierachial hazard control.

By following the hierarchy of hazard control, dust from Australian feedlots should not be a health issue to humans or animals, and should only be assessed as a nuisance.

Executive summary

Dust is generated in feedlots from a variety of sources including animal activity in pens, pen maintenance, manure management, traffic, and feed storage and processing. Dust generation can be an issue for many Australian feedlots and has the potential to impact on the health and safety of livestock, employees and the surrounding community.

In this report, the sources of dust generation are categorised as manure-related, traffic-related and feed-related. Following consultation with Australian lot feeders, a detailed literature review investigating the main dust sources has been completed, as follows:

- 1. Description of dust generation;
- 2. Data on dust components;
- 3. Impacts of dust on livestock, employees, contractors, and the community; and
- 4. Dust hazard control using a hierarchy of hazard control.

Hierarchy of hazard control is a system used in industry to minimize or eliminate exposure to hazards. Current dust reduction strategies from within the feedlot industry have been reviewed using a hazard control hierarchy, as was any new or alternative technologies from other industries, such as construction, mining and quarrying. The hazard controls in the hierarchy, in order of decreasing effectiveness, are:

- Elimination;
- Substitution;
- Engineering;
- Administration; and
- Personal protective equipment.

Regardless of the source of dust, dusty conditions are the result of a fine dry material becoming airborne. Manure-related dust is derived from manure from pen surfaces, which can be problematic when pad moisture is low (i.e. < 20%). Low pad moisture may be the result of low stocking densities, or low rainfall, particularly during the summer months. These dry conditions increase dust generation, which is aided through wind and cattle movement, cattle handling and manure management.

Manure-related dust contains a complex mix of organic and inorganic particles. Bedding, hair, skin scurf, insect parts, mites, fungi, bacteria and toxins are all components of manure-related dust which may have potential to cause health problems in cattle and humans. However, no conclusive evidence could be found to support or contradict this theory. Q-fever is a significant infectious disease which spreads from animals to humans through aerosols, contaminated dust, animal products and manures. All workers or visitors exposed to cattle are required to be vaccinated against Q-fever (see Section 4.3.3.2), or wear appropriate personal protective equipment (PPE) which minimises the inhalation of contaminants through the respiratory route (see Section 4.4.5).

Manure-related dust can be managed through elimination, i.e. manure removal or pen moisture management (through stocking density manipulation, or sprinkling systems), or substitution of open feedlot pens with fully-covered sheds. However, all options have associated constraints, including increased dust creation (i.e. during manure removal), current regulatory environment, water availability or economic feasibility. Stocking density manipulation (see Section 4.4.1.3) appears to be a particularly successful and cost effective dust control strategy, although this is heavily constrained by current regulation and heat load factors may also be a concern.

Engineered or physical controls of manure-related dust include windbreaks, pen design, use of bedding material, water curtains or use of a buffer (separation distance) between the dust source and the community. Administrative controls would include time-of-day and week controls, wind direction control, climate prediction control and feed management. Finally, the use of personal protective equipment may assist with minimising dust inhalation or eye irritation and reduce any impact on human health.

Traffic-related dust is generated from unpaved road surfaces from wind, feed trucks, and other vehicle traffic. As discussed with manure-related dust, emissions are greatest when surface moisture is low and when fines content is high.

Since traffic-related dust is primarily derived from unpaved road surfaces, dust is likely to have a significant inorganic component, and reduced organic matter concentrations. Impact to humans and livestock is due to inhalation of fine PM, particularly for abrasive non-biodegradable particulates such as silica which can become deposited deep in the lungs, and can lead to health complications such as silicosis.

Road sealing eliminates traffic-related dust by removing the source of fine particulates required for dust generation. The sealing of roads is costly, although this strategy has successfully been employed by some Australian lot-feeding operations. Other traffic-related dust controls include effective road design, and dust suppression treatments (water and chemical). These treatments may be subject to water availability, or regulation (i.e. chemical treatments).

Finally, feed-related dust may be created through tub grinding feed, depositing the feed into the hopper, and depositing the feed into the feedbunk. However, there are numerous successful strategies used to control feed-related dust. Elimination of feed-related dust can be achieved by adding moisture to the grain, i.e. through steam flaking. Water requirements for steam flaking are relatively minor, meaning that water availability constraints are not applicable.

There is a lack of consensus regarding the most significant source of feedlot dust emissions, with general opinion being divided between manure-related or traffic-related dust. Feed-related dust is generally considered a minor source of overall dust emissions by all feedlot managers surveyed.

In short, the take-home message of this report is that by following the hierarchy of hazard control, dust from Australian feedlots should not be a health issue to humans or animals. If the hierarchy of hazard control is followed, dust should only be a nuisance.

Further research and development is recommended to investigate:

- Variable stocking densities
- Cattle urinary output research
- Water requirements for effective dust suppression
- Dust suppression cost benefit analysis

Fact sheets for feedlot staff have been developed on:

- 1. Sources and characteristics of dust;
- 2. Hierarchy of hazard control;
- 3. Pen-related dust; and
- 4. Traffic-related dust

These can be found in the appendices to this report.

Table of contents

A	ostr	act.			2
E	xeci	utiv	e su	ummary	3
1	E	Bacl	kgro	bund	12
2	F	Proj	ect c	objectives	12
3	Ν	/leth	nodo	ology	13
	3.1		Ove	erview	13
	3.2		Hier	erarchy of dust hazard control	13
	3	3.2. ⁻	1	Elimination	14
	3	3.2.2	2	Substitution	14
	3	3.2.3		Engineered and other physical controls	14
	3	3.2.4		Administrative controls	14
	3	3.2.	5	Personal protective equipment (PPE)	15
	3.3		Rela	lative source contributions to feedlot dust	15
	3.4		Sigr	nificance of time of day (atmospheric stability)	16
4	Ν	Man	ure-	-related dust	17
	4.1		Mar	nure-related dust generation	17
	4	1.1.	1	Source of manure-related dust	17
		4.	1.1.1	.1 Dust from feedlot production pens	18
	4	1.1.2	2	Creation of airborne manure-related dust	23
		4.	1.2.1	.1 Feedlot pens	23
		4.	1.2.2	.2 Cattle handling and processing	26
		4.	1.2.3	.3 Manure Management	28
	4.2		Con	mponents of manure-related dust	29
	4	1.2.	1	Particle size distribution (PSD)	30
	4	1.2.2	2	Measured feedlot dust emission rates	30
	4	1.2.3	3	NPI Feedlot dust estimation rates	30
	4	1.2.4	4	Chemical components of manure-related dust	31
	4	1.2.	5	Biological components	31
		4.	2.5.′	.1 Active steroids	31
		4.	2.5.2	.2 Microorganisms and endotoxins	32
		4.	2.5.3	.3 Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes	33
	4.3		Imp	pacts of manure-related dust	33
	4	1.3.	1	Impacts on livestock	33
	4	1.3.2	2	Bovine respiratory disease (BRD)	33
		4.	3.2.′	.1 BRD prevalence	33
		4.	3.2.2	.2 The effect of dust on animal health	34
		4.	3.2.3	.3 Effect of aerosolised dust on the health and performance of feedlot c	attle35

	4.3.2	2.4	The effects of endotoxin	
	4.3.2	2.5	The effect of dust on pulmonary bacterial populations	
4.3.2.6		2.6	Pathological findings in dust challenged animals	
	4.3.2	2.7	Livestock exposure guidelines	
	4.3.3	Im	pacts on employees and contractors	
	4.3.3	3.1	Particle size categorisation	
	4.3.3	3.2	Q-Fever	41
	4.3.3	3.1	Organic Dust Toxic Syndrome (ODTS)	
	4.3.3	3.2	Other impacts of dust on humans	
	4.3.4	Im	pacts on the community	42
	4.4 Ma	anure	e-related dust hazard control	42
	4.4.1	Eli	mination	42
	4.4.1	1.1	Manure removal	43
	4.4.1	1.2	Pen surface moisture management	47
	4.4.1	1.3	Moisture control through management of stocking density	
	4.4.1	1.4	Moisture control through sprinkling systems	52
	4.4.1	1.5	Elimination of Q-fever	54
	4.4.2	Su	Ibstitution	54
	4.4.2	2.1	Fully-covered feedlot housing	54
	4.4.3	En	gineered and other physical controls	57
	4.4.3	3.1	Buffers	57
	4.4.3	3.1	Windbreaks	58
	4.4.3	3.2	Pen design	58
	4.4.3	3.3	Bedding materials	58
	4.4.3	3.4	Water curtains	59
	4.4.4	Ad	Iministrative controls	60
	4.4.4	1.1	Time of day controls	60
	4.4.4	1.2	Time of week controls	61
	4.4.4	4.3	Wind direction controls	61
	4.4.4	1.4	Climate prediction controls	61
	4.4.4	4.5	Feed management	61
	4.4.4	1.6	Administrative controls for Q-fever	61
	4.4.5	Pe	ersonal protective equipment (PPE)	62
5	Traffic	relat	ed Dust	62
	5.1 Tr	affic-	related dust generation	62
	5.2 Co	ompo	onents of traffic-related dust	63
	5.2.1	Tra	affic-related dust generation rates	64
	5.3 Im	pact	s of traffic-related dust	64
	5.3.1	Im	pacts on livestock	64

	65		
	5.3.3	Impacts on community	65
	5.4 Tra	affic-related dust hazard control	65
	5.4.1	Elimination	65
	5.4.1.	.1 Sealing roads	65
	5.4.1.	.2 Road design	65
	5.4.1.	.3 Road wetting – clean water	66
	5.4.1.	.4 Road wetting - effluent	66
	5.4.1.	.5 Oil, including spent motor oil	69
	5.4.2	Substitution	72
	5.4.3	Engineered and other physical controls	72
	5.4.3.	.1 Windbreaks	72
	5.4.3.	.2 Air-tight vehicle cabins	72
	5.4.4	Administrative controls	72
	5.4.4.	.1 Vehicle operation - speed	72
	5.4.4.	.2 Timing of traffic	72
	5.4.4.	.3 Strategic road watering	72
	5.4.5	Personal protective equipment (PPE)	72
6	Feed-re	ated dust	73
	6.1 Fee	ed-related dust generation	73
	6.2 Cor	mponents of feed-related dust	73
	6.3 Imp	pacts of feed-related dust	74
	6.3.1	Impacts on livestock	74
	6.3.2	Impacts on employees and contractors	74
	6.3.2.	.1 Health impacts	74
	6.3.2.	.2 Explosion and fire risks to staff	74
	6.3.3	Impacts on community	75
	6.4 Fee	ed-related dust hazard control	75
	6.4.1	Elimination	75
	6.4.2	Substitution	75
	6.4.3	Engineered and other physical controls	77
	6.4.3.	.1 Cyclones	79
	6.4.3.	.2 Bag filters	
	6.4.3.	.3 Wet scrubbers	80
	6.4.3.	.4 Electrostatic precipitators	81
	6.4.4	Administrative controls	81
	6.4.5	Personal protective equipment (PPE)	81
7	Discuss	sion	82
	7.1 Effe	ect of feedlot dust on livestock	

7.2	7.2 Additional research or other actions			
7.2	.1 Feedlot dust characteristics in Australia			
7.2	.2 Pen manure removal and dry manure mounding			
7.2	.3 Modification to pen stocking density			
7.2	.4 Dust management plans			
7.3	Project delivery			
7.4	Project objectives			
8 Co	nclusions/Recommendations			
9 Key	/ Messages			
9.1	Animal health			
9.2	Dust mitigation strategies			
9.3	Monitoring			
10 E	Bibliography			
11 A	ppendix A – Dust measurement and monitoring			
11.1	Personal aerosol samplers			
11.2	Aerosol samplers			
11.3	Air Samplers			
11.4	Dust deposition gauge			
11.5	New monitoring methods			
12 A	ppendix B – Fact Sheet			

List of Tables

Table 1 – Feedlot distribution vs. mean annual rainfall (2012)	19
Table 2 – Distribution of feedlots in seasonal rainfall regions (2012)	19
Table 3 – Inhalability and respirability of dust particle sizes	39
Table 4 – Exposure limits to sundry agricultural dusts	40
Table 5 – US EPA national ambient air quality standards for PM _{2.5} and PM ₁₀	41
Table 6 – Performance Data for the Control of Particulate Emissions from the Poultry In	dustry
Table 7 – Performance Data for the Control of Particulate Emission from the Piggery Ind	dustry
Table 8 – Effluent Quality in Feedlot Holding Ponds	68

List of Figures

Fig. 1 – Hierarchy of dust hazard control	14
Fig. 2 – Dust contributions from different sources	16
Fig. 3 – Estimated effect of stocking density on moisture added to pad surface	18
Fig. 4 – Feedlot location versus seasonal rainfall zone	20
Fig. 5 – Real time PM ₁₀ concentrations and rainfall (Galvin et al. 2005)	21
Fig. 6 – Simple pen moisture balance – winter-dominant rainfall zone	22
Fig. 7 – Simple pen moisture balance – summer rainfall zone	22
Fig. 8 – Simple pen moisture balance – summer –dominant rainfall zone	23
Fig. 9 – Median hourly net PM ₁₀ concentrations for two feedlots (a and b)	25
Fig. 10 – Percentage contribution of each hour to the daily PM ₁₀ emission flux for feedlots	KS1
and KS2 based on mean hourly PM ₁₀ emission fluxes for the 2-yr period using days with	
emission data (Bonifacio 2013)	26
Fig. 11 – Typical feedlot pen layout	48
Fig. 12 – Feedlot pen design parameters	48
Fig. 13 – Modified Feedlot Pen Layout	49
Fig. 14 – Relationship Between EC and SAR for Feedlot Effluent	69
Fig. 15 – Industrial particulate control devices	78
Fig. 16 – Comparison of removal efficiencies for different dust removal options	79

List of Photographs

Photograph 1 – Morning fog caught in inversion layer (Class F stability)	17
Photograph 2 – Dust around a cattle handling area	27
Photograph 3 – Dust generated by moving cattle	27
Photograph 4 – Manure composting and screening area	28
Photograph 5 – Dust generated during manure spreading	29
Photograph 6 – Manure interface layer in feedlot pen	44
Photograph 7 – Pen cleaning with retention of the interface layer	45
Photograph 8 – Pen cleaning under moist conditions	45
Photograph 9 – Pen cleaning under dry conditions – mounding dusty material	46
Photograph 10 – Mounding dusty material in pen corner	46
Photograph 11 – Variable stocking densities	51
Photograph 12 – Solid-set sprinkler in feedlot pen	56
Photograph 13 – Solid-set sprinklers in cattle handling yards	57
Photograph 14 – Experimental water curtain at Texas feedlot	60
Photograph 15 – Correct use of dust mask	62
Photograph 16 – Dust generated by feedlot traffic	63
Photograph 17 – Sealed feed road eliminates dust to cattle when feeding	70
Photograph 18 – Bitumen sealed roads eliminate traffic-generated dust	70
Photograph 19 – Water truck operating on gravel feed road	71
Photograph 20 – Feedlot water truck	71
Photograph 21 – Speed limits reduce traffic-related dust	73
Photograph 22 – Dust from conveying dry-rolled dry grain	76
Photograph 23 – No dust from conveying rolled wet grain	76
Photograph 24 – Grain scalper and cyclone to remove dust	80
Photograph 25 – Dust sampler used by Galvin et al. (2005)	102
- · · · · · ·	

Abbreviations

ADG	Average Daily Gain (of livestock liveweight)
ALFA	Australian Lot Feeders' Association
BRD	Bovine Respiratory Disease
CFU	Colony-Forming Unit
DOF	(Days on Feed) means the difference between the exit date and the entry date of feedlot cattle
EC	Electrical Conductivity
EDP	Evening Dust Peak
ET	Endotoxin
G:F Ratio	(Gain : Feed Ratio) is synonymous with the feed conversion ratio
IBR	Infectious Bovine Rhinotracheitis
MLA	Meat & Livestock Australia
NLIS	National Livestock Identification Scheme
NPI	National Pollutant Inventory
ODTS	Organic Dust Toxic Syndrome
PM	Particulate Matter
PPE	Personal Protective Equipment
PSD	Particle Size Distribution
Pulls	Cattle which have been pulled from their home pen for treatment
PVC	Packed cell volume
SAR	Sodium Adsorption Ratio
ТЕОМ	Tapered Element Oscillating Microbalance
TSP	Total Suspended Particulates
TWA	Time Weighted Average
µg/h	µg exposure per hour
WBC	White Blood Cell

1 Background

Dust generation can be an issue for many Australian feedlots. There are three main areas where dust may cause impacts. They are:

- Livestock: (animal welfare and production),
- Employees and contractors: (occupational health and safety), and
- Community (amenity and health).

Dust is generated in feedlots from a variety of sources including animal activity in pens, pen maintenance, manure management, traffic on on-site roads and access roads, and feed storage and processing. In this report, the sources of dust generation have been categorised as:

<u>Cause</u>

- Manure-related animal activity, pen cleaning and manure management,
- Traffic-related traffic on on-site and access roads, and
- Feed-related feed storage and processing.

Each source of dust has been investigated and the specific impacts have been discussed. Current hazard reduction strategies from within the feedlot industry have been reviewed using a hazard control hierarchy, as was any new or alternative technologies from other industries, such as construction, mining and quarrying.

Recommendations on the best abatement strategies for dust suppression for all three sources of dust have been included. Dust exposure limits for animals, employees and contractors, and the community are proposed. Fact sheets aimed at feedlot employees and contractors have been produced to raise awareness of current best practice for the identification and management of excessive dust.

Improved dust management aligns with MLA's meat industry strategic plan priorities (2016-2020) of animal welfare, production efficiency and building industry capability (MLA 2016b).

2 **Project objectives**

Source

As outlined in the research agreement, the project objectives are:

- 1. Review available technologies and strategies to suppress dust in the feedlot environment which addresses (but is not limited to):
 - a. strategies to detect when dust-load is problematic
 - b. available technologies and strategies to suppress pen and road dust
 - c. animal health impacts
 - d. occupational health and safety impacts
 - e. air quality impacts on surrounding neighbours
 - f. recommendations to limit exposure of dust to animals, workers and neighbours.
- 2. Identify research and development opportunities to suppress dust in the feedlot environment.
- 3. Develop, in addition to the final report, a fact sheet that can be used by feedlot staff.

3 Methodology

3.1 Overview

This study is a desktop assessment which draws on publicly available information, including, but not limited to, peer-reviewed journals, industry reports and on-line searches. Australian lot feeders and overseas researchers from the USA have been consulted in the preparation of this review. Established relationships with researchers from the USA, who are currently conducting dust mitigation work, have assisted in the information gathering process.

The results and discussion are reported for each of the three dust sources (manure, traffic and feed) using the following structure to the reporting.

- 1. Description of dust generation
- 2. Data on dust components
- 3. Impacts of this dust on livestock, employees and contractors, and the community
- 4. Dust hazard control using a hierarchy of hazard control.

3.2 Hierarchy of dust hazard control

Hierarchy of hazard control is a system used in industry to minimize or eliminate exposure to hazards. It is a widely accepted system promoted by numerous safety organizations. This concept is taught to managers in industry, to be promoted as standard practice in the workplace. The hazard controls in the hierarchy (Fig. 1) are, in order of decreasing effectiveness:

- Elimination
- Substitution
- Engineering
- Administration
- Personal protective equipment



At a feedlot, dust hazard needs two elements for it to occur. Either of these two elements can be addressed to reduce dust hazard. They are:

- 1. A source of fine, dry matter with small particles sizes, and
- 2. A means for the dust to become airborne, being livestock movement, traffic or wind.

3.2.1 Elimination

Elimination of the hazard (i.e. physically removing it) is the most effective hazard control. For example, bitumen sealing of all feedlot roads could eliminate dust generated by traffic.

3.2.2 Substitution

Substitution, the second most effective hazard control, involves replacing something that produces a hazard (similar to elimination) with something that does not produce a hazard. For example, substituting the preparation of feed rations onsite to offsite would minimise the potential for feed related dust and would transfer the risk to somewhere else.

3.2.3 Engineered and other physical controls

The third most effective means of controlling hazards are engineered and other physical controls. These do not eliminate hazards but rather they isolate people and livestock from hazards. Capital costs of engineered controls tend to be higher than less effective controls in the hierarchy. However they may reduce future costs. "Enclosure and isolation" creates a physical barrier between personnel and hazards. An example is feedlot employees and contractors only working within air-conditioned tractors and other mobile machinery. Extraction fans can remove airborne dust from feed processing as a means of engineered control.

3.2.4 Administrative controls

Administrative controls are changes to the way people work. Examples of administrative controls include procedure changes, employee training, and installation of signs and warning labels. Administrative controls do not remove hazards, but limit or prevent people's exposure

to them. For example, an administrative control to dust on feedlot access roads could be to limit traffic to those times of day when dust is rapidly dispersed, rather than late evenings when dust may remain at ground level and not disperse, i.e. due to a temperature inversion layer.

3.2.5 Personal protective equipment (PPE)

Personal protective equipment (PPE) includes gloves, respirators, hard hats, safety glasses, high-visibility clothing, and safety footwear. PPE is the least effective means of controlling hazards because of the high potential for damage to render PPE ineffective. Additionally, some PPE, such as respirators, increase physiological effort to complete a task and, therefore, may require medical examinations to ensure workers can use the PPE without risking their health. Dust masks are a form of dust PPE for feedlot employees and contractors.

3.3 Relative source contributions to feedlot dust

Dusty conditions are the result of a fine dry material becoming airborne. Feedlot pens and roads, combined with a lack of moisture, and dust agitation can create a dusty environment and hence, dust hazard. Animal activity in pens, pen maintenance, manure management, traffic on on-site roads and access roads, and feed storage and processing can all be dust sources.

Elimination or control, of either the fine, dry material or the air current (movement), means that dust can be eliminated or controlled, but control requires an understanding of the source of the dust. In this report, the sources of dust generation have been categorised as:

- Manure-related animal activity, pen cleaning and manure management,
- Traffic-related traffic on on-site and access roads, and
- Feed-related feed storage and processing.

Various studies have investigated feedlot dust sources and different feedlots have different major dust sources. Huang *et al.* (2013) collected samples from a feedlot in Kansas and concluded that the largest contributor of dust was manure. Samples were analysed using Raman microscopy to identify that manure-related dust accounted for ≥ 60 % dust from the site (Huang *et al.* 2013). However, Wanjura *et al.* (2004) found that traffic-related dust was the major source of dust in a Texas feedlot. Dust emissions 10 µm or less in equivalent aerodynamic diameter (PM₁₀) were calculated and total emissions were in the range of 19 kg /1000 head/day. Of this, only 3 kg /1000 head/day was attributed to feedlot pen surfaces, with the remaining 16 kg /1000 head/day thought to originate from unpaved road surfaces (Wanjura *et al.* 2004).

Galvin *et al.* (2005) measured dust at an Australian feedlot using dust samplers located at various locations around the feedlot. Fig. 2 shows the contributions from different dust sources and indicates that:

- the roadway sites had the highest dust fall with the intermediate sites having the lowest;
- the roadway and background sites were highly variable with time; and
- the feedlot and intermediate sites were almost constant with time.



Fig. 2 – Dust contributions from different sources

It should be noted that in most studies that measure dust from feedlots, it is impossible to separate manure-related dust from other sources. Hence, these studies often describe dust from all sources as "feedlot dust", not just manure-related dust.

These studies, and discussions with Australian lot feeders, indicate that:

- 1. Most Australian lot feeders consider feed-related dust to be a minor health risk, although workers tub grinding feed (i.e. hay) may be at risk.
- 2. The relative significance of manure-related dust versus traffic-related dust depends on site-specific circumstances. These circumstances include climatic conditions of the area (duration of summer or winter and seasonal rainfall), design stocking density and the current status of dust elimination options undertaken at a feedlot. For example, if all feedlot roads are sealed (bitumen), the lot feeder will recognise that manure-related dust is the major issue.

The significance of climatic conditions will be discussed in later sections.

3.4 Significance of time of day (atmospheric stability)

As with odour, the stability of the atmosphere strongly determines how dust will disperse after it becomes airborne. The stability of the ground-level air is categorised from Class A to Class F. Class A air occurs in bright, sunny days. Dust and odour is rapidly dispersed vertically. However, Class F stability occurs in early evenings and mornings. Odour and dust can be trapped in a temperature inversion. The odour and dust drifts away slowly and undiluted, often confined in valleys. Photograph 1 shows morning fog drifting downslope in an inversion layer. Hence, from a hazard viewpoint, the worse time to create dust is late evenings or overnight as the dust will not disperse. It will move undiluted away from the source towards receptors.



Photograph 1 – Morning fog caught in inversion layer (Class F stability)

4 Manure-related dust

4.1 Manure-related dust generation

At a feedlot, dust hazard from manure needs two elements for it to be present. They are:

- 1. A source of fine, dry matter with small particles of manure, and
- 2. A means for the dust to become airborne being either livestock, machinery or wind.

4.1.1 Source of manure-related dust

One of the major factors that affect dust emissions from cattle feedlots is the moisture content of the pen surface. If the moisture content is very low, dust problems might be expected. If the moisture content is relatively high, the dust emission rate and the resulting downwind concentration will be low. Research at a cattle feedlot in the U.S. suggested that a pen surface moisture content of about 20% (wet basis) may be the critical threshold for dust control (Bonifacio 2013; Bonifacio *et al.* 2015).

Low surface moisture (below 20%) occurs during dry weather conditions. Specifically, it occurs under prolonged periods when evaporation from the surface greatly exceeds moisture added to the surface, usually due to rainfall. Dry manure can occur at many sites around a feedlot. These include:

- 1. Production pens
- 2. Lanes and pens where cattle are handled
- 3. Manure processing areas

4.1.1.1 Dust from feedlot production pens

The action of cattle hooves causes dry manure to be broken down into fine particles. The moisture balance of the feedlot pad (pen surface) determines if the manure is dry and hence, dust will be created. Pad moisture content has other important implications for the environmental performance of cattle feedlots such as odour generation. Stocking density (number of cattle per unit of pen area) has a significant influence on pad moisture content. Every day, cattle add moisture to the pen surface via manure (faeces and urine) deposition. Fig. 3 shows the estimated moisture added to the pen surface each year for cattle of various weights kept at different stocking densities. This simple calculation assumes that cattle excrete 5% of their liveweight each day and manure is 90% moisture. Heavy cattle (750 kg) stocked at 10 m²/head can add over 1200 mm of moisture per year (3.3 mm/day). During winter, this can exceed the evaporation rate (depending on location) and the pad remains wet. Under these conditions, odour problems are likely to develop. On the other hand, light cattle kept at 20 m²/head contribute less than 1 mm of moisture/day. In summer, evaporation readily removes this moisture and dust can become a problem. Therefore, the choice of stocking density should achieve a balance between a pad surface that is too dry and one that is too wet. This is dependent on local climate, cattle size and other factors.

Following the USA example, the first feedlots in Australia stocked pens at about 10 m²/head (about 110 ft²/head). Experience in Australia has now shown that this stocking density is only appropriate in drier zones (annual rainfall <500 mm/yr). A stocking density of about 15 m²/head is now considered more appropriate for feedlots in the main grain growing regions of Australia (e.g. Darling Downs) to achieve a balance between odour and dust generation.



Fig. 3 – Estimated effect of stocking density on moisture added to pad surface

Figure assumes daily manure excretion of 5% cattle liveweight. Cattle liveweight was calculated based on various cattle weights and manure moisture content was assumed to be 90%.

Watts *et al.* (2014) analysed the distribution of feedlots in Australia versus annual rainfall (Table 1). In most guidelines, it is suggested that feedlots be located in areas with an annual rainfall of less than 750 mm to minimise odour. In 2012, there are 16% of individual feedlots in areas with less than 600 mm of annual rain but this is 26% of the current pen capacity. Unless a high stocking density is used, these feedlots could be prone to dust generation in pens.

	No. of Feedlots	% of Feedlots	Average Capacity	Pen Canacity	% Pen Capacity
Summary	T CCUIOIS	1 0001013	Οαράδιτγ	I ch dapacity	70 T Ch Oapacity
< 750 mm	629	74%	1940	1185809	88%
> 750 mm	225	26%	709	159636	12%
< 600 mm	137	16%	2579	353256	26%
600-649 mm	77	9%	1748	134569	10%
650-699 mm	176	21%	1953	343683	26%
700-750 mm	239	28%	1482	354301	26%
> 750 mm	225	26%	709	159636	12%
TOTAL	854	100%	1694	1345445	100%

 Table 1 – Feedlot distribution vs. mean annual rainfall (2012)

Watts *et al.* (2014) also analysed the distribution of feedlots versus annual rainfall distribution. The distribution of rainfall throughout the year has a significant bearing on the management of a feedlot (Tucker *et al.* 1991). Feedlots located in areas with high winter rainfall and/or low evaporation rates are more likely to have problems with odour management, as a wet pad is the main cause of odour generation (Tucker *et al.* 1991). Problems also occur with cattle comfort and welfare as the pen manure remains wet and manure dags can attach to cattle. High evaporation and/or summer-dominant rainfall allows pens to dry more rapidly after rainfall. Hence, the period in which odour is caused is reduced and manure dags are less of a problem but dust can be a major problem in these zones.

Table 2 shows a summary of Australia's feedlots (2012) in relation to seasonal rainfall. Fig. 4 shows the current feedlot distribution with seasonal rainfall. In 2012, 22.5% of individual feedlots are located in winter-dominant or winter rainfall areas. This accounts for 27% of current pen capacity.

Climatic Zone	No. of Feedlots	% of Feedlots	Average Capacity	Pen Capacity	% Pen Capacity
Winter Dominant	56	6.6%	1347	75404	6%
Winter	136	15.9%	2108	286718	21%
Total Winter	192	22.5%	1727	362122	27%
Summer Dominant	34	4.0%	1955	66472	5%
Summer	580	67.9%	1269	735932	55%
Total Summer	614	72%	1612	802404	60%
Arid	1	0.1%	400	400	<1%
Uniform	47	5.5%	3840	180499	13%
TOTAL	854	100%	1895	1345425	100%

 Table 2 – Distribution of feedlots in seasonal rainfall regions (2012)

Hence, while pen dust can occur during any dry period, it is mostly likely to occur in northern areas where summer conditions rapidly dry pens and in southern areas where winter-

dominant rainfall means that pens are dry throughout the whole of the summer. Fig. 4 shows the distribution of feedlots across Australia for each seasonal rainfall zone. Both Table 2 and Fig. 4 agree; a high percentage of feedlots are located in the summer rainfall zone.



Fig. 4 – Feedlot location versus seasonal rainfall zone

Figure 5 shows real time PM_{10} concentrations over a two-day period at a feedlot in a summer rainfall zone (Galvin *et al.* 2005). This figure shows the typical peak in afternoon dust when cattle move about (see later sections) but it clearly demonstrates that a single rain event (6 mm) can produce adequate moisture to dramatically decrease the dust concentration.

The consequences of total annual rainfall and rainfall distribution has been assessed simplistically in Fig. 6, Fig. 7 and Fig. 8. In these charts, excess monthly moisture is mean monthly rainfall plus moisture added via manure less mean monthly Class A evaporation. In each case, moisture added by cattle is 51 mm per month taken from Fig. 3 assuming 600 kg cattle and 15 m²/head stocking density. The winter-dominant zone is western Victoria. The summer zone is the Darling Downs and the summer-dominant zone is the Central Highlands of Queensland.

For the summer zone (Fig. 7), there is a slight moisture excess in winter and a moderate moisture deficit in summer. The variation in moisture deficit is from +20 mm to -90 mm per month which is relatively constant throughout the year.

However, for the winter-dominant zone, there is an excess of moisture from April to September which results in the pens remaining wet for the whole of winter. However, in summer, there is a moisture deficit of up 200 mm per month resulting in very dry pens. The variation in moisture deficit is from +65 mm to -170 mm per month, which is a substantially greater variation throughout the year compared to the summer zone. This means that, with a constant stocking density throughout the year, it is impossible to avoid dry, dusty conditions in summer if excessively wet pens are avoided in winter.

For the summer-dominant zone, with a 15 m²/head stocking density, there is a moisture deficit all year round but this could be addressed by increasing stocking density for the whole year.

Although dry periods can occur at all sites, the worst pen dust conditions are likely to occur during summer in feedlots in winter-dominant rainfall zones and this analysis has been confirmed via discussions with several experienced feedlot managers.



Fig. 5 – Real time PM₁₀ concentrations and rainfall (Galvin et al. 2005)

Measurements taken from a feedlot in Southern Queensland with a holding capacity of 15,000 SCU. Measurements taken using a DustTrak 8520 real time PM_{10} analyser. Figure shows dust emissions are significantly increased during the EDP.



Fig. 6 – Simple pen moisture balance – winter-dominant rainfall zone



Fig. 7 – Simple pen moisture balance – summer rainfall zone



Fig. 8 – Simple pen moisture balance – summer –dominant rainfall zone

4.1.2 Creation of airborne manure-related dust

4.1.2.1 Feedlot pens

Manure-related dust becomes airborne mainly due to wind and cattle movement. Wind speed directly increases dust emissions through increased suspension of particulate materials but the impact is dependent on the time of day. Under windy conditions, dust generation is increased through the promotion of rapid evaporation from pen and road surfaces (Amosson *et al.* 2006), thereby increasing the potential for dust generation.

The generation of manure-related dust varies throughout the day, with typically lower levels in the early morning (e.g. between 2:00 am and 7:00 am as found by Bonifacio *et al.* (2012)) and higher levels in what is referred to as the evening dusk peak (EDP) (i.e. between 5:00 pm and 11:00 pm as found by Auvermann *et al.* (2003); Bonifacio *et al.* (2011); Bonifacio *et al.* (2012); Bush *et al.* (2014). Fig. 9 shows the daily dust generation pattern for two US feedlots. Increased animal activity levels, or animal play, are believed to be the significant contributor to the EDP.

This EDP phenomenon has been noted by Australian lot feeders and is seen in Fig. 5. In addition, feedback from some Australian lot feeders suggests that there is also a lesser dust peak after feeding when cattle become a little more active.

Daily PM₁₀ concentrations are similar ($\leq 200 \ \mu g/m^3$, Fig. 9) during the day and at night. A significant increase in concentration occurs late each afternoon (maximum value of $\approx 5000 \ \mu g/m^3$). The afternoon rise is most likely associated with increased cattle activity as ambient temperatures drop following daytime heating and the cattle begin to move about the pens (Sweeten *et al.* 1998).

Fig. 10 illustrates the median hourly net PM_{10} concentrations for two commercial feedlots in Kansas, measured over a two-year period (Bonifacio *et al.* 2012). A lull in dust levels can be seen in the early hours of the morning and an EDP is observed from 8:00 pm to 9:00 pm. Interestingly, times of peak dust concentrations (8:00 pm to 9:00 pm) do not correspond with times of maximum dust emissions (measured as mean hourly PM_{10} emission flux), (Fig. 9). Maximum dust emissions were recorded in the afternoon period between 12:00 pm to 4:00 pm. Emission flux data suggests that animal activity may be quite high in the afternoon period, since animal activity is a significant mediator of dust emissions.

Bonifacio (2013) concludes that maximum dust concentrations are a combination of three factors, being, high emission rate, low wind speeds, and/or stable atmosphere. All three conditions were found present during the EDP, and this corresponded to maximum dust concentrations (Fig. 9). Emission rates during the afternoon were highest, although atmospheric conditions tended to be unstable, resulting in reduced dust concentrations. Conversely, during the early morning period, atmospheric conditions tended to be stable, although emission rates were low, which also resulted in reduced dust concentrations.



Fig. 9 – Median hourly net PM₁₀ concentrations for two feedlots (a and b)

Notes: Error bars represent upper standard deviation estimates. Measured with a tapered element oscillating microbalance (TEOM) PM₁₀ monitor. Net concentrations are calculated by subtracting upwind concentrations from downwind concentrations. Source: Bonifacio *et al.* (2012), p. 356



Fig. 10 – Percentage contribution of each hour to the daily PM₁₀ emission flux for feedlots KS1 and KS2 based on mean hourly PM₁₀ emission fluxes for the 2-yr period using days with emission data (Bonifacio 2013)

4.1.2.2 Cattle handling and processing

Manure-related dust can also become airborne when cattle are moved around the feedlot. Photograph 2 and Photograph 3 show dust creation due to the movement of cattle. Very little moisture is added to the surface of lanes and holding yards due to limited manure deposition so these areas can become dry quickly. Furthermore, movement of livestock breaks up the manure into small fine particles and causes it to become airborne. Unlike dust generated in pens which occurs in late afternoon when cattle become active, dust from lanes and cattle handling facilities occurs when cattle are moved (at a time of day determined by management). Time of day becomes a factor in the choice of dust mitigation strategies.



Photograph 2 – Dust around a cattle handling area



Photograph 3 – Dust generated by moving cattle

4.1.2.3 Manure Management

Manure-related dust can also become airborne during manure management activities including pen cleaning and manure handling in the manure stockpile area. Photograph 4 and Photograph 5 show manure management activities (manure screening and manure spreading). As with all dust issues, manure moisture content is important but, as with cattle handling, choice of the time of day becomes a factor in the choice of dust mitigation strategies.



Photograph 4 – Manure composting and screening area



Photograph 5 – Dust generated during manure spreading

4.2 Components of manure-related dust

Manure-related dust contains a range of constituents that have different generation, dispersal, and impact characteristics. It is a complex mix of organic and inorganic particles. Faeces and urine is excreted by the cattle. This is ground into a fine powder by cattle activity and is mixed with the substrate that forms the pad of the pen. Bedding, hair and skin scurf adds to the components of manure-related dust. Insects contribute insect parts and mites. The soil component of the dust contributes fungi, bacteria and toxins (glucans, mycotoxins and endotoxins) (Wilson *et al.* 2002).

Perillo *et al.* (2009) used energy-dispersive X-ray microanalysis on slaughterhouse collected lung samples to identify a wide range of elements in cattle lung tissue, including silicon, aluminium, titanium, iron, carbon and small amounts of other metals. The same kinds of metals were found in bronchial and mediastinal lymph nodes with differing levels of distribution. Presumably, these elements were derived from the dust inhaled by the cattle.

Hence, manure-related dust contains:

- 1. Fine particulate matter (PM)
- 2. Nutrients derived from manure (N, P, K)
- 3. Other chemical compounds
- 4. Biological matter.

In terms of human and livestock health, harmful manure-related dust constituents include steroids, hormones, microorganisms (i.e. bacteria and fungi) and endotoxins (i.e. toxins inside bacteria that are released when the bacteria disintegrate). Further information on potential antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes can be found in Section 4.2.5.3.

4.2.1 Particle size distribution (PSD)

The fine particles in dust are characterised by their particle size distribution (PSD). PM_{10} is particulate matter 10 µm or less in equivalent aerodynamic diameter. $PM_{2.5}$ dust is a finer sized fraction and is 2.5 µm or less in equivalent aerodynamic diameter. By way of comparison, a human hair is approximately 100 µm, so roughly 40 $PM_{2.5}$ dust particles could be placed across a hair's width. According to the US EPA, Total Suspended Particulates (TSP) comprise particles with equivalent aerodynamic diameters of 100 µm or less, and US EPA reference method 40 CFR 50 requires TSP samplers to collect all suspended particulates within this range.

Meat and Livestock Australia (2005) conducted a comprehensive study of dust emissions from a beef cattle feedlot on the Darling Downs in Queensland. Dust fall was monitored from 17 sites in and around the feedlot over a twelve-month period. Although the report concluded that nuisance dust to the community is unlikely to be an issue, the proportion of fine dust less than or equal to 10 μ m (PM₁₀) was quite high, representing 59% of total TSP. This is significantly higher than the published 20-40% proportion of PM₁₀ dust reported from US feedlots (Galvin *et al.* 2005). PSD of dust emissions has important implications for human and animal health and Galvin et al.(2005) recommended that further studies on PSD be undertaken for Australian feedlots. This may be especially true for PSD downwind from feedlots where standard monitoring practices using TEOM and FRM (US federal reference method) samplers are likely to result in sampling bias (Auvermann 2016) (see Appendix A).

4.2.2 Measured feedlot dust emission rates

Daily particulate matter, PM_{10} , emission factors (defined as mean PM_{10} emission rates) for beef cattle feedlots are in the range of 4.6–127 g/animal/day and are highly variable (Parnell 1994; McGinn *et al.* 2010; McEachran 2015). Emission factors allow for the calculation of total dust emissions from cattle feedlots, although due to the high variability in emission factors, these calculations tend to be inaccurate. Differences in measured PM_{10} emission factors may partially relate to differences in dust monitoring techniques, leading to complications when comparing feedlot dust emissions. Dust measurement techniques need to be standardised for the generation of reliable monitoring data.

In 1972, it was estimated that emissions from the US beef cattle lot feeding industry constituted 0.11 % of total TSP emissions, equating to an estimated 20,500 metric tonnes (US EPA 1977). In the US, agricultural operations such as beef cattle feedlots are typically classified as being minor sources of particulate air pollution (PM_{10}) (Wanjura *et al.* 2004), although dust emissions can still be significant (WSDE 1995; Cole 2008).

4.2.3 NPI Feedlot dust estimation rates

Even though the dust from the feedlot is the major source of PM_{10} emissions, (Department of the Environment 2007) reporting for PM_{10} (and all category 2 substances) is only triggered by fuel usage (Department of the Environment (2007), p. 20). The reporting requirements to the NPI for particulate emissions for other industries (i.e. mining and quarrying) appear in-line with intensive agriculture.

The NPI calculates PM_{10} dust emissions using a dust emission factor of 11.7 kg PM_{10} dust /SCU/year. NPI reporting does not currently use emission factors for $PM_{2.5}$ particulates, although $PM_{2.5}$ reporting is carried out for fuel combustion. Dust emission factors for Australian NPI reporting requirements are different from the emission factors used in the US. In the US, the AP-42 emission factor for cattle feedlots is 127 kg d⁻¹ per 1,000 head of capacity (U.S. EPA 1986.) as cited in Romanillos and Auvermann (1999). Accepted US emission factors are equivalent to an emission factor of 46.36 kg TSP/SCU/year, and US EPA PM_{10} emission factors are equivalent to 17 kg PM_{10} dust /SCU/year.

4.2.4 Chemical components of manure-related dust

Manure-related dust contains a range of constituents with different generation, dispersal, and impact characteristics. Huang *et al.* (2013) found Raman microscopy could differentiate between manure-related dust, and dust originating from other sources. Manure-related dust characterization was based on the source material, being fresh manure samples, rather than the dust itself. No references could be found that provided a full chemical analyses of feedlot dust. As an approximation, it should be similar to pen manure analyses but this has not been confirmed.

4.2.5 Biological components

Manure-related dust can contain a wide range of biological components. Some are present in the manure when excreted, others grow in the manure and feedlot pen surface. Compounds such as hormones, micro-organisms and endotoxins are all found within dust generated from manure.

4.2.5.1 Active steroids

Hormones and steroids that have been found in feedlot dust include:

- estrogens such as estrone and estradiol (female hormones);
- androgens (male hormones),
- trenbolone and trendione (anabolic steroids); and
- melengestrol acetate which is a steroidal progestin used as a growth promoter in animals (e.g., Blackwell *et al.* (2011); Blackwell *et al.* (2013) as cited in Wooten *et al.* (2015).

In-vitro testing of cultures from feedlot dust have tested androgens and estrogens listed above from downwind sites (found in 52% – 100% of samples) compared with the much lower frequency (0% - 10%) in upwind samples (Wooten *et al.* 2015). The results from individual feedlots varied somewhat, with no identifiable pattern relative to weather, but less PM was generated by smaller feedlots (Wooten *et al.* 2015). Analysis of five US feedlots by Blackwell and colleagues (2015) detected estrogens (17α-estradiol and estrone) in the majority of their samples (94%), finding median concentrations of 20.6 ng/g for 17α-estradiol and 10.8 ng/g for estrone. Blackwell *et al.* (2015) also found Melengestrol acetate (31% of samples; median concentration 1.9 ng/g).

Other androgens that may occur in feedlot dust include testosterone, epitestosterone (Angeletti et al. 2006), as cited in Wooten et al. (2015), and androstenedione (Bartelt-Hunt+ et al. 2012), as cited in Wooten et al. (2015). In addition to these manure-based steroids, noncattle sources such as feed and diesel engine exhaust have also been found to yield phytoestrogens, which act similarly to estrogens (Owens et al. 2006; Noguchi et al. 2007), as cited in Wooten et al. (2015). While the effects of these compounds have been identified under laboratory conditions and found to be endocrine active (i.e. able to interact or interfere with normal hormonal action), these analyses are likely to overestimate the exposure potential for humans and animals due to the chemical extraction processes used, which is unlikely to be as efficient in natural biological systems (Wooten et al. 2015). Recent research suggests that overall risks associated with steroidal hormones in Australian feedlot manures are low to negligible, even under high exposure scenarios (Roser et al. 2011b). Risk analysis included the investigation of 13 endocrine disrupting compounds, including estrogens, androgens, progestins and anabolic steroids. Individual hormone risk ratings for different exposure scenarios were further provided in the report (Appendix 36, pages 696 to 699) (Roser et al. 2011a).

4.2.5.2 Microorganisms and endotoxins

Wilson *et al.* (2002) subjected feedlot cattle dust particles 2.5 µm or less in diameter to microbiological examination. Only gram-positive bacteria that were considered non-pathogenic to the bovine respiratory system were cultured. All of the fungi recovered were considered to be non-pathogenic. A more recent study by Purdy *et al.* (2004) found 18 genera of gram positive bacteria and no gram-negative bacteria. The most numerous fungi that were isolated are extremely common fungi found on dying and dead plant substances. These fungi have also been found in granary dust (Domsch and Gams 1972; Palmgren *et al.* 1983).

Manure contains a large content of gram-negative bacteria. However, when the manure is subjected to high temperatures, UV radiation and desiccation, the viability of these bacteria is affected (Chang *et al.* 1985; Marthi *et al.* 1990). Chang et al. (1985) found that UV radiation can lead to a 99.9% inactivation of cultured vegetative bacteria, although viruses, bacterial spores and amoebic cysts require increased UV radiation doses for effective inactivation.

When manure becomes dry, it produces dust particles that contain endotoxins that originate from the gram-negative bacteria (Purdy *et al.* 2002c). Endotoxins are relatively heat stable, biologically active material that profoundly affects humoral and cell-mediated immunity when injected parentally (Burrell 1990). A study by Purdy *et al.* (2004) found significantly more bacteria in dust in summer and found increased concentrations of endotoxin in winter. These gram-positive bacteria are not bacteria considered significant in the Bovine Respiratory Disease (BRD) of feedlot cattle. They concluded that the presence of endotoxin may be a significant issue in regard to animal health.

The endotoxin and microorganism content of dust from 241 intensive livestock buildings in Europe was analysed by Seedorf (1998). Intensively-housed beef cattle were found to have low endotoxin levels measured as μ g exposure per hour (μ g /h). Exposure rates were 3.7 μ g/h (500 kg liveweight) mean inhalable endotoxin and 0.6 μ g/h (500 kg liveweight) mean respirable endotoxin. This compares favourably with poultry broiler sheds (817.4 μ g/h, and 46.7 μ g/h, respectively) and piggery sows (37.4 μ g/h and 3.7 μ g/h, respectively), with higher levels during the day than at night, and for young beasts than mature animals (Seedorf 1998). Total bacteria counts were also lowest for cattle (4.3 log CFU/m³) compared with poultry houses (6.4 log CFU/m³) and piggeries (5.1 log CFU/m³), although fungi concentrations were similar for all three livestock types: 3.8 log CFU/m³ for cattle, 3.7 log CFU/m³ for pigs, and 4.0 log CFU/m³ for poultry (Seedorf 1998). These differences in microbial and endotoxin levels may be due to many factors, including source factors such as animal health and activity levels; as well as clearance rates through ventilation and settlement (Seedorf 1998).

More recent studies of piggery (Sowiak 2012) and dairy (Funk 2011) airborne particulates found somewhat similar levels of microorganisms to that of Seedorf and colleagues (1998) study, with dust from 13 piggeries containing an average of 5.5 log CFU/m³ bacteria (48% respirable) and 3.4 log CFU/m³ fungi (69% respirable); but slightly lower bacteria levels in the single dairy's particulates (3.5 log CFU/m³ in summer, 3.8 log CFU/m³ in winter).

4.2.5.3 Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes

In addition to the pathogenic potential posed by the microbiota themselves, airborne feedlot particulates have also been found to transport antibiotic resistant genes within these microorganism communities, as well as directly transporting antibiotics such as those found by McEachran and colleagues (2015): tetracycline group of antibiotics (found in 60 % of samples), including chlortetracycline, tetracycline and oxytetracycline; as well as monensin and tylosin. Oxytetracycline was the most prevalent, (found in 100% of samples), and had a mean concentration of 820 ng/g (McEachran 2015). However, monensin was found in the highest concentrations, with a mean of approximately 1800 ng/g (McEachran 2015). Chlortetracycline was found with mean concentration of 970 ng/g; while tetracycline at 280 ng/g, and tylosin at approximately 300 ng/g, had the lowest concentrations (McEachran 2015). Based on reported persistence (half-life decay) data, McEachran and colleagues (2015) estimate that active forms of these antibiotic compounds may persist through airborne transport and deposition onto soil, water or other surfaces from days to weeks.

McEachran and colleagues also investigated the abundance of antibiotic (tetracycline) resistant genes in feedlot PM from 10 US feedlots. They found mean increases in gene copies (across six resistant genes) downwind of the feedlots compared with upwind samples of less than 200-fold for TetL gene; between 1000- and 2000-fold for TetL, TetO, TetW and TetQ genes; and over 3500-fold for TetM gene (McEachran 2015).

The McEachran (2015) paper received lots of attention from the lot feeding industry, and a recent press release by Apley *et al.* (2015) expressed concerns about the research findings. In particular, it was noted that the qPCR techniques used by McEachran (2015) only reveal the presence of bacteria, not their viability. In this regard, the research does not indicate the presence of any viable bacteria in the particulate matter samples analysed. Secondly, it was concluded that the non-viable bacterial cells found do not pose a direct risk to human health. Concentrations of antimicrobials bound to PM would also be reduced due to atmospheric dispersion and dilution, and this is not discussed in the paper, hence more research is needed. Research by O'Connor *et al.* (2010) also found few associations between measures of human disease and proximity to intensive livestock facilities.

4.3 Impacts of manure-related dust

4.3.1 Impacts on livestock

Dust inhaled by livestock may contribute to respiratory disease or a general decline in animal welfare. This section discusses the impact of manure-related dust on livestock.

4.3.2 Bovine respiratory disease (BRD)

4.3.2.1 BRD prevalence

The United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) National Statistics Service (USDA 2011b) records mortality statistics for cattle and calf losses in America. The latest statistics show respiratory-related illness, labelled as BRD, was the cause of 1.06 million cattle deaths in 2011 (USDA 2011a). This represents more than a quarter of total cattle and calf losses for 2011 (3.99 million head) (USDA 2011a) and makes respiratory related illness the leading cause of cattle and calf loss. It is difficult to establish the most significant factors involved in contracting BRD, although immunosuppressed cattle are of greater risk to contracting disease. Immunosuppression may occur due to stress, particularly when cattle are transported in close confinement or when held in holding pens (Taylor *et al.* 2010; Hay *et al.*

2014). Viral transmission is increased due to co-mingling with cattle from other properties and can be increased by the harmful effects of respiratory dust emissions (Yu 2012).

Perkins (2013) provided a comprehensive animal health survey of the Australian feedlot industry for 2010. The annual cost of all pulls and deaths was estimated to be \$50 million dollars per year, and was calculated to be equivalent to a cost of about \$22,000 per 1000 head turned off (Perkins 2013).

4.3.2.2 The effect of dust on animal health

The inhalation of dust has always been considered to be a predisposing factor in the pathogenesis of BRD in feedlot cattle. There are a number of hypotheses which try to explain the mechanisms by which the inhalation of dust predisposes feedlot cattle to the development of BRD. The lower respiratory tract is constantly being exposed to bacteria which are inhaled on dust particles. Most of these particles have some impact on the respiratory mucosa and are rapidly removed or inactivated by pulmonary clearance mechanisms. Particles greater than 2 µm in diameter are removed by the "mucociliary apparatus" or "mucociliary elevator". This apparatus is a mucus layer produced by cells in the respiratory epithelium which lines the nasal passages, trachea, bronchi and bronchioles. This mucus layer and the associated ciliated respiratory epithelial cells collectively form the "mucociliary apparatus". The mucus together with the inhaled bacteria that have been trapped, as well as inhaled debris are propelled to the oropharynx by the beating cilia, where they are swallowed (Hjerpe 1993). The cough reflex is important in assisting in the removal of large particles from the trachea and major bronchi. One hypothesis implicating dust in the development of BRD is that this "mucociliary elevator" is severely damaged or overwhelmed by constant bombardment of irritant dust particles, this irritation damages the ciliated respiratory epithelia such that the mucus and debris is not moved to the oropharynx but instead this exudate gravitates down the trachea, into the bronchi and bronchioles eventually settling in the alveoli of the dependent ventral aspects of the lung. These dependant parts of the lung, in particular the cardiac lobe, cannot drain and so fill with exudate creating a suitable environment for the rapid proliferation of bacteria especially M. Haemolytic and P. multocidia. The IBR (Infectious Bovine Rhinotracheitis) virus precipitates this process by invading the epithelial cells of the upper airways damaging the epithelial cilia and causes and overproduction of mucus by the animal in response to this infection.

A second hypothesis is that small dust particles, ranging in size from 0.5 to 2 μ m in diameter, with their accompanying bacteria and endotoxins, reach the alveoli and impact on the alveolar surface fluid film. These particles are rapidly phagocytized primarily by pulmonary alveolar macrophages, a component of the innate immune system (Hjerpe 1993). However, in circumstances where the clearance mechanisms are overwhelmed or fail to function the bacteria are able to proliferate and respiratory disease progresses.

Efficiency of the mucociliary elevator may be adversely affected by systemic dehydration, cold air, irritant gases, and respiratory viruses. Pulmonary alveolar macrophage function may be affected by starvation, systemic acidosis, cold air, hypoxia, treatment with glucocorticoids and stress (Hjerpe 1993). Dust has been considered to be a major environmental stress on cattle depressing immune function which enables pathogens to proliferate in the respiratory tract.

A search of the scientific literature has been embarked upon to find evidence to support the hypothesis that feedlot cattle exposed to feedlot dust can cause respiratory disease. MacVean *et al.* (1986), suspected that inhalation of dust particles 2-3.3 µm in diameter was associated with an increased incidence of pneumonia in cattle 16-30 days on feed in a Colorado feedlot. Other meteorological parameters were also implicated in the development of respiratory disease in this study. This was an observation study with no control groups and the conclusions were associative. However, Smith (2007), in a controlled study using

aerosolized dust which mimicked the range of dust particle size used in the MacVean study did not find any difference in the health parameters measured in the calves.

There was no evidence in the scientific literature examined that supports the hypothesis that dust particles cause physical damage to the mucociliary apparatus. However, there was no evidence to disprove this theory either. The review did not find any research that has been done to examine the effects of dust on the upper respiratory tract of feedlot cattle and what changes if any occur to the anatomy and function of the mucociliary apparatus.

4.3.2.3 Effect of aerosolised dust on the health and performance of feedlot cattle

The second hypothesis on how dust affects feedlot cattle is that small dust particles, less than 2.0 μ m, reach the alveoli in such concentrations that the phagocytosis clearance mechanisms are overwhelmed and bacteria multiply leading to the progression of respiratory disease.

The studies that have been described earlier have shown that only gram positive bacteria are able to be cultured from feedlot dust, and those cultured are non-pathogenic. To support the hypothesis a different mechanism must be occurring. Chirase *et al.* (2004) conducted a study in which young Spanish goats were exposed to ground feedlot manure of 0.89 to 356 μ m (mean 100 μ m) particle size, aerosolized and blown into a canvas tent for four hours per day for 21 days to simulate chronic dust events. The feedlot dust contained 27 μ g of endotoxin per gram of dust. One group of goats was treated with tilmicosin phosphate (10 mg/kg BW, S.C.) prior to starting the study. The results showed no difference in final body weight or feed intake in either dust treated or tilmicosin phosphate plus dust treated animals. There was no difference between the feed intake, ADG (average daily gain) and final body weight between dusted and the non-dusted control groups. The gain : feed (G:F) ratio was higher (P<0.05) in the dust treated goats.

The study showed that goats treated with tilmicosin phosphate had greater G:F ratio (P<0.05), than untreated goats. Throughout the study, the tilmicosin phosphate treated goats outperformed the goats that were not exposed to dust. However, when goats were treated with tilmicosin phosphate prior to chronic dust exposure events, the tilmicosin did not improve ADG (P>0.05). A similar study by Chirase et al. (2000) using market stressed steer calves showed a significant difference (P<0.05) in the steers treated with tilmicosin phosphate prior to dust exposure for ADG over the group not treated with tilmicosin phosphate. The feed consumption of the steers exposed to the dust was 20% lower than those not exposed to dust. In the study by Chirase et al. (2004), goats exposed to one or more dust events had higher rectal temperatures (P<0.002) at 4 and 8 hours post the dust event. The rectal temperatures did not differ however, (P>0.05) in any measurement after 12 hours post dusting. This suggests that the fever produced by a single dust event is temporary and Purdy et al. (2002b) suggests that this change in rectal temperature may be due in part due to endotoxin in the dust. In this study, goats exposed to dust showed a 30% increase in serum fibrinogen, this was 10 times that of the control goats (P<0.03) 4 hours after exposure. There was no differences in serum fibrinogen (P>0.05) after any other dusting events. No effect from tilmicosin phosphate treatment was observed and no difference (P>0.05) in serum fibrinogen was observed between the dust treatment group and those not exposed to dust in the chronic dusting phase of the study.

Packed cell volumes and blood haemoglobin concentrations were lower (P<0.05) at 44 and 210 hours after the first dust event. However, during the chronic dust exposure period no differences were found (P>0.05) between the dust treatment groups. The total white blood cell (WBC) counts were higher at 12 hours (P<0.07) and 20 hours (P<0.02) for the dust exposed group compared with the control goats. Similarly, in goats that receive chronic dust exposure the WBC was significantly higher for all hours on the first day when compared with the control group. However, on all other days measured, the WBC counts were not different (P>0.05)

between dust exposure treatments. This suggests that there is an adaptation that occurs within the immune system to repeated exposure to dust or endotoxin (Purdy *et al.* 2002c). Total blood lymphocytes were increased (P<0.02) compared with the control animals. Chirase *et al.* (2004), suggested that the changes in the number of blood lymphocytes within 210 hours after a single dust event could be due to an actual increase in cell number, cell distribution or repartitioning of cells within tissues. During the chronic dust phase, no differences (P>0.05) were detected in blood lymphocyte counts between dust treatment groups. This suggests that the blood lymphocyte changes were temporary. Blood eosinophil count changes were similar to the blood lymphocyte response.

The review of the literature could not find any research specifically examining the effects of dust as a stressor. Some studies, such as Purdy et al. (2002a); Purdy et al. (2002b); Purdy et al. (2002c); Smith (2007), examined the stress effect indirectly by examining fibrinogen and in some cases haptoglobin concentrations, following dust treatment. Fibrinogen is an indicator of inflammation and haptoglobin an indicator of a response to stress. Smith (2007), measured fibrinogen concentration, and did not find any difference between treatment and control groups. Purdy et al. (2002a) found no difference in fibrinogen concentrations between the tilmicosin treated animals and the non-treated animals following one dust treatment. Overall, the results for changes in fibrinogen concentration were inconsistent. None of the studies found in the literature consistently showed a significant increase in fibrinogen concentration across groups treated with dust regardless of the number of dust exposures, though all studies with the exception of Smith (2007), shown some groups at different exposure levels showing differences, often only numerical, from the control groups. This finding was not in the majority of dusted groups and therefore the effect of dust on fibrinogen concentrations is equivocal. Haptoglobin concentrations were not significant different following dust treatment in any of the available studies. In the study by Purdy et al. (2002c), there was one animal that showed an increase in haptoglobin. In the studies examined, none of the researched examined changes in cortisol concentrations. Cortisol is frequently used as a measure of stress in animals.

4.3.2.4 The effects of endotoxin

All gram-negative bacteria produce endotoxin. Endotoxin (ET) is a relatively heat stable, biologically active material the profoundly affects both humoral and cell mediated immunity (Burrell 1990). Gram-negative bacterial are sensitive to heat and desiccation and are not cultured from feedlot dust. Typically, feedlot dust contains large numbers of gram-positive bacteria as well as fungi.

A study was conducted by Purdy *et al.* (2002c) to determine which component of feedlot dust was most biologically active. To do this, feedlot dust was autoclaved. This process would preserve most of the endotoxin and totally inactivate all microbes. A second treatment was to oven-heat feedlot dust. This treatment would inactivate all endotoxin and microbes. The untreated feedlot dust would contain intact endotoxin and viable microbes. The untreated feedlot dust contained 26.9 μ g ET/g of dust. This untreated dust contained 0.539 g/ (m³min) of dust and 14.5 μ g ET/ (m³min). This caused a significant rise in rectal temperature and total WBC counts in weanling goats when administered as an aerosol into an enclosed tent. The autoclaved dust contained 13.3 μ g ET/g of dust.

The autoclaved dust in the tent contained 0.369 g/ (m^3 min) of dust and 4.904 µg ET/ (m^3 min). The autoclaved dust contained 2.95 times less endotoxin that the untreated feedlot dust aerosol. Both the untreated dust and the autoclaved dust induced high rectal temperatures at 4, 8 and 12 hours post treatment. Total WBC counts were increased over a 12-24 hour period. Neutrophils were increased at 8 and 12 hours. Absolute lymphocytes showed a trending decrease in 4-8 hours.
The dry-heat almost totally destroyed the endotoxin content (0.173 μ g ET/g dust). The dryheated dust aerosol in the tent contained 0.347 g/ (m³min) of dust and 0.0015 μ g ET/ (m³min). The goats treated with the dry-heated dust aerosol did not respond with increased rectal temperatures, increased total WBC, increased neutrophils and decreased lymphocytes compared to the control goats.

This study showed that the most significant biologically active component of feedlot dust was the endotoxin fraction and not the culturable microbes or the ultrafine dust which could carry other toxins and radicals.

4.3.2.5 The effect of dust on pulmonary bacterial populations

A study by Purdy et al. (2003) tested the hypothesis that animals that inhale large quantities of feedlot dust are more predisposed to pulmonary bacterial proliferation. Using goats, the treated animals were dusted in a semi-airtight tent and received a transthoracic challenge of live Mannheimia haemolyticia (4x10⁶ CFU) or live Pasteurella multocida (1x10⁶ CFU). The control animals received the bacteria and were not dusted. The dusted animals showed a significant increase in rectal temperatures. The dusted animals also showed a dramatic leucocytosis with neutrophilia after the first dust treatment. This effect was not sustainable. The dusted animals showed a temporary decrease in appetite for 4 days compared with the controls. On repeated dust exposures, rectal temperature tolerance occurs. This also occurred with total WBC counts (Purdy et al. 2002b). On post mortem M.Haemolytica and P. multocida were successfully cultured from the respective treatment goats. The study found that the ability of goats to clear either large concentrations of M. Haemolytica or P. Multocida injected into the right lung was not affected. Dusted goats cleared the organisms as well as the control non-dusted goats. This study shows that even though alveolar macrophages ingest dust particles, this does not appear to affect their ability to ingest and kill potential bacterial pathogens and that inhalation of large quantities of endotoxin-laden feedlot dust did not predispose animals to pulmonary bacterial proliferation.

4.3.2.6 Pathological findings in dust challenged animals

Two studies (Purdy *et al.* 2002a; Purdy *et al.* 2002b) examined the lungs of dusted sheep and goats in separate experiments both grossly and histopathologically. The findings were similar for both studies. No grossly observable differences were detected in the respiratory tracts of the control and treated animals. There were histological changes in all treated animals whether or not they had received tilmicosin phosphate. There was a generalised mild alveolar septal thickening and hypercellularility as a result of infiltration with macrophages, lymphocytes and neutrophils. The bronchioles and terminal airways had exudate consisting of neutrophils and macrophages filled with foreign particulate matter and siliceous material. There was an increase in bronchial associated lymphoid tissue in one study whereas the other study had lymph nodes filled with black carbon that was used as a dust marker in the study.

The diagnosis was a mild acute exudative broncho-interstital pneumonia (Purdy *et al.* 2002a). The second study described the lesions as a mild sub-acute interstitial pneumonia. (Purdy *et al.* 2002b). In both studies the control animals did not have any histological changes.

4.3.2.7 Livestock exposure guidelines

The current recommendations for continuous exposure of livestock to dust specify a "safe" concentration for non-specific dust of 3.4 and 1.7 mg/m³ for inhalable and respirable concentrations respectively (Wathes 1994) as cited in Takai *et al.* (1998) and Wathes (1998). These guidelines are significantly lower than human exposure guidelines of 10 mg/m³ developed for nuisance dust by Safe Work Australia (2011). Differences in exposure

guidelines are due to animal exposure times being measured over 24 hours, whilst human exposure is only measured over 8 hours to coincide with a typical working day. If livestock guidelines would be adjusted over 8 hours, these would read 10.2 and 5.1 mg/m³ for inhalable and respirable particulates respectively, showing livestock have similar sensitivities to dust as humans.

4.3.3 Impacts on employees and contractors

Manure-related dust in feedlots may have potential to cause health problems in cattle and humans (Seifert *et al.* 2003). The health problems can be due to:

- 1. The inhalation of fine particles
- 2. The inhalation of toxins

4.3.3.1 Particle size categorisation

Dust constituents may differ but, in the absence of detailed information on dust composition, particle size will have the greatest impact on human and animal health.

The two human health categories of dust (based on particle size) are termed inhalable and respirable (Safe Work Australia 2012). Inhalable dust comprises a broader range of particle sizes and includes any dust that can enter the nose and mouth during normal breathing processes (Safe Work Australia 2012). Respirable dust comprises smaller dust particles that can pass from the nose and mouth into the lower bronchioles and alveoli of the lungs where oxygen and carbon dioxide exchange occurs (Safe Work Australia 2012).

Table 3 illustrates the relative proportion of inhalable and respirable dust based on particle size.

Earlier classifications of PM (WHO 1999) included thoracic particulates (Table 3), which is a category between inhalable and respirable dust and includes dust that is passed from the nasal and mouth passages into the airways of the lungs, but not as far as the bronchioles where oxygen is transferred to the blood. The earlier values of inhalable and respirable fractions were very similar to those included in more recent guidelines, i.e. Safe Work Australia (2012), so only the additional thoracic fractions from this earlier data have been included in Table 3.

Particle size ^A	Inhalable ^B	Thoracic ^{C,D}	Respirable ^{B,C}	
(µm)	(%)	(%)	. (%)	
0	100	100	100	
2	94	94	91	
3	92	91	74	
4	89	89	50	
5	87	85	30	
6	85	80	16	
7	83	74	8	
8	81	67	4	
10	77	50	1	
12	74	35	0	
14	72	23	0	
16	69	15	0	
18	67	9	0	
20	65	5	0	
30	58	0	0	
60	51	0	0	
100	50	0	0	

Table 3 – Inhalability and respirability of dust particle sizes

^A Equivalent aerodynamic diameter

^B Source: Australian Standards 3640 and 2985 as cited in Safe Work Australia (2012), pp. 19-20, % by equivalent aerodynamic diameter (μm)

^c proportion of inhalable dust that is respirable; % by equivalent aerodynamic diameter (µm) ^D Source:ACGIH (1999); % by equivalent aerodynamic diameter (µm)

Based on the penetration potential of dust particles (Table 3), most environmental and health researchers use particle size categorisations based on the upper aerodynamic diameter cutoff values of 2.5 μ m (PM_{2.5}) and 10 μ m (PM₁₀) (WHO 1999). Respirable particles, therefore, are those in either PM_{2.5} or PM₁₀ range, and inhalable PM include those within the broader TSP category. Larger particles > 50 μ m have poor inhalability and rarely remain airborne for long (WHO 1999).

Workplace health and safety guidelines have been developed to mitigate potential health risks. Generically, the main health effects of airborne particles discussed in the Safe Work Australia *Guidance on the Interpretation of Workplace Exposure Standards for Airborne Contaminants* (Safe Work Australia 2012) are:

- systemic toxic effects caused by the absorption of the toxic material into the blood, for example, lead, manganese, cadmium and zinc
- allergic and hypersensitivity reactions caused by the inhalation of dusts from materials such as flour, grains, some woods and some organic and inorganic chemicals
- bacterial and fungal infections associated with the inhalation of dusts containing viable organisms and/or spores
- fibrogenic reactions in the gas exchange regions of the lung due to the presence of materials such as asbestos and quartz
- carcinogenic response due to the presence of, for example, chromates and asbestos; and
- irritation of the mucous membranes of the nose and throat caused by acid, alkali or other irritating particulates, especially mists.

Other ways that dust may impact on the long term safety of workers, however, include:

- antibiotics and antibiotic resistant bacteria (McEachran 2015), although this is largely unverified, see Section 4.2.5.3.
- reduced visibility (Safe Work Australia 2012)
- deposition of dust in ears and eyes (Safe Work Australia 2012)
- deposition of dust on surfaces or equipment (Safe Work Australia 2012); and
- increased respiratory tract infections and epithelial cell protein kinase C (PKC).
 Stimulation of PKC from feedlot dust has been shown to activate the lung inflammatory mediators interleukin 6 (IL-6) and interleukin 8 (IL-8) (Wyatt *et al.* 2014).

The Workplace Exposure Standards for Airborne Contaminants (Safe Work Australia 2011) identify maximum exposure limits for a number of chemicals and dust constituents. A list of exposure limits for particulate materials which may be emitted from cattle feedlots is given in Table 4.

Dust source	Exposure limit
Grain dust	Time weighted average (TWA) 4 mg/m ³
Vegetable oil mists (except castor oil, cashew	TWA 10 mg/m ³ , which may be relevant to oil
nut or similar irritant oils)	spray applications
Wood dust	TWA 5 mg/m ³ , which may be relevant to dust
	mulch application

 Table 4 – Exposure limits to sundry agricultural dusts

Feedlot dust generally cannot be placed into any of the categories prescribed by Safe Work Australia (2011). Exposure standards for 'dust not otherwise classified' (nuisance dust) is set at an 8 hour TWA of 10 mg/m³, which is calculated over a five-day working week (Safe Work Australia 2012). Nuisance dust is required to have low inherent toxicity and to be free from toxic impurities. Due to the variable nature of feedlot dust emissions, a large proportion of emissions may not be classified as nuisance dust, particularly for fine particulate materials (<10 μ m). Standards prescribed by Safe Work Australia (2012) do not take into account different susceptibilities to nuisance dust and some individuals may experience adverse health effects at levels below exposure standards (Safe Work Australia 2011).

The United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA 2016b) specifies $PM_{2.5}$ and PM_{10} exposure standards (Table 5). Exposure standards based on PM size class are particularly relevant for the lot feeding industry in Australia where a large proportion of feedlot dust may be categorised as less than <10 µm (Galvin *et al.* 2005). Interestingly, exposure standards prescribed by Safe Work Australia (2012) appear more stringent than the US EPA (2016b) which takes into account sensitive individuals such as asthmatics, children and the elderly.

Human health impact studies of dust generated by animal feeding operations have also included the recent systematic review (a tightly defined protocol for meta-analysis of literature) by O'Connor *et al.* (2010), an update of which will be published sometime later this year (Auvermann 2016). Interestingly, O'Connor's original report (O'Connor *et al.* 2010), found that there was little compelling evidence for a consistent strong association between clinical measures of human disease and proximity to animal feeding operations (AFOs).

Pollutant	Primary/Secondary	Averaging	Level	Notes
		lime		
PM _{2.5}	primary*	1 year	12.0 µg/m ³	annual mean, averaged over 3
				years
PM _{2.5}	secondary [#]	1 year	15.0 µg/m³	annual mean, averaged over 3
				years
PM _{2.5}	primary and	24 hours	35 µg/m³	98th percentile, averaged over 3
	secondary			years
PM ₁₀	primary and	24 hours	150 µg/m ³	Not to be exceeded more than
	secondary			once per year on average over 3
				years

Table 5 – US EPA national ambient air quality standards for $PM_{2.5}$ and PM_{10}

Source: US EPA (2016b)

*Primary Standards provide public health protection, including for sensitive populations, such as asthmatics, children, and the elderly

[#]Secondary Standards provide public welfare protection against decreased visibility, damage to animals, crops, vegetation and buildings.

4.3.3.2 Q-Fever

Q-fever is a significant infectious disease which spreads from animals to humans through aerosols, contaminated dust, animal products and manures (Kubik 2006). Q-fever infection is caused by *Coxiella burnetii* which is an obligate intracellular bacterial pathogen found in sheep, goats and cattle (Casey *et al.* 2015). *C. burnetii* is most abundant in foetal/placental fluids and tissues, where concentrations may be as high as 10⁹ organisms per gram of material (Lugton 2016).

Workers handling foetal/placental fluids are at greatest risk of infection which is mostly acquired via the respiratory route (i.e. infectious fluids suspended as fine aerosols). Despite a reduced prevalence of *C. burnetii* in feedlot dust and animal manures, Q-fever is highly infectious (AMPC 2016a) and infections may be acquired from these materials.

C. *burnetii* survives well in air, soil and water, and may survive for over a year in dust particles (Lugton 2016). High survivability of C. *burnetii* pathogens presents a long term Q-fever infection risk, which may persist even after livestock facilities have ceased operations. Q-fever infections have the potential to detrimentally affect the health and safety of feedlot workers, visitors, and the surrounding community. Although animal manures are generally not considered a major source for Q-fever infections, goat manure has been correlated with an increased incidence of Q-fever infections in the Netherlands (Smit *et al.* 2012; Hermans *et al.* 2014), as cited in Casey *et al.* (2015).

Signs of infection include a rapid onset of flu like symptoms including fever, sweating, nausea, vomiting and diarrhoea which may last for 1 to 3 weeks if left untreated (AMPC 2016b). In very rare cases, around one in 50 people may require hospitalisation due to complications associated with hepatitis, pneumonia and meningoencephalitis (Lugton 2016). A low number of deaths have also been attributed to Q-fever, although these deaths are mostly found amongst the elderly or debilitated (Lugton 2016) who may be suffering from other health complications. On-going symptoms arising from Q-fever may be diagnosed as Post Q-Fever Fatigue Syndrome. Symptoms may include extreme tiredness, muscle pains, fever and depression, and these symptoms may persist for month or years (AMPC 2016b).

4.3.3.1 Organic Dust Toxic Syndrome (ODTS)

In humans, Organic Dust Toxic Syndrome (ODTS) is a clinically recognised self-limiting syndrome most commonly reported by farmers and livestock confinement workers following exposure to mouldy grain, silage, hay and wood chips. Symptoms have also been reported by people tending cattle (Pratt and May 1984; Seifert *et al.* 2003). The syndrome usually begins within hours of exposure to high concentrations of organic dust and is categorised as an inhalation fever with signs of fever with chills, malaise, myalgia, headache, dyspnoea, chest tightness, dry cough and nausea. (Pratt and May 1984; Hurst and Dosman 1990). ODTS can be differentiated from other similar pulmonary exposure conditions, namely hypersensitivity pneumonitis (HP) and Oxides of nitrogen (NOx) (Seifert *et al.* 2003). Fungal spores, mycotoxins and endotoxins are implicated, though the exact mechanism of toxicity is unknown. The mechanism of toxicity is considered to be non-immunogenic (Wilson *et al.* 2002).

4.3.3.2 Other impacts of dust on humans

Wyatt *et al.* (2007) showed that in humans, exposure to feedlot dust extract stimulated bronchial epithelial interleukin (IL) -8 and IL-6 release via a protein kinase C ϵ (PKC ϵ) – dependant pathway. Gimble (1997) suggests that antigenic receptor stimulation could result in macrophage recruitment and their secretion of proinflammatory cytokines, such as tumour necrosis factora, IL-1 and IL-6 (Adler *et al.* 1994). Gimble (1997) concluded that the antigenic stimulation of the respiratory tract by dust particles, endotoxin, other exogenous substances or pathogens has the potential of inducing two general responses: proinflammatory response and immune response.

4.3.4 Impacts on the community

Dust emissions from cattle feedlot operations are generally regarded as an amenity issue (i.e. nuisance related) rather than a workplace health and safety issue (as it applies to feedlot staff and contractors). This is because dust experienced by the community is usually relatively minor and does not have the same dust concentration, frequency and duration as that experienced by feedlot staff. However, if specific circumstances occurred where the community experienced feedlot dust at a significantly higher concentration, frequency and duration to that experienced by feedlot staff, the impacts would be similar to those described in Section 4.3.3.

Natural attenuation processes result in feedlot dust deposition in the natural environment, including on vegetation and soils. Todd *et al.* (2004) found pastures were severely degraded 500 m downwind from a 25,000 head Texas feedlot, although environmental impacts appeared to be localised. Effects of air pollution and PM on vegetation can include necrosis, chlorosis (bleaching or colour change), or alteration in growth (Todd *et al.* 2004). Similar issues have not been reported in Australia.

In the USA, some feedlots have been built very close to public roads and highways. In some circumstances, the dust plumes emitted from the feedlots have caused significant traffic hazards on those public roads. Road safety issues due to feedlot dust have not been reported in Australia.

4.4 Manure-related dust hazard control

4.4.1 Elimination

At a feedlot, manure-related dust hazard needs two elements for it to occur. Either of these two elements could be addressed to reduce dust hazard. They are:

- 1. A source of fine, dry manure with small particles sizes, and
- 2. A means for the dust to become airborne being either livestock, traffic or wind.

Usually, very little can be done to prevent fine dry manure from becoming airborne. It is not possible to stop livestock becoming active in the late afternoon. Livestock must be moved in cattle lanes and held in holding yards. Manure must be removed from pens and processed. Wind cannot be controlled. Hence, the elimination of dust must focus on the creation of fine, dry material. The elimination of manure-related dust could include:

- 1. Elimination of manure, or
- 2. Elimination of dry manure

4.4.1.1 Manure removal

Uncompacted or loose manure can lead to increased dust emissions (Lorimor 2003; Rahman *et al.* 2008), with deep uncompacted dry manure generating the most dust (Auvermann *et al.* 2000). The removal of loose manure can greatly reduce dust generation and odorous gases (Auvermann 2001; Lorimor 2003; Rahman *et al.* 2008). More frequent, or continuous, manure removal has been trialled in Texas with promising results and was shown to have little to no effect on cattle performance or stress (Auvermann 2001). In fact, most Australian feedlot nutritionists believe that there are improvements in ADG due to more frequent manure removal. Frequent manure removal is a particularly important strategy where water limitations restrict the use of sprinklers (Bush *et al.* 2014). Traditionally, manure removal in the US has not tended to be particularly frequent and pens are typically cleaned only once per year, although some may be cleaned twice per year under the United States Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service (USDA-NRCS) program (Casey 2016).

An interface layer of dark, moist compacted manure some 25 – 50 mm thick has been documented in feedlot pens (Auvermann 2001; Lorimor 2003; Rahman *et al.* 2008; Auvermann and Casey 2011). Photograph 6 shows the interface layer in a feedlot pen. The preservation of this interface layer during cleaning activities is desirable as it helps to reduce dust generation from underlying soil materials and protects cattle hooves from stony ground. The compacted nature of the interface layer leads to low water infiltration which protects underlying soil and groundwater resources from the accumulation of excess nutrients (Sweeten 1998). Excessive cleaning of pens results in the removal of the compacted manure interface layer exposing the underlying clay and gravel which can increase dust generation and can be damaging to cattle hoofs (Lorimor 2003). Photograph 7 shows pen cleaning is possible while retaining a good interface layer.

A number of pen cleaning techniques such as excavators and front-end loaders are used but only box scrapers are discussed here. This is because it is more difficult for operators to accurately control front-end loaders using a pushed scraper blade than box scrapers which use a pulled blade (Auvermann 2001; Lorimor 2003).

The use of box scrapers is the current best practice for manure removal (Auvermann 2001; Lorimor 2003). Box scrapers using a pulled blade which is able to carefully remove surface manures whilst leaving the interface layer intact (Auvermann 2001). This technology has been trialled in a few large Texas feedlots (capacity >35,000) with excellent results and little to no depression in animal performance or increased cattle stress (Lorimor 2003).

The experience of Australian lot feeders is that manure removal is most efficient when the pen manure is at about 30-40% moisture content. Photograph 8 shows a box scraper mounding pen manure under optimal moisture conditions. Several of the feedlot managers interviewed believed that more frequent pen cleaning has the biggest impact on dust. Some clean at a

frequency of every 40 days (or less), regardless of the apparent depth of manure in the pen or manure moisture content. This is an insurance policy against unforeseen very dry or very wet conditions.

In general, pen cleaning under very dry dusty conditions does not occur. However, some lot feeders have found that mounding dry pen manure in a corner of the pen can reduce dust generation as it reduces the pen area where dusty manure exists. It is difficult to remove this very dry manure from the pens and removal of that dry material would create considerable dust in itself. Photograph 9 and Photograph 10 show mounding of dusty manure to minimise daily dust generation by livestock. One lot feeder commented that they do this once every 10 days during peak dust periods.

However, other lot feeders believe that once the mound of dry dusty material has been formed, cattle will play with the mound and spread the dusty material back across the pen. No research information was found to determine the effectiveness of in-pen dry manure mounding.



Photograph 6 – Manure interface layer in feedlot pen



Photograph 7 – Pen cleaning with retention of the interface layer



Photograph 8 – Pen cleaning under moist conditions



Photograph 9 – Pen cleaning under dry conditions – mounding dusty material



Photograph 10 – Mounding dusty material in pen corner

4.4.1.2 Pen surface moisture management

One method to eliminate manure-related dust from pens is to make the manure moist. There are two ways in which pen moisture content can be managed.

- 1. Management of stocking density
- 2. Application of additional water

4.4.1.3 Moisture control through management of stocking density

Stocking density of cattle has a significant effect on the moisture content of the pen surface through the addition of moisture in manure. Increased stocking density results in increased added moisture (Fig. 3). Optimising stocking densities can play an important role in reducing dust emissions from cattle feedlot operations (Auvermann *et al.* 2000; Wanjura *et al.* 2004; Rahman *et al.* 2008; Bush *et al.* 2014).

Increased stocking densities may provide dust management strategy through increased manure generation (Bush *et al.* 2014). Early studies by Auvermann *et al.* (2000) yielded inconclusive results, though recent studies by Bush *et al.* (2014) showed an apparent <u>86%</u> <u>reduction</u> in dust emissions following a doubling of the stocking density from 14 m² hd⁻¹ (150 ft² hd⁻¹) to 7 m² hd⁻¹ (75 ft² hd⁻¹). Rahman *et al.* (2008) concluded that increased stocking densities in a Texas feedlot (USA) may also reduce dust emissions through reduced animal activity, although additional mechanisms for reduced dust emissions were not examined. Other mechanisms for reduced dust emissions following increased stocking densities may include increased shading of the pen surface and increased intensity of hoof action resulting in increased bulk density and greater manure stability (Bush *et al.* 2014). These mechanisms should be considered in combination to understand the contributing factors in reducing dust emissions.

Sweeten (1998) concludes that the choice of stocking densities is highly influenced by climatic conditions. Arid climates (i.e. below 250 mm annual rainfall) lead to rapid depletions in soil moisture which leads to increased dust generation. Under these conditions, stocking densities can be maintained quite high, i.e. 9.3 m² hd⁻¹ (Sweeten 1998). Moderate rainfall zones (i.e. 500 mm annual rainfall) result in reduced stocking densities (i.e. 14 to 21 m² hd⁻¹) to accommodate for increased rainfall inputs (Sweeten 1998). Humid high rainfall environments (i.e. 750 mm annual rainfall) are not ideal for feedlot operations as water management can be problematic due to odour. Due to excess rainfall, stocking densities are kept low (i.e. 28 to 37 m² hd⁻¹) to reduce further manure inputs (Sweeten 1998; Rahman *et al.* 2008).

However, management difficulties arise when there is a marked change in climate throughout the year (Section 4.1.1). In areas of winter-dominant rainfall, the pens are wet in winter (and a low stocking density would be appropriate) and dry in summer (and a high stocking density would be appropriate). Hence, changing stocking density throughout the year is desirable.

There are practical issues that need to be addressed when considering increasing pen stocking density. Fig. 11 shows a typical feedlot pen. There is a feed bunk that runs along the full length of the top section of the pen and there are water troughs somewhere in the lower section of the pen. There also may be a band of shade in the centre or lower end of the pen. Fig. 12 shows the design parameters for a pen. Three design parameters determine the size of a pen:

- 1. Stocking density (m² per head)
- 2. Feed bunk length (mm per head)
- 3. Pen capacity (head)



Fig. 11 – Typical feedlot pen layout







Fig. 13 – Modified Feedlot Pen Layout

Increasing cattle numbers per pen

A typical design for an Australian feedlot would be a stocking density of 15 m^2 /head, a bunk length of 300 mm/head and a pen capacity of 200 head. This would lead to a bunk length (W) of 60 m and a pen depth (D) of 50 m. For 450 kg cattle, this would result in about 490 mm of moisture added per year by cattle. In most climates, evaporation could easily remove this moisture and the pen would not be sufficiently wet to cause odour problems. If the stocking density in this pen is increased to 9 m^2 /head, the annual moisture added would be increased to about 820 mm per year. This reduces dust creation by keeping the pen surface moist. This would increase pen capacity to about 330 head but would reduce bunk length to only 180 mm/head.

There may be commercial (consignment size) reasons for not changing the number of cattle in a pen. However, the main concern is access to feed. The higher stocking density would require more frequent feeding (e.g. twice per day to three times per day). However, most nutritionists now believe that increased bunk space per head leads to increased cattle performance. It is possible that the increase in stocking density described above would lead to reduced cattle performance.

Another issue with increasing stocking density is the possibility of heat stress events. Some lot feeders are concerned that, if the pens were packed tightly, an unexpected rainfall event could lead to high humidity on pens and a potential heat stress event.

Reducing available pen area

There is one method used at some feedlots in the USA and attempted at some Australian feedlots. The aim is to increase stocking density for dust control, without changing bunk

length per head. The method is to string an electric fence (or similar), parallel to the feed bunk, across the bottom third of the pen (see Fig. 13 and Photograph 11). However, this can only work if the water troughs (and shade, if in place) is in the top section of the pen (see modified feedlot pen layout - Fig. 13), rather than the typical trough location shown in Fig. 11. This approach was one the treatments used by Bush et al. (2013). In this study, Bush et al. (2013) doubled the stocking density from 14 m² hd⁻¹ (150 ft² hd⁻¹) to 7 m² hd⁻¹ (75 ft² hd⁻¹) by halving the pen area using an electric fence. This proved to be a successful strategy as Bush et al. (2013) found that PM_{10} emission factors decreased from 50 kg dust generated per 1,000 hd per day (50.73 kg/1,000 hd-day) to 7.04 kg/1,000 hd-day, representing a 86% reduction in dust generation. The fenced off portion of the pen is likely to still contain a source of fine dry material, although the exclusion of cattle from this area reduces ground disturbance and limits the potential for this material to become airborne. The second treatment involved doubling the stocking densities by doubling the number of cattle and maintaining the same pen area. This strategy further reduced PM₁₀ emission factors to 4.55 kg/1,000 hd-day. The further reduction in emission factors may be due to increased dust generation from the fenced off areas in Bush's first experiment.

There are practical issues to be resolved before this approach can be used. Experience has shown that new cattle, as a mob, can "rush" an electric fence and knock it over. A combination of stronger fencing, more visible fencing and livestock training would be required to make this dust elimination solution viable.



Photograph 11 – Variable stocking densities (Broken Bow Feedlot, Neb, USA)

Increasing manure excretion rates

One approach used by an Australian lot feeder to increase moisture added to the pen surface is to cause the cattle to excrete more urine. This is done by adding salt to the ration. Anecdotally, this has shown good results. However, the manure excretion rates reported in the literature are not sufficiently accurate to quantify the amount of extra moisture excretion (via increased drinking water intake) due to the addition of salt to the ration.

Regulatory issues

Manipulating stocking densities can be an effective low cost strategy for reducing dust emissions in cattle feedlots. However, it needs to be noted that the minimum stocking density allowed in Australia, as per animal welfare standards, is 9 m² per SCU (National guidelines (AAWS 2013). Furthermore, most feedlots believe that rigid licensing conditions prevent them from changing stocking density throughout the year.

4.4.1.4 Moisture control through sprinkling systems

The other method that is used to add moisture to the pen surface is sprinklers as used in the irrigation industry. Sprinkling systems are employed to control dust emissions from cattle feedlot operations (WSDE 1995; Auvermann *et al.* 2003; Amosson *et al.* 2006; Bush *et al.* 2014) and have the added benefit of reducing heat load stress in cattle (though shading can be more effective) (Marcillac-Embertson *et al.* 2009). Dust emissions are reduced when moisture in the pen area is kept to within 25 and 40% (Davis *et al.* 1997; Auvermann *et al.* 2000; Lorimor 2003) and this often necessitates the need for additional water (WSDE 1995). Water needs to be applied with care since the moisture content of a typical feedlot varies considerably, with moisture content tending to be greatest on the pen surface near feed bunks and water troughs (Rahman *et al.* 2008).

Sprinkler systems should be designed to provide maximum practical coverage of the pen area (WSDE 1995) which is aided by having a regular pen design. Operators have the option of having a high-pressure sprinkler system with fewer sprinkler heads, or a low-pressure system with a greater number of sprinkler heads (WSDE 1995). The preferred sprinkler system design will depend on pen layout characteristics (WSDE 1995) and the system should be designed so that the sprinkler aprons overlap 50% of the diameter of the throw (Lorimor 2003). Sprinkler systems are not routinely used for Australian feedlots due to high setup costs and reduced water availability, although sprinklers may be used for limited areas where dust emissions may be increased, or where cattle have a greater probability of developing respiratory disorders. For example, some feedlots choose to only install sprinklers in areas used for incoming cattle since these cattle tend to be more immunologically naïve and have an increased risk of developing BRD symptoms (Sanderson *et al.* 2008; Hay *et al.* 2014).

Sprinkler systems are effective in reducing mean PM₁₀ concentrations (Lorimor 2003; Marcillac-Embertson *et al.* 2009; Bonifacio *et al.* 2011) and can also cause a lowering in NH₃ emissions (Marcillac-Embertson *et al.* 2009). These effects are only apparent in the shortterm, with Bonifacio *et al.* (2011) noting that the effects of a sprinkler system in reducing PM₁₀ concentrations in a feedlot in Kansas lasted for only one day or less. This is not surprising since water molecules are held together by hydrogen bonds which also bind to soil particles and reduce dust generation. When water is lost through evaporation, these effects are reduced and dust generation is increased.

Sprinkler systems work well for low wind speed scenarios where they can apply a uniform water coverage. High winds reduce their effectiveness (WSDE 1995; Bush *et al.* 2014). Soil particles and manure in cattle feedlot pens have a high organic matter content and this provides a cohesive surface crust which has good moisture retention and erosion resistance

properties. A soil's ability to become cohesive when wetted depends on the surface charges of soil particles as well as surface tension effects (Turner *et al.* 1987), and not all soils possess these favourable wetting characteristics. When using sprinkler systems, water is only taken up by the soil/manure when the threshold entry pressure of the pores has been overcome. Unfortunately, like other organic compounds, feedlot manure tends to be hydrophobic, which reduces wettability and increases the threshold entry pressure required to take up water (Wang *et al.* 2000).

To maximise dust mitigation efforts, moisture content in the pen area should be maintained at depth since cattle hoof action easily disturbs surface manures leaving underlying manure exposed to dust generation (Auvermann *et al.* 2000). This requires a lot of water (especially due to the hydrophobic nature of organic materials) although feedlot holding pond water can be recycled for this purpose (Amosson *et al.* 2006). Research from the US has shown that falling groundwater levels has meant that some feedlots have insufficient water to operate their sprinkler systems (Casey 2016). Water may also be sourced from holding ponds, although this is not commonplace due to public perception concerns, and water may also be limiting from these structures during summer (Casey 2016). Frequent pen cleaning may also be a successful strategy in reducing sprinkler water requirements by reducing the depth of manure, thereby reducing manure wetting requirements (Auvermann *et al.* 2000). Research by Turner *et al.* (1987) shows that sprinkler systems can reduce dust emissions by 25 to 90% in feedlot settings. Differences in effectiveness are likely related to surface wetting requirements and the volume of water applied.

Solid-set sprinklers

Solid set sprinklers (Photograph 12) are increasingly desirable for new feedlot developments in dry-prone areas of the USA (Auvermann *et al.* 2003) because of their automation and ability to cover the entire feedlot area at the same time (WSDE 1995; Auvermann et al. 2003). Solid-set sprinkler system nozzles are capable of shooting water across feedlot pens to help settle dust.

The high costs of installing solid-set sprinklers (which are greater when retrofitting to existing operations) (Auvermann *et al.* 2003) can be prohibitive to small operators, although costs are offset by automation and reduced labour requirements (Queensland Government 2003; Amosson *et al.* 2006).

The use of solid-set sprinklers in cattle handling yards and lanes is cost-effective and are increasingly being installed at Australian feedlots (Photograph 13 and Photograph 13).

Mobile sprinklers

Mobile sprinklers require trained operators to effectively cover the entire pen area and to deliver the correct quantities of water necessary for effective dust mitigation (WSDE 1995). Care also needs to be taken to maintain moisture at depth to reduce dust generation from underlying materials disturbed by cattle trampling. The time taken for mobile sprinklers to effectively cover the feedlot area may see increased dust generation before the entire site has been covered (WSDE 1995). Increased labour requirements may also result in high operating costs, especially for high wage countries such as Australia and the USA. Mobile sprinklers are typically less efficient than solid spread sprinklers (see above), although they may be appropriate for existing or smaller feedlot operations due to reduced capital cost.

Water availability constraints

Very few feedlots in Australia have excess clean water availability. Water supplies are usually limited via regulatory licensing arrangements. Large quantities of water are required to

successfully and consistently eliminate dust from pens. Feedback from most of the Australian lot feeders contacted in the study suggested that water availability is the main constraint to this approach.

4.4.1.5 Elimination of Q-fever

Elimination of Q-fever is not possible as C. *burnetii* has a high prevalence in sheep, goats and cattle nationwide.

4.4.2 Substitution

4.4.2.1 Fully-covered feedlot housing

An example of a substitution solution to manure-related dust generation could be substituting open feedlot pens with clay or gravel pen foundations with fully-covered sheds (i.e. intensive livestock housing). This is the approach used in pigs and poultry.

The poultry industry has researched PM concentrations and dispersal characteristics (Li *et al.* 2012), and the relationship between dust emissions with feed (Robertson *et al.* 2002), odour, greenhouse gas (Carey *et al.* 2004a; Carey *et al.* 2004b; Lacey *et al.* 2004) and litter/manure moisture (Carey *et al.* 2004b). Respirable particulate concentrations in broiler buildings were found to be significantly influenced by the cleaning regime, bird density, ventilation and humidity (Banhazia *et al.* 2008). Specific research and guidance exist for the poultry industry on the use of sprinkling systems (Brisbane City Council 2000; Carey *et al.* 2004b); sealed shed floors (Brisbane City Council 2000); adequate ventilation (Banhazia *et al.* 2008), vehicle reduction (Brisbane City Council 2000; Mukhtar *et al.* 2004).

Dust abatement technologies used by the poultry industry include air scrubbers (Melse and Timmerman 2009), filters (Mostafa and Buescher 2011), biofilters, windbreaks, oxidants and misting screens (Ullman *et al.* 2004a). Biofilters are particularly effective for the control of PM emissions from poultry sheds (see Table 6), and comparable efficiencies have also been observed for dry filters with up to 72% reductions in PM concentrations being recorded (Mostafa and Buescher 2011).

Low-cost techniques including adequate ventilation are particularly effective for reducing airborne dust concentrations in indoor intensive livestock buildings, although pollution to the surrounding environment may be increased (Dando *et al.* 2000). Environmental assessments should be based on sensitive receptor areas, and in the absence of significant environmental constraints, ventilation may be seen as an important strategy for effective particulate control. The US EPA (2001) *'Emissions from Animal Feeding Operations'* report states that confinement facilities for dairy and beef cattle are typically naturally-ventilated, and this is an effective dust mitigation control. Airborne dust is also rapidly diminished through sedimentation, with natural gravitational settling shown to remove up to 74% of particulate materials (by mass) in a piggery in the absence of dust control techniques (Carpenter and Fryer 1990).

Source	Technology	Target Emission
		Percent Reduction
	Barriers	60*
Animal	Biofilters	68*
Housing	Landscaping	59*
	Scrubbers	52*
	UV Light	16*

Table 6 – Performance Data for the Control of Particulate Emissions from the Poultry Industry

Source: Adapted from Maurer et al. (2016)

Target Emission % Reduction Calculated over All Scales

Research associated with piggery dust has analysed:

- effectiveness of electrostatically charged water spray (Almuhanna 2007) and disinfectant fogging (Costa 2014) for dust control
- impacts of daily, seasonal and spatial variation in piggery shed dust generation and composition (Banhazi 2011)
- effectiveness of a low cost portable air quality monitoring device (Clements 2011)
- use of passive natural ventilation systems (Ecim-Djuric and Topisirovic 2010)
- human health impacts of dust and associated bioaerosols in piggery air (Li 1997; O'Sullivan 1998; Tan 2004; Schiffman *et al.* 2005; Hiel 2009; Sowiak 2012; Hawley 2015).

Technology	Target Emission
	Percent Reduction (PM)
Barriers	60*
Biofilters	78*
Landscaping	45*
Oil Sprinkling/Spraying/Additives	70*
Scrubbers	67*
UV Light	16*
Diet Manipulation	83*
Landscaping	49*
	Barriers Biofilters Landscaping Oil Sprinkling/Spraying/Additives Scrubbers UV Light Diet Manipulation Landscaping

Table 7 – Performance Data for the Control of Particulate Emission from the Piggery Industry

Source: *Maurer et al. (2016)

Target Emission % Reduction Calculated over All Scales

The experience from pigs and poultry shows that dust can be controlled when using fullycovered housing. Cattle livestock buildings are common in northern Europe, and studies focusing on the control of dust emissions from livestock buildings have been conducted in the Netherlands (Takai *et al.* 1998; Zhaoa *et al.* 2009; Winkel *et al.* 2015), England, Denmark and Germany (Takai *et al.* 1998).

By using an appropriate stocking density and bedding, the pen surface in a building could be maintained at a moist condition all year round so that dust is not generated. While this may be technically possible, this is not an economic solution for Australian feedlots. Fully-covered feedlots are only viable in certain climatic situations. Examples are in south-east Asia where

high rainfall precludes open feedlots or in high latitudes such as Canada where very cold winter conditions apply.

Similarly, manure-dust generated from cattle handling yards could be eliminated by substituting open yards with fully-covered facilities but with a corresponding cost penalty.



Photograph 12 – Solid-set sprinkler in feedlot pen



Photograph 13 – Solid-set sprinklers in cattle handling yards

4.4.3 Engineered and other physical controls

4.4.3.1 Buffers

The most common solution to dust hazard when dust elimination is not possible is to provide a buffer (separation distance) between the dust source and the community. Buffers are not a solution for livestock or feedlot staff and contractors.

Dispersal over a sufficient buffer distance is an effective mechanism for reducing PM emissions to acceptable levels. The National Guidelines for Beef Cattle Feedlots in Australia (MLA 2012b) provide an outline of the accepted practices for the mitigation and management of fugitive dust from beef feedlots. These guidelines provide "generally acceptable principles for the establishment and operation of feedlots based on the best technical information available at the time of publication" (3rd Ed; MLA (2012b), p. vi). They support industry members to implement the *National Beef Cattle Feedlot Environmental Code of Practice* (2nd Ed); (MLA 2012a), which are "intended to provide nationally consistent requirements under state regulation for lot feeders and administrators regarding the environmentally relevant aspects of the establishment and operation of beef cattle feedlots" (p. iii).

Separation distances prescribed by the National Guidelines for Beef Cattle Feedlots in Australia (MLA 2012b) are based on odour issues, although these have been assessed by NSW EPA (n.d.) as also providing adequate dispersal distances for PM contaminants.

Buffer distances are tailored to account for variations in site characteristics (e.g. vegetation cover and topography; and meteorological and climatic conditions) and in the sensitivity of the receiving community. Much of the US feedlot industry is located on the Great Southern Plains at elevations above 1,000 m. These regions are particularly sensitive to temperature inversions (see Section 3.4) which form in the evenings under low wind conditions and severely restrict plume dispersion (Casey 2016).

Effective separation distances allow sufficient space for restricted plume dispersion and for natural attenuation processes to reduce dust concentrations to levels suitable for the surrounding community. These attenuation processes may include:

- dispersion, lessens peak dust concentrations in any one place.
- gravitational settling, large particles greater than 10 µm are primarily removed through gravitational settling (SKM 2005).
- flocculation, fine particles (i.e. 1 μm) have negligible settling velocities (SKM 2005)
- rainout.
- absorption (i.e. on soil particles or vegetation).

Natural attenuation processes are effective in reducing feedlot dust concentrations at downwind receptors, although emissions themselves are not reduced.

4.4.3.1 Windbreaks

Windbreaks and vegetative screens may be used by feedlots to protect the community from fugitive dust emissions (WSDE 1995; MLA 2012b). For the Australian lot feeding industry, mandatory separation distances factor in pre-existing vegetation and topography. However, windbreaks and vegetative screens may be useful in specific applications such as along internal access roads. Since feedlot dust is principally emitted from feedlot pen or road surfaces, windbreaks are generally not viable for the protection of livestock or feedlot workers, though may be able to reduce the impact to neighbours and the surrounding community. Windbreaks close to feedlot pens may have a negative animal welfare outcome due to increasing the risk of heat stress events.

Vegetative Environmental Buffers have primarily been examined in the swine and poultry industries (Tyndall 2008) where they have successfully been used to reduce dust and odour emissions from animal house exhaust fans (Malone *et al.* 2006; Tyndall 2008). Dust accumulation on trees can be significant and for the poultry industry, deciduous trees are often planted in the first row closest to tunnel ventilation fans to reduce tree mortality (Malone *et al.* 2006).

4.4.3.2 Pen design

Effective pen design increases manure removal efficiency (Auvermann 2001; Lorimor 2003) and results in reduced dust generation on-site. Pens that are irregularly shaped make manure removal more difficult and less efficient (Auvermann 2001), although modifying existing feedlot designs may not always be a possibility.

Effective pen design is recommended as a passive dust mitigation strategy. New feedlot operations predominantly construct pens of a 'regular' square or rectangular design. Some pens may be irregularly shaped due to site topography and drainage considerations, although this is less effective for edge-to-edge manure removal (Auvermann 2001; Lorimor 2003) and may result in increased dust emissions.

4.4.3.3 Bedding materials

Bedding material may be used to help ease cattle foot problems and to maintain cattle feed intake. Due to high costs in the range of \$50-60 per head for woodchips (if not recycled), bedding is typically only suitable for high value cattle, particularly those close to slaughter. A secondary benefit of bedding material is improved dust suppression, although this is unlikely sufficient to justify the use of bedding alone. Alternative bedding materials such as straw may be more cost effective alternatives when compared to woodchips. Dust suppression from

bedding material is mediated through reduced evaporation and reduced cattle hoof disturbance on pen surfaces.

4.4.3.4 Water curtains

Water curtains are an emerging secondary dust suppression technology which reduce airborne PM concentrations. This technology has not widely been adopted by the lot feeding industry and is considered to have limited applicability.

Water curtains have been trialled with some success for the cattle lot feeding industry although there are concerns regarding water use efficiencies. A small scale experiment by Auvermann et al. (2003) demonstrated that water curtains were able to remove 77% of TSP from the air. Whilst these results are encouraging, water use efficiencies were poor and not appropriate for practical applications (Auvermann et al. 2003). In response to this, Auvermann et al. (2003) designed a similar system capable of removing up to 40% of TSP for a range of 100 m downwind. These results were based on just two sampling events which were deemed insufficient for statistical analysis. The results obtained (which require further verification) indicate the system would have similar water usage requirements to conventional solid-set sprinkler systems (Auvermann et al. 2003). Further design optimisation may see increased TSP removal efficiencies, though effectiveness may be limited to periods when winds are light and atmospheric mixing is minimal (Auvermann et al. 2003), i.e. during temperature inversions. Indeed, recent correspondence with Dr Ken Casey has confirmed that three feedlots in the US in areas susceptible to inversions and restricted plume dispersion have already constructed water curtains to mitigate dust emissions (Casey 2016). Further discussions regarding the use of water curtains with Dr Brent Auvermann concluded that they are not an effective approach (Auvermann 2016), and the small scale experiments conducted by Dr Auvermann himself (Auvermann et al. 2003) do not justify an alternative conclusion. Dr Auvermann concludes that water curtains currently require high capital and operating costs, and these costs may be more fruitfully used for other dust-control measures (Auvermann 2016). Photograph 14 shows water droplets raining down from a water curtain strip dust from the air on the windward side of a feedlot near Hereford, Texas, USA.



Photograph 14 – Experimental water curtain at Texas feedlot (Texas Agricultural Experiment Station photo by Kay Ledbetter)

4.4.4 Administrative controls

There are numerous administrative controls that can be used to minimise the hazard of manure-related dust. These controls should be incorporated into standard operating procedures for the feedlot. The development of dust management plans may provide detailed site-specific advice on dust management strategies (WSDE 1995). The Washington State Department of Ecology (1995) provides an excellent guide for setting up a feedlot dust management plan.

4.4.4.1 Time of day controls

As noted in Section 3.4, the time of day when dust is created has a significant bearing on its dispersion and hence, impact on the community. The timing of manure-related dust creation can be either controllable (i.e. dust from animal handling, pen cleaning and manure spreading) versus uncontrollable (animal play, wind driven). Photograph 5 shows dust caused by manure spreading. However, the impact of this dust could be reduced by requiring that manure is only spread in the middle of the day on sunny days (Class A stability). Similar controls are usually recommended for effluent irrigation for the same reason. However, the requirement that all cattle handling should occur in the middle of the day is probably unrealistic as it may lead to animal welfare issues (heat stress).

4.4.4.2 Time of week controls

As with effluent irrigation, community nuisance can be minimised by only undertaking controllable activities on days that will minimise impact on the community. Hence, spreading of manure may be avoided on weekends and public holidays when the public is more likely to be outdoors and using nearby roads.

4.4.4.3 Wind direction controls

Operating procedures can specify that manure spreading should only occur on fields where the prevailing wind on that day will not blow dust towards a neighbouring house or public road.

4.4.4.4 Climate prediction controls

Modern weather predictions have significantly improved such that careful monitoring of climate forecasts can be used in dust management. For example, if heavy rainfall is forecast in a few days, it may be inappropriate to apply water to pens (or roads) as this would be a waste of valuable water and may lead to overly-wet surfaces.

4.4.4.5 Feed management

Improved feed quality through selective breeding, genetic improvement, and increased grain digestibility through steam flaking has significantly improved the feed conversion efficiency for feedlot cattle in Australia (Zinn 1993; Zinn *et al.* 1996; Zinn *et al.* 2002). Improved feed management through greater feed conversion efficiency results in reduced manure excretion, which, in turn, should reduce the potential for dust generation. The potential for odour generation in Australian feedlots has also been reduced since a lessor proportion of microbial digestible material remains in the manure due to improved cattle digestion.

Altered feed management regimes may also be effective in reducing dust emissions in cattle feedlots. Cattle activity or play in feedlot pens, especially when surface moisture is low, can result in increased dust emissions (WSDE 1995; Rahman *et al.* 2008; Bush *et al.* 2014). Concentrations of PM in cattle feedlot pens is generally greatest at dawn and dusk when animal activity is highest and air movement is the most stable (Sweeten *et al.* 1988). Altering feeding regimes during these times may reduce dust emissions by replacing active periods with periods of eating and ruminating (Rahman *et al.* 2008).

4.4.4.6 Administrative controls for Q-fever

Q-fever infections may effectively be eliminated from cattle feedlots through vaccination. Vaccination is the most important protection against Q-fever (Work Cover Queensland 2016) and is close to 100% effective, although the duration of protective immunity is unknown (Queensland Health 2010). By excluding unvaccinated people from working at cattle feedlots, the risks of Q-fever infections can effectively be eliminated. Unvaccinated visitors are often permitted to enter cattle feedlots, although they are generally required to wear PPE (see below). Other strategies such as engineered or physical controls (see Section 4.4.2.1) may reduce the concentrations of potentially infectious airborne particulates, which may reduce the risk of Q-fever infection for unvaccinated visitors.

Feedlots should develop workplace procedures to address vaccination of feedlot staff and requirements for visitors (vaccination or PPE).

4.4.5 Personal protective equipment (PPE)

The use of PPE by feedlot workers, specifically dust masks (Photograph 15) and eye wear (wrap-around sunglasses) may assist with minimising dust inhalation or eye irritation and reduce the impact to human health. For successful use, masks must conform to Australian Standards for respiratory protective devices (AS/NZS 1716). Dust masks should be fitted correctly following the manufacturer's instructions, which includes fitting both elastic bands behind the head, if two bands are available (see Photograph 15).

In the US, feedlot workers (i.e. pen riders) typically keep bandanas around their necks and use them occasionally over their noses and mouths when dust concentrations are high. Correspondence with Dr Auvermann suggests that the effectiveness of this approach has not been evaluated in any sophisticated way (Auvermann 2016).



Photograph 15 – Correct use of dust mask Source: Tri-Tech Forensics (2016)

5 Traffic-related dust

5.1 Traffic-related dust generation

Dust emissions from unpaved road surfaces can be significant sources of air pollutants, and depending on the feedlot locality and design, may exceed dust generated from feedlot pens (see Section 3.3). Considerable amounts of dust are generated by feed trucks travelling along unpaved feed alleys and roads (Photograph 16). Gravel turnarounds can be a considerable source of dust.



Photograph 16 – Dust generated by feedlot traffic

5.2 Components of traffic-related dust

Some Australian lot feeders commented that traffic-related dust is usually a finer material than manure-related dust. As such, it hangs in the air for longer periods. This fine dust is the "bulldust" that builds up beside gravel roads.

Dr Andrea Clements conducted her PhD on the identification and composition of fine and coarse particulates from soil, road dust and cattle feed lot material (Clements 2012). Results from a year-long study in Pinal-County, Arizona, found mass concentrations of coarse PM_{10} dust were on average 5 times higher than fine $PM_{2.5}$ particulates. On a regional scale, Clements noted that approximately 10% of PM_{10} dust falls within the $PM_{2.5}$ size category.

Elemental analysis of crustal source material (i.e. originating from the earth's crust) was undertaken, and was compared with measured dust components. Studies found the zone of influence around a specific dust emitter to be approximately 100 m (Ashbaugha *et al.* 2003), which suggests that dust components take on the characteristics of the nearby source material. Common elements in crustal sources included AI, Ca, Fe and Mg. Ca²⁺ and SO₄²⁻ were found to be more common from unpaved roads surrounding feedlot pens, rather than the pens themselves. Road dust also contains a range of organic components from plant material and traffic-related emissions, including tyre wear (Rogge *et al.* 2012).

It is interesting to note that fine $PM_{2.5}$ dust remains airborne for longer and has the potential to travel greater distances. For this reason, $PM_{2.5}$ dust had less of a resemblance to crustal materials (30%) in Clement's study, indicating the components of $PM_{2.5}$ dust are more complex and may be more difficult to estimate.

5.2.1 Traffic-related dust generation rates

Detailed road dust statistics from Australia are unavailable since the NPI only estimates $PM_{2.5}$ and PM_{10} emissions, rather than TSP (NPI 2016). However, the *National Air Quality and Emissions Trend Report* (1997), as cited by Frazer (2003), states that unpaved roads account for more than 10 million tons of PM emissions from the United States each year.

Numerous studies have developed emission factors for the calculation of dust from unpaved roads, although these emission factors need to be quite complex due to variability in vehicles, vehicle speeds and road characteristics (SKM 2005). Final emission factors for a given fugitive source operation are usually derived as the mean of individual emission factors (USEPA, 1998), which may show some variability.

Equation 1 and Equation 2 show the latest US EPA (2006) AP-42 emission factor calculations for unpaved industrial sites (Equation 1) and unpaved publicly accessible roads (Equation 2).

Equation 1
$$E = k (s/12)^{a} (W/3)^{b}$$

Equation 2
$$E = k \frac{\left(\frac{s}{12}\right)^a \left(\frac{s}{30}\right)^d}{\left(\frac{M}{0.5}\right)^c} - C$$



Where k, a, b, c and d are empirical constants, see US EPA (2006).

E = size-specific emission factor (kg per vehicle km travelled)

s = surface material silt content (%)

W = mean vehicle weight (tonnes)

M = surface material moisture content (%)

S = mean vehicle speed (kph)

C = emission factor for 1980's vehicle fleet exhaust, brake wear and tire wear.

5.3 Impacts of traffic-related dust

5.3.1 Impacts on livestock

The impacts to animal health from traffic-related dust are similar to those discussed in manure-related dust.

Anecdotally, some feedlot operators have observed a traffic-dust related impact on cattle and have adopted management changes in response. They have noted that starter cattle (those new to the feedlot) rush up to the feed bunk when the feed truck passes. If the road is dusty, these cattle are exposed to a high load of traffic-related dust. Cattle that have been in the feedlot for a longer period are aware of this nuisance and hang back from the feed bunk until the dust settles. Hence, for cattle new to the feedlot, some managers change feeding time and/or water roads in front of new cattle to manage this issue. The other motivation for reducing dust impact on starter cattle is the perception that dust is linked to BRD and that starter cattle are more susceptible to BRD. Another strategy developed by feedlot managers involves placing advanced short-fed cattle in pens prone to increased dust emissions. This strategy is undertaken in the view that associated respiratory disorders are unlikely to develop before the cattle are sent to slaughter.

5.3.2 Impacts on employees and contractors

The impacts to human health are similar to those discussed in manure-related dust. Silicosis is a lung disease caused by breathing in silica present in traffic related dust, which is derived from sand, rock, and mineral ores such as quartz. It mostly affects workers exposed to silica dust in occupations such mining, glass manufacturing, and foundry work. Like dust from other sources, PM_{2.5} particulates are highly respirable and have a greater health and safety impact on employees and contractors. Anecdotal evidence from the Australian lot feeding industry suggests that traffic-related dust may contain a finer particle size distribution than manure-related dust (see Section 5.2), although this has not been officially verified.

5.3.3 Impacts on community

Padgett (2008) found that fine dust particles created by a single vehicle could travel at least 100 m away from the source, although most particles (greater than 2.5 μ m) tended to travel less than 50 m (Padgett 2008). These results have important implications for the lot feeding industry where dust emissions from unpaved roads have the potential to impact upon the community. The impact of dust from roads within the feedlot complex is handled by providing a sufficient buffer between the feedlot and the community (see Section 4.4.3.1). However, traffic-related dust from internal access roads may be an issue for neighbouring houses or for areas of activity close to internal access roads.

5.4 Traffic-related dust hazard control

5.4.1 Elimination

At a feedlot, traffic-related dust hazard requires two elements to occur. Either of these two elements can be addressed to reduce dust hazard. They are:

- 1. A source of fine, dry matter with small particle size; and
- 2. A means for the dust to become airborne, being principally either traffic or wind.

5.4.1.1 Sealing roads

Road sealing (with bitumen) (Photograph 17 and Photograph 18) is clearly the best strategy for the elimination of traffic-related dust. This is an expensive option, but in addition to dust control, some lot feeders report that bitumen sealing reduces wear and tear on feedlot machinery.

5.4.1.2 Road design

The initial road design can be an effective strategy for the mitigation of dust generated from road surfaces. The Victorian Cattle Feedlot Code of Practice (DAEM 1995) specifies that access roads shall be formed, defined, drained and surfaced with an all-weather seal or crushed rock. This code of practice is principally aimed at providing Victorian feedlots with all-weather site access, although may also result in reducing dust generation.

Research from the transportation and mining industries demonstrate the importance of effective unpaved road design for reduced dust generation. The U.S. Department of Transportation (US DOT 2013) presents a good review on effective unpaved road design which is of relevance to the feedlot industry. US DOT (2013) concludes that the key properties influencing unpaved road performance include grading or particle size distribution, the fines content, the clay content, and the material shear strength. Material testing should be conducted on unpaved roads to minimise dust generation capacity and to optimise road maintenance requirements.

Potential dust generating material is generally considered to be less than 75 μ m in diameter. For this reason, many unpaved road specifications in the US limit fines content to 5% for dust mitigation purposed (US DOT 2013). This strategy may significantly reduce dust generation on unpaved roads, although research by US DOT (2013) shows that low concentrations of fines (i.e. <10 %) indicate the road may be prone to corrugation and may require regular grader maintenance. Research by Thompson and Visser (2007) from the mining industry has also shown that without fines, haul roads become loose, stony, and pose the potential for tyre damage and high rolling resistance. Thompson and Visser (2007) concludes that some fine material is required to bind the larger size fractions together, which improves soil cohesion and reduces road erodibility. Rates of fine materials (<75 μ m) in unpaved roads should be optimised (i.e. between 10 – 20 %), as high fine concentrations (i.e. >20 % below 75 μ m) may cause roads to become dusty when dry and slippery when wet (US DOT 2013). The US DOT (2013) supplies further information for optimising road design based on grading analysis, plasticity tests and bar linear shrinkage and strength tests.

5.4.1.3 Road wetting – clean water

The use of water trucks on unsealed roads to suppress dust is the most widely used dust elimination method (Photograph 19 and Photograph 20). Whilst effective, water will evaporate quickly and applications may need to be re-applied frequently. The water allocations available to individual feedlots will also determine if this is a viable option.

5.4.1.4 Road wetting - effluent

Effluent from the feedlot holding pond has been used for dust control on roads. Amosson et al. (2006) noted that effluent may be recycled for this purpose. In the US, this practice is not commonplace due to public perception concerns, and water may also be limiting from these structures during summer (Casey 2016). There could be a workplace issue with staff inhaling pathogens in feedlot effluent, but this should be a low risk if the effluent is applied close to the road surface with minimal aerosol mist (Photograph 19 and Photograph 20). Indeed, Loneragan and Brashears (2005) has shown that using retention pond water as a method to control dust at the pen surface did not affect animal performance nor was there an effect on pathogen carriage (E. coli O157 and Salmonella spp. in slaughtered animals). Several Australian lot feeders noted that they use effluent to supress dust on feed roads. Effluent water could further improve dust suppression through the generation of a hard crust from the entrained salts, suspended sediments and organic materials. This is an area of limited research, although research by Halliwell et al. (2001) found that continuous application of suspended organic solids from cattle effluent caused the formation of restrictive layers near the soil surface. Whilst this surface sealing was undesirable for the effluent irrigation systems investigated by Halliwell's study, the formation of surface crusts may be beneficial for dust suppression on unpaved roads. Interestingly, synthetic effluent containing no suspended organic particulates did not promote surface sealing.

Cattle effluent from the Australian feedlot industry contains high concentrations of calcium, magnesium and sodium (see Table 8), which may also promote the formation of surface crusts, leading to reduced dust generation. Unfortunately, research has not been conducted in this area, although high sodium is measured by high sodium adsorption ratio (SAR) which is known to have a negative impact on soil through surface sealing. It is not known at what point surface sealing may become apparent, although SAR values as low as three can cause dispersion and soil structural problems in low electrolyte solutions (Rengasamy *et al.* 1984), as cited by Hazelton and Murphy (2007). Fig. 14 details the relationship between electrical conductivity (EC) and SAR. It can be seen that with EC increasing above 10.0 dS/m, SAR starts to become quite high, and this may promote surface sealing of unpaved roads.

Research from the mining industry shows that salts (particularly chlorides and bicarbonates) are regularly applied to haul roads. Salts reduce dust generation by forming a hard crust on the surface of the road (Kissell 2003). Crust formation is enhanced through the presence of bicarbonates, which cause calcium and magnesium from the soil and water to precipitate as insoluble carbonates (NSW DPI 2014). The environmental impacts of adding salt to unsealed feedlot roads is expected to be minimal as any excess salt is likely to be collected in the controlled drainage area, and will not be directly released into the environment.

Salts are also thought to suppress dust by increasing roadway surface moisture by extracting moisture from the atmosphere (Kissell 2003). An important consideration is that high sodium concentrations contained in cattle effluent water may promote soil dispersion, which may cause erosion to unpaved roads. Dispersed clay particles may, however, help to clog soil pores, creating a surface seal (USDA 2008), which may reduce dust generation in the short term. Whilst excess sodium may promote soil dispersion, applications of sodium chloride (brine) have directly been applied to unpaved roads in the US for dust suppression purposes (US DOT 2013).

	Units	No. of	Mean	Median	Maximum	Minimum
		samples				
Total Nitrogen	mg/L	175	220	165	1095	25
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen	mg/L	173	218	153	1095	23
Ammonia	mg/L	99	115	69	861	0
Ammonia Nitrogen	mg/L	99	89	53	670	0
Nitrate	mg/L	101	10.1	1.0	305.0	0.1
Nitrate Nitrogen	mg/L	96	2.3	0.2	68.8	0.0
Nitrite	mg/L	19	1.7	1.0	16.8	0.0
Nitrite Nitrogen	mg/L	20	0.5	0.3	5.1	0.0
Total Phosphorus	mg/L	171	71	56	387	2
Phosphate-P	mg/L	102	17	10	133	0
Phosphate (PO ₄)	mg/L	93	52	30	407	1
Phosphate P/Total P	-	94	31%	26%	91%	2%
Potassium	mg/L	122	1092	796	6390	21
рН	-	135	8	8	10	7
Electrical Conductivity	dS/m	187	7.8	6.9	37.8	1.0
Total Dissolved Ions	mg/L	60	6941	5552	37955	1134
Total Dissolved Solids	mg/L	57	4915	4329	18644	1002
Calcium	mg/L	114	126	113	597	13
Magnesium	mg/L	114	118	90	805	2
Sodium	mg/L	114	494	201	6700	12
Sodium Absorption Ratio	-	119	7.1	3.5	65.8	0.5
Chloride	mg/L	110	1261	806	12839	95
Sulphate	mg/L	51	74	40	378	1
Total Hardness	mg/L	61	943	838	3435	85
Temporary Hardness	mg/L	47	913	790	3435	85
Bicarbonate Alkalinity	mg/L	56	2105	1860	7100	206
Carbonate Alkalinity	mg/L	56	102	2	1820	0
Free Carbon Dioxide	mg/L	48	66	26	770	0
Hydroxide Alkalinity	mg/L	47	1.7	2.0	2.0	0.0
Residual Alkalinity	mg/L	54	22.4	18.5	110.0	0.0
Saturation Index		46	1.8	1.9	3.0	0.2
Total Alkalinity	mg/L	62	2082	1845	8920	168
Aluminium	µg/L	43	989	850	3435	47
Boron	µg/L	52	2180	1870	7100	56
Copper	mg/L	52	142	2	1820	0
Free Residual Chlorine	mg/L	44	81	25	770	0
Silica	mg/L	43	2.7	2.0	47.0	0.0
Total Iron	mg/L	50	24.1	18.3	110.0	0.0
Total Manganese	mg/L	42	2.9	2.0	46.0	0.2
Zinc	µg/L	58	2173	1847	8920	62

Table 8 – Effluent Quality in Feedlot Holding Ponds

Source: FSA Consulting (2012)



Fig. 14 – Relationship Between EC and SAR for Feedlot Effluent

Source: FSA Consulting (2012)

5.4.1.5 Oil, including spent motor oil

Although it has been done in the past, mineral oil and oil products (including spent oil) should **<u>not</u>** be used for dust control as it may wash into surface or groundwater. Dust from oiled road may also be inhaled by staff with negative consequences. Spent oil is a regulated waste product under Schedule 2E of the Queensland Environmental Protection Regulation (2008) and needs to be disposed of appropriately. Additionally, if oil is applied to an unsealed road with a high silt or clay content, a slick road surface may be produced.

As an alternative to mineral oils, vegetable oils such as soybean, cottonseed and canola oil may be used for dust control. Unlike mineral oils, these substances are environmentally safe and biodegradable, although they evaporate quickly and are typically short lasting (GRT 2015). Section 5.4.1.4 describes additional salts and dust suppressants which are used in the road industry. Salts (particularly chlorides and bicarbonates) are regularly applied to haul roads and section 5.4.1.4 discusses whether additional dust suppression benefits could be attained from effluent water which has a high salt content (see Table **8**).



Photograph 17 – Sealed feed road eliminates dust to cattle when feeding



Photograph 18 – Bitumen sealed roads eliminate traffic-generated dust



Photograph 19 – Water truck operating on gravel feed road



Photograph 20 – Feedlot water truck

5.4.2 Substitution

Given that the whole operation of a feedlot is based around the movement of feed, livestock, pen cleaning equipment and various front-end loaders, bobcats and tractors, it seems unlikely that there is any substitution option available for traffic-related dust.

5.4.3 Engineered and other physical controls

5.4.3.1 Windbreaks

As discussed in Section 4.4.3.1, windbreaks along roads may assist with reducing the impact of traffic-related dust from internal access roads to surrounding community amenity.

5.4.3.2 Air-tight vehicle cabins

An engineering solution to traffic-related dust for feedlot staff and contractors could be the mandatory requirement that all vehicles have air-tight, air-conditioned cabins with dust filters. This recommendation has been taken from the mining industry where many enclosed cabs on rock drills and bulldozers do not provide adequate dust protection (Organiscak and Page 1999), as cited in Kissell (2003).

5.4.4 Administrative controls

There are numerous administrative controls that can be used to minimise the hazard of trafficrelated dust. These controls should be incorporated into standard operating procedures for the feedlot.

5.4.4.1 Vehicle operation - speed

Strict speed should be enforced (i.e. 20 or 40 km/h) on unsealed roads as increased speed significantly increases dust emissions (Division of Air Quality 2016). In Australia, licensing conditions in Western Australia may prescribe maximum speed limits of 20 km/h for feedlot dust mitigation (Government of Western Australia 2012). Photograph 21 shows a typical speed limit sign at an Australian feedlot.

5.4.4.2 Timing of traffic

As with manure-related dust, the timing of dust creation can be used to reduce the impact on the community. Time of day and day of week can be specified to reduce dust nuisance to neighbours. However, this is not always possible when transporting livestock as animal welfare considerations may be more of an issue.

5.4.4.3 Strategic road watering

Due to the issue of starter cattle rushing up to the feed bunk at feeding time, some lot feeders adopt a system of increased feed road watering in areas where starter cattle are present.

5.4.5 Personal protective equipment (PPE)

As per PPE recommended for manure-related dust, dust masks and eye wear, may assist with minimising dust inhalation or eye irritation and reduce the impact to human health.


Photograph 21 – Speed limits reduce traffic-related dust

6 Feed-related dust

6.1 Feed-related dust generation

Feed-related dust may be generated by grain processing, hay grinding, loading commodities into the feed truck, mixing feed and delivery of feed into the feed bunk.

6.2 Components of feed-related dust

In the US, dust emitted from grain handling facilities may comprise approximately 70% organic materials, 17% free silica (silica dioxide), and 13% other materials, including contamination from dust and debris (Billate *et al.* 2004). Research from US grain handling facilities show mean PM_{10} particulates comprise approximately 25% of total dust, with fractionation showing approximately 17% of PM_{10} particulates fall within the $PM_{2.5}$ size category (Boac *et al.* 2008). These results appear roughly in line with dust derived from other sources, i.e. feedlot manure.

In similarity to manure-related dust, the components of feed-related dust differ from the parent material. Differences are mainly due to increased ash and trash content in the dust, compared to the whole grains (Lai *et al.* 1981; Martin 1981). Ash and trash materials are collected during grain harvesting, and contents of these vary to reflect harvest conditions (Martin 1981). Due to increased ash and trash content in the dust, protein content is typically lower than in whole grains, although ash free proximate analysis of dust were similar to their respective values in grains (Martin 1981). Dust may contain increased concentrations of K, Zn, Fe, Cu, Ca and Mn (Lai *et al.* 1981), which may be due to contamination with trash and soil during harvest. The components of dust derived from different grain types will differ, although these components will typically be a product of the parent grain and the harvest conditions.

6.3 Impacts of feed-related dust

6.3.1 Impacts on livestock

No studies were found that discussed the impacts of feed-related dust on cattle. Feed dust is primarily generated by grain processing and hay grinding which is normally conducted in feed mills away from cattle pens. Dust may also be generated during the delivery of feed into the feed bunk, although this is likely to comprise a very low proportion of overall cattle dust exposure.

6.3.2 Impacts on employees and contractors

6.3.2.1 Health impacts

Safe Work Australia (2011) provides guidelines of 10 mg/m³ over eight hours (TWA) for nuisance non-specific dust, of which feed-related dust may comprise. There is growing evidence that feed-related dust should not be considered 'nuisance dust', and that stricter exposure guidelines should be enforced (Huy *et al.* 1991; Becklake *et al.* 1996).

Like Australia, Canadian exposure guidelines for feed-related dust are set at 10 mg/m³, although there is some speculation that these maximum exposure guidelines may be set too high (Huy *et al.* 1991). Huy *et al.* (1991) investigated feed dust exposure using personal air samplers for 454 grain elevator workers and 55 civic workers over a 15-year period. This assessment was used to estimate the lifetime risk for worker dust exposure for 20 different job descriptions. Results found workers with estimated average exposure below guideline values of between 4 and 9 mg/m³ had significantly reduced lung capacity (FEV and FVC). Interestingly, workers exposed to <4 mg/m³ showed significantly higher lung capacities (FEV and FVC) than workers exposed to higher dust loads (Huy *et al.* 1991). A desktop study by Becklake *et al.* (1996) examined articles published from 1924 to 1993 on the effects of grain dust on the respiratory tract of workers. In similarity to the study conducted by Huy *et al.* (1991), Becklake *et al.* (1996) recommended reducing permissible grain dust exposure levels to 5 mg/m³ (TWA 8 hours).

In light of these findings, dust mitigation strategies for feed-related dust in Australia should aim to maintain maximum dust exposure guidelines well below maximum exposure guidelines of 10 mg/m³.

Allergic reactions and asthma are also issues for feedlot staff working around feed-related dust. However, there is generally a low proportion of people with atopy working in the grain industry. Atopy (atopic syndrome) is a syndrome characterized by a tendency to be "hyperallergic". A person with atopy typically presents with one or more of the following : eczema (atopic dermatitis), allergic rhinitis (hay fever), or allergic asthma. One notable Australian feedlot manager is hyperallergic to sorghum dust. Similarly, people with asthma seem to avoid employment in grain elevators (Becklake *et al.* 1996).

6.3.2.2 Explosion and fire risks to staff

Many instances of grain-dust explosions are reported in the literature. There is clearly a workplace health and safety hazard associated with grain dust for this reason. However, the phenomenon is well understood and all designers of feed mills use various engineering solutions (Section 6.4.3) to minimise the risk.

6.3.3 Impacts on community

Feed-related dust is not reported to have any impacts on the community, as dust generation occurs within feed mills and buffers for manure and traffic-related dust are more than sufficient.

6.4 Feed-related dust hazard control

6.4.1 Elimination

At a feedlot, feed-related dust hazard needs two elements for it to occur. Either of these two elements can be addressed to reduce feed-related dust hazard. They are:

- 1. A source of fine, dry feed with small particles sizes, and
- 2. A means for the dust to become airborne being either machinery or wind.

A source of fine, dry feed of small particle size cannot be avoided, since the feed is delivered dry to the feed mill for storage purposes. Experience from the bulk solids handling industry has shown primary dust suppression techniques like water spraying to be more effective than secondary techniques such as dust filtration (Faschingleitner and Höflinger 2011).

Processing dry grain, including dry-rolling, has the potential to create feed-related dust. However, following advice from feedlot nutritionists most feedlots now use wet grain. Techniques like tempering and steam flaking add water to grain which increases grain digestibility and reduces dust generation. Photograph 22 shows dust generated from dry rolled grain. The addition of water significantly reduces dust generation as seen in Photograph 23.

6.4.2 Substitution

Boac *et al.* (2008) examined emission factors and dust generation from different feed sources. Results found that shelled corn particles produced greater dust at significantly finer particle size distribution than wheat. In particular, handling fine corn generated 185 g/t of total dust, whilst handling wheat only generated 64.6 g/t of total dust. Shelled corn isn't a major feed component for Australian feedlots, although corn is used extensively in the US. Similarly, feed milled on-site could be substituted with a total mixed ration produced off-site.

Substitution solutions of changing grain and/or using off-site processing are not economically viable for most feedlots. Furthermore, this is unnecessary as it is generally agreed that feed-related dust is not a major issue at Australian feedlots.



Photograph 22 – Dust from conveying dry-rolled dry grain



Photograph 23 – No dust from conveying rolled wet grain

6.4.3 Engineered and other physical controls

Systems commonly used in the feed industry to contain dust are:

- Modu-Pulse Bag-house Dust Collectors
- Wet Scrubbers
- Cyclones
- Cyclo-Filters
- Vacuum Units
- Materials convey systems
- Ducting
- Extraction hoods

A number of technologies and strategies are used for the control of dust emissions from point sources, such as those generated from feed production. Point sources are easier to control as emissions are generated from single discrete sources such as exhaust gases which may be channelled through a chimney stack. Concentrated exhaust gases may be treated using a range of particulate control devices including cyclone separators, bag filters, wet scrubbers or electrostatic precipitators prior to environmental release.

Historically, dispersion has been used as an effective strategy for the reduction of contaminants from exhaust gases. Tall stacks are effective in penetrating inversion layers which limit the vertical mixing of air due to temperature gradients created under stable atmospheric conditions. The penetration of these inversion layers allows for greater atmospheric mixing and enhanced dispersal of pollutants. Pollutants are also not affected by wake forces (interference from neighbouring buildings) if the stack height is at least 2.5 times the height of the largest nearby buildings (NSW EPA 2005). Tall stacks would not be recommended for the control of PM pollutants which have effective gravitational settling for particles >10 μ m and are unlikely to travel far from the emission source. Gaseous or ultra-fine PM (i.e. 1 μ m) which have low gravitational settling rates should be treated prior to environmental release as these are long lived contaminants which have the potential to travel vast distances. Fig. 15 details industrial particulate control devices used by other industries, being cyclone separators, bag filters, wet scrubbers and electrostatic precipitators.



Fig. 15 – Industrial particulate control devices

Source: Weiner and Matthews (2003)



Fig. 16 – Comparison of removal efficiencies for different dust removal options

- a. simple cyclone
- b. high-efficiency cyclone;
- c. electrostatic precipitator;
- d. wet scrubber;
- e. Venturi scrubber; and
- f. bag filter

Source: .Weiner and Matthews (2003)

6.4.3.1 Cyclones

Cyclones work by separating PM by centrifugal (rotational) force. Solid particles are forced to the walls of the cyclone and spiral down the underflow (via gravity) where they are deposited in the hopper for removal. Clean air and gases spiral up through a vortex finder pipe and into the overflow for release. Cyclone separators have relatively low removal efficiencies, although efficiencies can be increased by imparting greater centrifugal force (i.e. high efficiency/dynamic precipitators). Cyclone separators are successfully used in feedlots to reduce dust generation from grain milling operations (see Equation 3).

Equation 3
$$F_c = M_{p_c} * v^2/R$$

The magnitude of centrifugal force depends on the particle mass, the gas velocity within the cyclone, and the cyclone diameter.

Where:

 F_c = centrifugal force [N]

 M_p = particulate mass [kg]

 v_2/R = centrifugal acceleration where v_2 equals particle velocity and R equals the radius of the cyclone [m/s²].

Source: Davis and Masten (2014) as cited in CQU (2015)



Photograph 24 – Grain scalper and cyclone to remove dust

6.4.3.2 Bag filters

Air is filtered by passing through a fabric bag. PM collects in the bag and is periodically removed by mechanical shaking or reverse flow. Individual bag filtering rates are low and range from 0.5 to 5 m³/minute (Kanaoka 2006). Due to low filtration rates for individual bags, multiple bags can be assembled into a single unit called a bag house. This allows for high filtration rates and good removal efficiencies across a range of particle sizes. Bag filters are used for a variety of applications and can handle temperatures up to 250 C (Kanaoka 2006). For increased temperatures, cooling systems may be used to prevent exposure of hot gases to the fabric material. Carpenter and Fryer (1990) used a bag filter system which reduced PM concentrations by 50 to 60%, resulting in daily dust collection rates of up to 500 g per 100 piglets. For the poultry industry, bag filters reduced particulate concentrations by up to 72% during field trials in Germany (Mostafa and Buescher 2011). The high volumes of dust collected by bag filters increase cleaning labour requirements and costs for frequent filter replacements (Prairie Swine Centre 1998).

6.4.3.3 Wet scrubbers

Wet scrubbers and biofilters are principally known for their use in ammonia control (Ullman *et al.* 2004b; Van der Heyden *et al.* 2015), although new generation scrubbers (often with added bio-filter or acid scrubber units) are multi-use and are also effective in removing PM concentrations and odour (Melse and Timmerman 2009; Van der Heyden *et al.* 2015; Loyon *et al.* 2016). Venturi scrubbers (common type of wet scrubber) essentially have 100% removal efficiency for particles >5 μ m (Vesilind *et al.* 1994) and are an effective dust management technique for indoor animal houses or point sources of pollution. Wet scrubbers would not be suited to outdoor feedlot applications where natural ventilation disperses pollutants over relatively large areas. Wet scrubbers operate in a similar manner to water curtains where dust

particles and gases are removed by incorporation inside water droplets which are generated by a fine spray.

6.4.3.4 Electrostatic precipitators

Electrostatic precipitators pass air through high-voltage wires with large negative DC voltage where dust particles become electrically. Removal efficiencies for electrostatic precipitators are high and they can handle large volumes of air/gas, although electricity usage is substantial resulting in high operating costs. Electrostatic precipitators cannot be used with explosive materials due to a risk of ignition. Correspondence with Dr Auvermann suggests that high-grade, dry cattle manure has a non-trivial fuel value, somewhere between those of lignite and coal (Auvermann 2016), and this may present an explosion hazard. This technology has been used for various industries, including for use in boilers and cement kilns, and for houses, offices, hospitals and food processing factories (Mizuno 2000). Electrostatic precipitators have been trialled for use by the poultry industry with initial scoping studies demonstrating dust removal efficiencies of 37 to 79 % (Chai et al., 2009). The collection efficiency of an electrostatic precipitator may be estimated by an empirical equation:

Equation 4 R = 1 - exp(-A w/Q)Where:

A = area of the collection plated $[m^2]$

w = drift velocity of the charged particles [m/s]

Q = flow rate of the gas stream $[m^3/s]$.

The drift velocity is the velocity at which the particles approach the collection plate. It is analogous to the terminal settling velocity in gravity settling, except the driving force is the electrical charge instead of gravity. The drift velocity can be expressed by:

w = a * d (4-11)

Where:

a = parameter could be constant for a given system, assumed to be 5 * 105 [sec⁻¹] d = the particle size.

The numerical value of w ranges from 0.04 to 0.2 m/s. Source: Davis and Masten (2014), as cited in CQU (2015)

An article on composting facilities identified equipment maintenance issues (and their associated health and safety concerns if not addressed) related to dust (Spencer and Alix 2006). These issues included bio-fouling (sliming) of ventilation systems and air scrubbers, collapse of ducting due to dust accumulation and fire hazard risk (Spencer and Alix 2006). Environmental impacts on receiving waters of ventilation system cleaning water were also observed through changes in biological oxygen demand (Spencer and Alix 2006). While many of these practices are not relevant for feedlots, consideration of dust implications for equipment maintenance and fire hazard is relevant.

6.4.4 Administrative controls

Administrative controls can manage feed-related dust control practices by only enacting abatement strategies (i.e. scrubbers, air filters, cyclone separators) during times of grain milling and high dust generation. These strategies are energy intensive and may not need be used all the time in a feed mill setting.

6.4.5 Personal protective equipment (PPE)

The PPE options for feed-related dust are similar to those for manure-related dust (see Section 4.4.5.

7 Discussion

7.1 Effect of feedlot dust on livestock

A large amount of dust can be produced in feedlots. This is a complex mix of organic and inorganic particles and is generated in feed preparation and delivery, cattle movement, manure and manure management. Traffic and pen maintenance also contribute to feedlot dust. Dust generation can be an issue for many Australian feedlots and has the potential to impact on the health and safety of employees, the surrounding community and livestock. However, if managed correctly, dust is generally considered to be only a nuisance to employees and the surrounding community.

The impact of feedlot dust on livestock has been thoroughly investigated. A review of literature could not find any evidence to support the hypothesis that the inhalation of large dust particles physically damages the upper airways, which predisposes the animal to colonization of viruses such as IBR virus, and destroys the function of the mucocilary elevator. No evidence could be found to support or contradict this theory.

Dust is made up of inorganic material including a wide range of elements in lung tissue, including silicon, aluminium, titanium, iron, carbon and small amounts of other metals. These are phagocytosed by macrophages and cleared from the lung. The organic component of dust is made up of vegetable particles from grain, hay and feedstuffs as well as bedding, hair and skin scurf. Insects contribute insect parts and mites. Fungi, bacteria and toxins are present in the soil component of pen dust.

The microbiological makeup of feedlot dust was examined in a number of studies. This consists of a large amount of gram positive bacteria, a variety of fungi, no viable gram negative bacteria and varying amounts of endotoxin. All of the bacteria cultured were considered to be non-pathogenic. Cattle manure contains a large amount of gram negative bacteria, these are highly susceptible to heat, UV light and desiccation. They rapidly become non-viable in the feedlot environment. All gram negative bacteria contain endotoxin, this relatively heat stable, biologically active material profoundly affects the immune system. Endotoxin is prevalent in feedlot dust and is considered to be the active material in feedlot dust.

There have been very few controlled studies examining the effects of dust in cattle. Most of the work has used small ruminants (goats or sheep) as the experimental model. Typically, these studies found no changes in ADG, feed intake or final body weight. In some instances, such as Chirase *et al.* (2000), high levels of dust did decrease feed intake in the group previously treated with tilmicosin phosphate.

Exposure to feedlot dust significantly increases rectal temperature 4 to 8 hours after the dust event. This finding was consistent in most studies. Packed cell volume (PCV) and blood haemoglobin concentration decreased following dust events while total white blood cell counts increased. These changes were observed on the first day. Tolerance or immunoadaptation to dust soon develops and these changes were not seen on subsequent days. Smith (2007), used beef calves, did not find any changes in feedlot performance or any changes in rectal temperatures, PCV, blood haemoglobin concentration or total white blood cell counts.

The transient nature of the rectal temperature response is of importance. The fever that is observed during the initial stage of a dust event was consistent and could contribute to confusion over diagnosing acute bovine respiratory disease in instances where rectal temperature is used to confirm the diagnosis (Chirase *et al.* 2004). The study by Purdy *et al.*

(2002c), showed that endotoxin was the cause of the elevated rectal temperatures and the changes in WBC counts.

The pulmonary clearance mechanisms are not affected by dust, respiratory pathogens injected into the lungs were effectively cleared whether or not the animals were subjected to dust (Purdy *et al.* 2003). Dust causes histopathological changes in the lung tissue. Though there is some variation, the changes are a generalised mild alveolar septal thickening and hypercellularility as a result of infiltration with macrophages, lymphocytes and neutrophils. Exudate is found in the terminal airways consisting of neutrophils and macrophages filled with foreign particulate matter and siliceous material. This is not unexpected and demonstrates the normal immune response to foreign material in the lung. These changes occur with or without treatment of tilmicosin. A sub-acute interstitial pneumonia or mild acute exudative broncho-interstital pneumonia was the diagnosis.

There appears to be little evidence to support the hypothesis that the presence of feedlot dust directly predisposes cattle to increased levels of Bovine Respiratory Disease. The research concentrated on short events or short chronic events. There were no studies that looked at continuous long term exposure of dust. There are some gaps evident in the research. Firstly, the physical effects of dust particles on the upper airways have not been examined. Secondly, does the increased exudate found in the lower air way lead to an environment conducive to the proliferation of the main bacterial pathogens of the BRD complex? Thirdly, the response of the immune system to dust events need further investigation. Dust has been considered to be an environmental stress on feedlot cattle. There was no evidence that exposure to feedlot dust significantly increases fibrinogen or haptoglobin concentrations, in the studies reviewed. In these studies cortisol was not included as a hormonal stress indicator.

7.2 Additional research or other actions

7.2.1 Feedlot dust characteristics in Australia

Due to the apparent differences in PM between Australian and US feedlots (Section 4.2.1), more investigations into feedlot dust PM should be undertaken. Data on the chemical analysis of feedlot dust is lacking, and any new dust studies in Australia should include full chemical analyses.

7.2.2 Pen manure removal and dry manure mounding

Research to provide factual data on the benefits of frequent manure removal and/or dry manure mounding (Section 4.4.1.1) should be undertaken.

7.2.3 Modification to pen stocking density

Increased stocking density under dry conditions has been shown to significantly reduce dust emissions (Section 4.4.1.2). However, there are a number of practical issues that need further research and action. These include:

- 1. A viable means of decreasing available pen area (e.g. by using electric fencing or similar) needs to be developed and trialled for existing feedlots.
- 2. For new feedlots in winter-dominant rainfall zones, a new pen design should be developed where winter-to-summer pen changes can be made to easily change stocking density. This would require a review of water trough and shade location as well as a sound temporary fencing design.
- 3. Negotiations with different State regulators would need to occur to allow flexible stocking density management.

7.2.4 Dust management plans

All feedlots should develop dust management plans specific to their site. The dust management plan should be structured using the hierarchy of hazard control discussed in Section 3.2.

7.3 Project delivery

Research priorities were covered by examining over 300 journal articles, industry reports and government documents related to fugitive dust emissions. Articles were sourced from publicly available literature and subscriptions to scientific databases. FSA Consulting contacted a large number of Australian feedlot managers and US researchers who provided practical and technical insights for this report. Special thanks goes to Professor. Brent Auvermann, Dr. Kenneth Casey and Professor Ronaldo Maghirang who are currently conducting research in the US lot feeding industry.

7.4 Project objectives

Meat and Livestock Australia (MLA) recently released a new strategic plan for 2016-2020 (MLA 2016). The key 'pillars' of this strategic plan are:

- Consumer and community support;
- Market growth and diversification;
- Supply chain efficiency and integrity;
- Productivity and profitability;
- Leadership and collaborative culture; and
- Stakeholder engagement.

The development of improved dust mitigation strategies aligns with MLA's strategic direction of consumer and community support, and improved farm productivity and profitability. In deciding whether improved dust mitigation technologies are required, this review seeks to explore whether dust generation has a significant impact on animal health and welfare, and whether improved dust mitigation measures are likely to lead to improved productivity and profitability for the industry.

8 Conclusions/recommendations

This review identified a number of recommendations for feedlot dust research. These recommendations are:

1. Variable stocking densities

Viable means for altering stocking densities between summer and winter require consultation with regulators. Maximum stocking densities are currently limited to 9 m²/SCU, and stocking densities may further be limited (i.e. to 15 m²/SCU) based on licensing requirements (MLA 2012b). Variable stocking densities would be in breach of current animal welfare standards if cattle are crowded to less than 9 m²/SCU, or crowded at densities greater than licensing conditions (i.e. 15 m²/SCU). Regulations which limit maximum stocking densities for feedlot cattle minimise potential urinary output benefits. Discussions with regulators could be initiated to determine whether increased stocking densities would be appropriate for dust suppression purposes. Research could also be conducted on the potential negative heat load effects of variable stocking densities, and whether these risks can appropriately be managed.

2. Cattle urinary output research

Research investigating cattle urinary output is very topical. In winter dominated rainfall regions in southern Australia, dust emissions can be problematic during the drier summer months. Southern regions tend to have a milder climate and cattle water intake in southern regions may be reduced when compared to warmer northern climates. Reduced water intake results in reduced urinary output, and some southern lot feeders have noted insufficient urinary output for effective pen dust suppression. Increased urinary output may be achieved through variable stocking densities (see Recommendation 1), or through increased water intake, such as the addition of salt to feed or water.

3. Water requirements for effective dust suppression

Currently each individual feedlot needs to consider their water availability when considering the use (and frequency of use) for all dust suppression treatments using water. The *National Beef Cattle Feedlot Environmental Code of Practice* (2nd Ed) (MLA 2012a) mentions water requirements for control of dust, and the need for development approval documentation covering a proposed development's expected dust generation, impact and control measures. The code does not supply any specific details regarding recommended timing and duration of sprinkling activities, although this would likely be of benefit to lot feeders. Further guidelines regarding practical trigger points to initiate sprinkling may also be useful. An alternative to using trigger levels could be visual dust assessments, and this appears to be an effective technique in the absence of dust monitoring data.

Preliminary research could be conducted on the water requirements for effective dust control. Research has confirmed the critical threshold for dust control is about 20% (wet basis) (Bonifacio 2013; Bonifacio *et al.* 2015), and water needs to be applied at depth due to disturbance of surface manures by cattle hoof action. As a rough guide, adding 20% water to a depth of 10 cm over an area of 1 hectare would require 200m³ or 200,000 L of water (assuming no evaporation or runoff). This represents quite a high water usage requirement. Water usage requirements may be reduced through the use of effluent water which may promote surface sealing, or through the use of chemical additives which may lead to improved dust suppression benefits.

An interesting research project in this regard could be the investigation of the relative water use efficiencies for using:

- Clean water;
- Effluent water; and
- Clean water plus additive (i.e. chlorides and bicarbonates)
 - 4. Dust suppression cost benefit analysis

A comprehensive cost benefit analysis of dust suppression techniques is recommended. Although the effectiveness of dust suppression technologies have been well studied, it would appear that the fundamental value proposition of dust control has not been clearly established in published literature. Possible R&D may include comparing sprinkling regimens and pen cleaning frequency on health and performance of feedlot cattle during dry times.

5. Animal health research

Research that should be considered is examination of the effect of particular dust on the upper airway and the implications for colonisation of IBR virus. Examination of whether or not

the increased exudate that occurs in the lower airway predisposed to a proliferation of the major BRD pathogens namely *M.Haemolyticia* and *P. Multocida*. Additionally, examining the effects of feedlot dust as a stressor from an endocrine and biochemical perspective.

9 Key messages

9.1 Animal health

Discussions with the Australian lot feeding industry show that dust emissions are of potential animal health concern. Lot feeders appear to be moderately concerned about dust emissions, especially during the early morning and late afternoon periods. There is a lack of research effectively correlating dust emissions with impaired animal health. Nonetheless, lot-feeders generally undertake some form of dust suppression activity, and seek to reduce animal exposure to high dust concentrations.

9.2 Dust mitigation strategies

The generation of dust requires a source of fine material (<75µm), and an energy source for that material to become airborne. Dust may therefore be mitigated by minimising the available source material, or by reducing the ability of the source material to become airborne. Emitted dust may also be captured or dispersed to minimise potential harm.

Removal of source material

The removal of source material for manure-related dust may be conducted through regular pen cleaning. Similarly, dust emissions from unpaved roads can be minimised by road grading which reduces/optimises the fines content of the road. Alternatively, unpaved roads may be sealed which effectively limits dust generation. For feed-related dust, the source material may be processed off-site to minimise dust generation.

Preventing material from becoming airborne

Dust is minimised through reduced wind velocity, or by increasing the energy required for material to become airborne. Wind breaks are effective in reducing wind velocities, and may be suitable dust mitigation strategies for manure and vehicle related dust. Reduction in wind velocities may increase cattle heat stress and this may require further evaluation. Windbreaks are generally not applicable for feed milling, which is conducted in an enclosed environment. Wind velocities may, however, be problematic when delivering feed into the feed bunk, and lot feeders may deliver feed at times when dust emissions are less of a concern for susceptible cattle.

Water suppression techniques reduce dust generation by increasing the energy required for material to become airborne. Sprinker systems are effective in reducing manure-related dust emissions, although these techniques generally require large quantities of water, and this may be limited in some areas. In similarity to sprinkler systems, water trucks may be used for dust suppression on unpaved roads. Cattle effluent water is a good substitute for freshwater, and is generated in abundance on feedlots. Effluent generation can be increased through increased stocking densities, and this is perhaps one of the most successful and cost effective dust suppression techniques for manure related dust. Effluent water may also be sourced from effluent ponds for application on unsealed roads.

For grain-related dust, steam flaking or water addition to milled grain can significantly reduce dust emissions. Steam flaking improves grain digestibility and also improves animal performance. Suppression technologies like oils and salts also reduce the potential for dust generation, and may be effective for unpaved road surfaces.

Capturing or dispersing emitted pollutants

Techniques for capturing, or enhancing the dispersal of fugitive particulates are limited. Such technologies are most applicable for feed-related dust, where cyclone separators and wet scrubbers may be used. Water curtains have been trialed by the cattle feedlot industry for the suppression of airborne manure and vehicle related dust, although this technology has enjoyed limited success due to high water usage requirements.

9.3 Monitoring

An emission factor of 11.7 tonnes PM_{10} emissions per 1,000 head per year is currently used for manure related dust by the Australian lot feeding industry. This is significantly less than the US emission factor of 17 tonnes PM_{10} emissions per 1,000 head per year. Emission factors are currently not used by the Australian lot feeding industry for the calculation of feed and road related dust emissions. Unfortunately, the monitoring of feedlot dust concentrations cannot readily be undertaken by Australian feedlots (See Appendix A below). Improved monitoring is recommended to better understand overall feedlot PM emission rates from manure, road and feed related sources.

10 Bibliography

- AAWS (2013) Cattle Standards and Guidelines Beef Feedlots: Discussion Paper. Australian Animal Welfare Standards and Guidelines, Braddon, Australia.
- ACGIH JH Vincent (Ed.) (1999) 'Particle Size-Selective Sampling for Health-Related Aerosols, American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists, Air Sampling Procedures Committee.' Cincinnati, OH, USA.
- Adler, KB, Fischer, BM, Wright, DT, Cohn, LA, Becker, S (1994) Interactions between respiratory epithelial cells and cytokines: Relationship to lung inflammation. In 'Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences.' (Ed. D Braaten.) pp. 128-145. (Wiley-Blackwell: New York, USA)
- Aizenberg, V, Choe, K., Grinshpun, S. A., Willeke, K. & Baron, P. A. (2001) Evaluation of personal aerosol samplers challenged with large particles. *Journal of Aerosol Science* 32, 779-793.
- Almuhanna, EA (2007) Dust Control in Livestock Buildings with Electrostatically Charged Water Spray. Kansas State University.
- Amosson, SH, Guerrero, B, Almas, LK (2006) Economic analysis of solid-set sprinklers to control dust in feedlots. In 'Southern Agricultural Economics Association Annual Meetings. Orlando, Florida', February 5-8.
- AMPC (2016a) 'Australian Q Fever Register: About Q Fever.' Available at https://www.gfever.org/fags#a1 [Accessed 24 November 2016].
- AMPC (2016b) 'Australian Q Fever Register: List of Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs).' Available at https://www.gfever.org/faqs#a1 [Accessed 24 November 2016].
- Angeletti, R, Contiero, L, Gallina, G, Montesissa, C (2006) The Urinary Ratio of Testosterone to Epitetosterone: A Good Marker of Illegal Treatment also in Cattle? *Veterinary Research Communications* **30**, 127-131.
- Apley, M, Ives, S, Scott, H (2015) 'Remarks Addressing Airborne Feedyard Dust and Antimicrobial Resistance.' Available at vetmed.tamu.edu/files/vetmed/news/press.../20150406_ttu_feedyard_dust_statement. pdf
- Ashbaugha, LL, Carvacho, OF, Brown, MS, Chow, JC, Watson, JG, Magliano, KC (2003) Soil sample collection and analysis for the Fugitive Dust Characterization Study. *Atmospheric Environment* **37**, 1163-1173.
- Auvermann, B, 2016. Feedlot Dust Suppression Review. A&M Agrilife Research & Extension Center, Personal Communication.
- Auvermann, BW (2001) Lesson 42, Controlling Dust and Odour from Open Lot Livestock Facilities. Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa. Available at <u>http://infohouse.p2ric.org/ref/42/41277/Lesson42/42_Controling_Dust_Odor.html</u> [Accessed 15 June 2016].
- Auvermann, BW, Casey, KD (2011) Feedyard dust control in an epic panhandle drought, 2010-2011, Report no. SP-417-07/11. Amarillo, TX.
- Auvermann, BW, Marek, TH, Sweeten, JM (2003) Preliminary evaluation of a water curtain for edge-of-feedyard supression of fugitive dust. In 'Air Pollution from Agricultural Operations III, Proceedings of the 12-15 October 2003 Conference. Research Triangle Park, North Carolina USA'. pp. 197-202. (American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers:
- Auvermann, BW, Parker, DB, Sweeten, JM (2000) Manure harvesting frequency The key to feedyard dust control in a summer drought, Report no. E-52-11-00. Texas Agricultural Extension Service.
- Banhazi, TM (2011) 'Spatial, diurnal and seasonal variations in the levels of environmental parameters in Australian livestock buildings, Proceedings of the Biennial Conference of the Australian Society for Engineering in Agriculture (SEAg).' (Society for Engineering in Agriculture:

- Banhazia, TM, Seedorfb, J, Laffriquec, M, Rutley, DL (2008) Identification of the risk factors for high airborne particle concentrations in broiler buildings using statistical modelling. *Biosystems Engineering* **101**, 100-110.
- Bartelt-Hunt[†], SL, Snow, DD, Kranz, WL, Mader, TL, Shapiro, CA, van Donk, SJ, Shelton, DP, Tarkalson, DD, Zhang, TC (2012) Effect of Growth Promotants on the Occurrence of Endogenous and Synthetic Steroid Hormones on Feedlot Soils and in Runoff from Beef Cattle Feeding Operations. *Environmental Science & Technology* **46**, 1352-1360.
- Becklake, M, Broder, I, Chan-Yeung, M, Dosman, JA, Ernst, P, Herbert, FA, Kennedy, SM, Warren, PW (1996) Recommendations for reducing the effect of grain dust on the lungs. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* **155**, 1399-1403.
- Billate, RD, Maghirang, RG, Casada, ME (2004) Measurement of Particulate Matter Emissions from Corn Receiving Operations with Simulated Hopper-Bottom Trucks. *American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **47**, 521–529.
- Blackwell, BR, Buser, MD, Johnson, BJ, Baker, M, Cobb, GP, Smith, PN (2013) Analysis of Veterinary Growth Promoters in Airborne Particulate Matter by Liquid Chromatography–Tandem Mass Spectrometry. In 'Evaluating Veterinary Pharmaceutical Behavior in the Environment.' pp. 137–148. (ACS Publications: Washington, DC)
- Blackwell, BR, Čai, Q, Śmith, PN, Cobb, GP (2011) Liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry analysis of 17α-trenbolone, 17β-trenbolone and trendione in airborne particulate matter. *Talanta* **85**, 1317-1323.
- Blackwell, BR, Wooten, KJ, Buser, MD, Johnson, BJ, Cobb, GP, Smith, PN (2015) Occurrence and characterization of steroid growth promoters associated with particulate matter originating from beef cattle feedyards. *Environmental Science & Technology* **49**, 8796-8803.
- Boac, JM, Maghirang, RG, Casada, ME, Wilson, JD, Jung, YS (2008) Size Distribution and Rate of Dust Generated During Grain Elevator Handling. *Applied Engineering in Agriculture* **25**, 533-541
- Bonifacio, HF (2013) Estimating Particulate Emission Rates from Large Beef Cattle Feedlots. PhD thesis, Kansas State University.
- Bonifacio, HF, Maghirang, RG, Auvermann, BW, Razote, EB, Murphy, JP, Harner, JP (2012) Particulate matter emission rates from beef cattle feedlots in Kansas—Reverse dispersion modeling. *Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association* **62**, 350– 361.
- Bonifacio, HF, Maghirang, RG, Razote, EB, Auvermann, BW, Harner, JP, Murphy, JP, Guo, L, Sweeten, JM, Hargrove, WL (2011) Particulate control efficiency of a water sprinkler system at a beef cattle feedlot in Kansas. *Transactions of the ASABE* **54**, 295-304.
- Bonifacio, HF, Maghirang, RG, Trabue, SL, McConnell, LL, Prueger, JH, Bonifacio, ER (2015) TSP, PM₁₀, and PM_{2.5} emissions from a beef cattle feedlot using the flux-gradient technique. *Atmospheric Environment* **101**, 49-57.
- Brisbane City Council (2000) Poultry Solutions, Poultry Farms: Operator's Environmental Guide for Environmentally Relevant Activity 4. Brisbane, QLD. Available at <u>http://www.gladstone.qld.gov.au/c/document_library/get_file?uuid=8f89ff57-9909-42fabdb1-f323ac4ef5c6&groupId=1570002</u>.
- Brown, JS, Gordon, T, Price, O, Asgharian, B (2013) Thoracic and respirable particle definitions for human health risk assessment. *Particle and Fibre Toxicology* **10**, 1-12.
- Burrell, R (1990) Immunomodulation by bacterial endotoxin. *Annual Review of Microbiology* **17**, 189-208.
- Buser, MD, Parnell, CB, Lacey, RE, Shaw, BW, Auvermann, BW (2001) 'Inherent biases of PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5} samplers based on the interaction of particle size and sampler performance characteristics, ASAE Annual International Meeting.' Sacramento, California, USA.
- Bush, KJ, Auvermann, BW, Marek, GW, Heflin, K, Preece, S (2013) Evaluating the Dust Abatement Potential of Stocking Density Manipulation at Open-Lot Cattle Feedyards.

26. Available at <u>http://www.slideshare.net/LPELC/evaluating-dust-abatement-potential-of-stocking-density-manipulation-at-openlot-cattle-feedyards</u>

- Bush, KJ, Heflin, KR, Marek, GW, Bryant, TC, Auvermann, BW (2014) Increasing stocking density reduces emissions of fugutive dust from cattle feedyards. *Applied Engineering in Agriculture* **30**, 815-824.
- Carey, C, Lee, H, Trevors, J (2004a) Biology, persistence and detection of Cryptosporidium parvum and Cryptosporidium hominis oocyst. *Water Research* **38**, 818-862.
- Carey, JB, Lacey, RE, Mukhtar, S (2004b) A review of literature concerning odors, ammonia, and dust from broiler production facilities: 2. flock and house management factors. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research* **13**, 509-513.
- Carpenter, GA, Fryer, JT (1990) Air Filtration in a Piggery: Filter Design and Dust Mass Balance. *Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research* **46**, 171-186.
- Casey, JA, Kim, BF, Larsen, J, Price, LB, Nachman, KE (2015) Industrial Food Animal Production and Community Health. *Current Environmental Health Reports* **2**, 259-271.
- Casey, K, 2016. Feedlot Dust Suppression Review. Texas A&M Agrilife Research, Personal Communication.
- Chang, JC, Ossoff, SF, Lobe, DC, Dorfman, MH, Dumais, CM, Qualls, RG, Johnson, JD (1985) UV inactivation of pathogenic and indicator microorganism. *Applied and environmental microbiology* **49**, 1361-1365.
- Chirase, NK, Greene, LW, Avampato, J, Purdy, CW, Walborg Jr, EF, Klaunig, JE, Xu, Y (2000) Effect of simulated dust on serum antioxidant status and lipid peroxidation of market stressed steer calves protected with or without prophylactic antibiotic. *Journal of Animal Science* **78 (Supplement 1)**, 45 (Abstract).

Chirase, NK, Purdy, CW, Avampato, JM (2004) Effect of simulated ambient particulate matter exposure on performance, rectal temperature, and leucocytosis of young Spanish goats with or without tilmicosin phosphate. *Journal of Animal Science* **82**, 1219-1226.

- Clements, AL (2012) Mass, Composition, Source Identification and Impact Assessment for Fine and Coarse Atmospheric Particles in the Desert Southwest. PhD thesis, Rice University.
- Clements, MS, Watt, A. C., Debono, A. P., Aziz, S. M. & Banhazi, T. M. (2011) 'A low cost portable environmental monitoring system for livestock buildings, Proceedings of the Biennial Conference of the Australian Society for Engineering in Agriculture (SEAg).' (Society for Engineering in Agriculture
- Cole, NA, Todd, R., Auvermann, B. & Parker D. (2008) Auditing and assessing air quality in concentrated feeding operations. *The Professional Animal Scientist* **24**, 1-22.
- Costa, A, Colosio, C., Gusmara, C., Sala, V. & Guarino, M. (2014) Effects of disinfectant fogging procedure on dust, ammonia concentration, aerobic bacteria and fungal spores in a farrowing-weaning room. *Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine* **21**, 494-499.
- CQU (2015) Topic 4 Air Pollution control particulate contaminants. Central Queensland University, Rockhampton
- DAEM (1995) Victorian Code for Cattle Feedlots. Department of Agriculture, Energy and Minerals (Vic) Available at <u>http://www.dtpli.vic.gov.au/___data/assets/pdf_file/0020/245342/Vic-Cattle-Feedlots-</u> <u>Code-of-Practice-1995.pdf</u> [Accessed 27 July 2016].
- Dando, P, Colls, JJ, Robertson, AP (2000) 'Use of Sprays to Control Particulate Concentration in Poultry Houses, Abstracts of the 2000 European Aerosol Conference.' Dublin, Ireland.
- Davis, JG, Stanton, TL, Haren, T (1997) Feedlot Manure Management. Colorado State University Cooperative Extension. Publication no. 1.220.
- Davis, ML, Masten, SJ (2014) Air Pollution. In 'Principles of Environmental Engineering and Science ' pp. 848. (McGraw-Hill: New York)
- Department of the Environment (2007) National Pollutant Inventory, Emission estimation technique manual for Intensive livestock -beef cattle Version 3.1. Department of Environment and Water Resources, Commonwealth of Australia.

- Division of Air Quality (2016) 'Top Ten Dust Control Techniques ' Available at https://dec.alaska.gov/air/anpms/Dust/topten_dustctrl2.htm
- Domsch, KH, Gams, W (1972) 'Fungi in Agricultural Soils.' (Longman: London)
- Ecim-Djuric, O, Topisirovic, G (2010) Energy efficiency optimization of combined ventilation systems in livestock buildings. *Energy and Buildings* **42**, 1165-1171.
- Environmental Protection Regulation, 2008. Queensland Government,
- Faschingleitner, J, Höflinger, W (2011) Evaluation of primary and secondary fugitive dust suppression methods using enclosed water spraying systems at bulk solids handling. *Advanced Powder Technology* **22**, 236-244.
- Frazer, L (2003) Down with Road Dust. Environmental Health Perspectives 111,
- FSA Consulting (2012) Environmental Performance Review of Australian Feedlots (2012). North Sydney, NSW.
- Funk, S (2011) Evaluation of seasonal ventilatin changes and their effect on ambient dust, endotoxin and bioaerosol concentrations in a dairy parlor. Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO.
- Galvin, G, Skerman, AG, Gallagher, EM (2005) Dust emissions from a beef cattle feedlot on the Darling Downs Project No. FLOT.325. Department of Primary Industries & Fisheries Available at <u>http://www.mla.com.au/Research-and-development/Search-RD-reports/RD-report-details/Productivity-On-Farm/Dust-emissions-from-a-beef-cattle-feedlot-on-the-Darling-Downs/1884</u> [Accessed 15 June 2016].
- Gimble, RF (1997) Effect of antioxidative vitamins on immune function with clinical applications. *International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research* **67**, 312-320.
- Görner, P, Wrobel, R, Mička, V., Skoka, V., Denis, J., & Fabriès, J. F. (2001) Study of Fifteen Respirable Aerosol Samplers Used in Occupational Hygiene. *Annal of Occupational Hygiene* **45**, 43-54.

Government of Western Australia (2012) Environmental Protection Act 1986 - Amendment to Works Approval. Department of Environment and Conservation, Government of Western Australia, Perth, Western Australia. Available at https://www.google.com.au/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&u act=8&ved=0ahUKEwjksvaBrZLOAhXEI5QKHeITD_0QFggbMAA&url=https%3A%2F %2Fwww.der.wa.gov.au%2Fcomponent%2Fk2%2Fitem%2Fdownload%2F438_01739 c83c2413382fd0b0daa62f06e35&usg=AFQjCNGhf5Q3hgbf8_aF2ilCm8BhNBHfg&bvm=bv.128153897,d.dGo [Accessed 27 July 2016].

- GRT (2015) 'Dust Control Methods.' Available at https://globalroadtechnology.com/dustcontrol-methods/ [Accessed November 24 2016].
- Halliwell, DJ, Barlow, KM, Nash, DM (2001) A review of the effects of wastewater sodium on soil physical properties and their implications for irrigation systems. *Australian Journal of Soil Research* **39**, 1259-1267.
- Hawley, B, Schaeffer, J., Poole, J. A., Dooley, G. P., Reynolds, S. & Volckens, J. (2015) Differential response of human nasal and bronchial epithelial cells upon exposure to size-fractionated dairy dust. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A* 78, 583-594.
- Hay, KE, Barnes, TS, Morton, JM, Clements, ACA, Mahony, TJ (2014) Risk factors for bovine respiratory disease in Australian feedlot cattle: Use of a causal diagram-informed approach to estimate effects of animal mixing and movements before feedlot entry. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* **117**, 160-169.
- Hazelton, P, Murphy, B (2007) 'Interpreting Soils Test Results What do all the numbers mean?' (NSW Department of Natural Resources, CSIRO Publishing: Collingwood, Victoria, Australia)
- Hermans, T, Jeurissen, L, Hackert, V, Hoebe, C (2014) Land-Applied Goat Manure as a Source of Human QFever in the Netherlands, 2006–2010. *PLoS ONE* **9**,
- Hiel, D, von Schéele, I., Sundblad, B.-M., Larsson, K. & Palmberg, L. (2009) Evaluation of respiratory effects related to high-pressure cleaning in a piggery with and without robot pre-cleaning. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health* **35**, 376-383.

- Hjerpe, CA (1993) The bovine respiratory disease complex. In 'Current Veterinary Therapy: Food Animal Practice.' (Ed. WB Saunders.) Vol. 3rd Edition pp. 653–664. (Saunders: Philadelphia)
- Huang, Q, McConnell, LL, Razote, E, Schmidt, WF, Vinyard, BT, Torrents, A, Hapeman, CJ, Maghirang, R, Trabue, SL, Prueger, J, Ro, KS (2013) Utilizing single particle Raman microscopy as a non-destructive method to identify sources of PM₁₀ from cattle feedlot operations. *Atmospheric Environment* **66**, 17-24.
- Hurst, TS, Dosman, JA (1990) Characterization of health effects of grain dust exposures. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* **17**, 27-32.
- Huy, T, De Schipper, K, Chan-Yeung, M, Kennedy, SM (1991) Grain dust and lung function. Dose-response relationships. *American Review of Respiratory Disease* **144**, 1314-1321.
- Kanaoka, C (2006) Chapter 5.1.2 Dust Collection In 'Powder Technology Handbook ' (Eds H Masuda, K Higashitani, H Yoshida.) pp. 637-652. (CRC Press: Boca Raton, Florida)
- Kissell, FN (2003) Handbook for Dust Control in Mining. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Pittsburgh, US.
- Kubik, R (2006) Chapter 6 Dust, Mold, Gases and Chemicals. In 'The Farm Safety Handbook.' (Ed. A Glaser.) pp. 127. (Voyageur Press: Minnesota, USA)
- Kwata, MG (2014) Comparison of Methods for Measurement of Dust Deposition in South African Mining Sectors. University of Pretoria.
- Kwon, TM (2004) Atmospheric Visibility Measurements using Video Cameras: Relative Visibility. University of Minnesota Technical Report, Duluth, Minnesota.
- Lacey, RE, Mukhtar, S, Carey, JB, Ullman, JL (2004) A review of literature concerning odors, ammonia, and dust from broiler production facilities: 1. Odour concentrations and emissions. *The Journal of Applied Poultry Research* **13**, 500-508.
- Lai, FS, Pomeranz, Y, Martin, CR, Dikeman, E, Miller, BS (1981) Mineral Components of Grain Dust. *Cereal Chemistry* **58**, 417-421.
- Lewis, RW, 2016a. Automatic Weather Stations for Feedlots in QLD and NSW. FSA Consulting, Personal Communication.
- Lewis, RW, 2016b. Community Complaints for Feedlots in QLD and NSW. FSA Consulting, Personal Communication.
- Li, Q-F, Wang-Li, L, Walker, JT, Shah, SB, Bloomfield, P, Jayanty, RKM (2012) Particulate matter in the vicinity of an egg production facility: Concentrations, statistical distributions, and upwind and downwind comparison. *Transactions of the ASABE (American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers)* **55**, 1965-1973.
- Li, XW (1997) Effects of dust and contaminants in animal buildings on human health and control strategies. *Journal of Environmental Science & Health, Part A: Environmental Science and Engineering and Toxicology* **32**, 2449-2469.
- Loneragan, G, Brashears, M (2005) Effects of using retention-pond water for dust abatement on performance of feedlot steers and carriage of Escherichia coli O157 and Salmonella spp. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association* **226**, 1378-1383.
- Lorimor, J (2003) Module 8: Open Feedlot Construct ion and Management for Water and Air Quality Protection. Iowa State University Available at <u>http://docslide.us/documents/module-8-open-feedlot-construction-and-management-for-water-and-air-quality.html</u> [Accessed 16 June 2016].
- Loyon, L, Burton, CH, Misselbrook, T, Webb, J, Philippe, FX, Aguilar, M, Doreau, M, Hassouna, M, Veldkamp, T, Dourmad, JY, Bonmati, A, Grimm, E, Sommer, SG (2016) Best available technology for European livestock farms: Availability, effectiveness and uptake. *Journal of environmental management* **166**, 1-11.
- Lugton, I (2016) 'Q Fever: A Notifiable Disease in Humans.' Available at http://www.flockandherd.net.au/other/reader/q-fever.html [Accessed December 1 2016].

- MacVean, DW, Franzen, DK, Keefe, TJ, Bennett, BW (1986) Airborne particle concentration and meteorologic conditions associated with pneumonia incidence in feedlot cattle. *American Journal of Veterinary Research* **47**, 2676-2682.
- Malone, G, Windsor, J, Abbott, D, Collier, S (2006) 'Establishment of Vegetative Environmental Buffers Around Poultry Farms, Agricultural Air Quality.' Washington DC, USA, June 5-6 2006. (University of Delaware, College of Agriculture & Natural Resources, USA. Available at <u>http://extension.udel.edu/blog/category/poultry-</u> <u>extension/vegetative-environmental-buffers-veb/</u></u>
- Marcillac-Embertson, NM, Robinson, PH, Fadel, JG, Mitloehner, FM (2009) Effects of shade and sprinklers on performance, behavior, physiology, and the environment of heifers. *Journal of dairy science* **92**, 506-517.
- Marthi, BV, Fieland, P, Walter, M, Seidkler, RJ (1990) Survival of bacteria during aerosolization. *Applied and environmental microbiology* **56**, 3463-3467.
- Martin, CR (1981) Characterization of Grain Dust Properties. *Transactions of the American* Society of Agricultural Engineers (ASAE) **24**, 738-742.
- Maurer, DL, Koziel, JA, Harmon, JD, Hoff, SJ, Rieck-Hinz, AM, Andersen, DS (2016) Summary of performance data for technologies to control gaseous,odor, and particulate emissions from livestock operations: Air management practices assessmenttool (AMPAT). *Data in Brief* **7**, 1413-1429.
- McEachran, AD, Blackwell, B. R., Hanson, J. D., Wooten, K. J., Mayer, G. D., Cox, S. B. & Smith, P. N. (2015) Antibiotics, Bacteria, and Antibiotic Resistance Genes: Aerial Transport. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **123**, 337-343.
- McGinn, SM, Flesch, TK, Chen, D, Crenna, B, Denmead, OT, Naylor, T, Rowell, D (2010) Coarse Particulate Matter Emissions from Cattle Feedlots in Australia. *Journal of environmental quality* **39**, 791-798.
- Melse, RW, Timmerman, M (2009) Sustainable intensive livestock production demands manure and exhaust air treatment technologies. *Bioresource Technology* **100**, 5506-5511.
- Mizuno, A (2000) Electrostatic Precipitation. *IEEE Transactions on Dielectrics and Electrical Insulation* **7**, 615-624.
- MLA (2005) Dust emissions from a beef cattle feedlot on the Darling Downs FLOT.325. North Sydney, NSW.
- MLA (2012a) National Beef Cattle Feedlot Environmental Code of Practice 2nd edition. Meat & Livestock Australia Limited, Sydney, NSW.
- MLA (2012b) National Guidelines for Beef Cattle Feedlots in Australia 3rd edition Meat and Livestock Australia, Sydney, NSW. Available at <u>http://www.mla.com.au/CustomControls/PaymentGateway/ViewFile.aspx?QcyEIgTQn</u> <u>gTm70Ea6OZR/MDZg3dm+mO3vWCcz9tYt1wX46/4IEqi/3wVtYwQ+L1k3EYMKKAfsh</u> <u>t7d1Tnt3BqiA==</u>.
- MLA (2016) Strategic Plan 2016-2020. Meat & Livestock Australia, Sydney, NSW.
- Mostafa, E, Buescher, W (2011) Indoor air quality improvement from particle matters for laying hen poultry houses. *Biosystems Engineering* **109**, 22-36.
- Mukhtar, S, Ullman, JL, Carey, JB, Lacey, RE (2004) A Review of Literature Concerning Odors, Ammonia, and Dust from Broiler Production Facilities: 3. Land Application, Processing, and Storage of Broiler Litter. *The Journal of Applied Poultry Research* **13**, 514-520.
- Noguchi, K, Toriba, A, Chung, SW, Kizu, R, Hayakawa, K (2007) Identification of estrogenic/anti-estrogenic compounds in diesel exhaust particulate extract.
- NPI (2016) Search NPI data. Department of the Environment and Energy, Australian Government, Canberra. Available at <u>http://www.npi.gov.au/npi-data/search-npi-data</u> [Accessed 8 August 2016].
- NSW DPI (2014) Farm water quality and treatment. NSW Department of Primary Industries Available at <u>http://www.dpi.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0013/164101/Farm-water-quality-and-treatment.pdf</u> [Accessed December 13, 2016].

NSW EPA (2005) Approved Methods for the Modelling and Assessment of Air Pollutants in New South Wales Department of Environment and Conservation (NSW) Available at <u>http://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/air/appmethods.htm</u> [Accessed 27 July 2016].

NSW EPA (n.d.) Air Quality Guidance Note - Beef Cattle Feedlots.

- O'Sullivan, S, Dahlen, S.-E., Larsson, K., Larsson, B.-M., Malmberg, P., Kumlin, M. & Palmberg, L. (1998) Exposure of healthy volunteers to swine house dust increases formation of leukotrienes, prostaglandin D2, and bronchial responsiveness to methacholine. *Thorax* **53**,
- O'Connor, AM, Auvermann, B, Bickett-Weddle, D, Kirkhorn, S, Sargeant, JM, Ramirez, A, Von Essen, SG (2010) The Association between Proximity to Animal Feeding Operations and Community Health: A Systematic Review. *PLoS ONE* **5**, e9530.
- Organiscak, JA, Page, SJ (1999) Field assessment of control techniques and long-term dust variability for surface coal mine rock drills and bulldozers. *International Journal of Surface Mining Reclamation and Environment* **13**, 165-172.
- Owens, CV, Lambright, C, Cardon, M, Gray, E, Gullett, BK (2006) Detection of Androgenic Activity in Emissions from Diesel Fuel and Biomass Combustion. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* **25**, 2123-2131.
- Padgett, PE, Meadows, D., Eubanks, E. & Ryan, W. E. (2008) Monitoring fugutive dust emissions from off-highway vehicles traveling on unpaved roads and trails using passive samplers. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* **144**, 93-103.
- Palmgren, MS, DeLucca, AJ, Klich, MA, Ciegler, A (1983) Fungi and Bacteria in grain dust from New Orleans area grain terminals. In 'Aerosols in the Mining and Industrial Work Environments: Volume II, Characterization.' (Eds VS Marple, BYH Liu.) Vol. 2 (Ann Arbor Science Publications: Ann Arbor, Michigan)
- Parnell, S (1994) Dispersion Modeling for Prediction of Emission Factors for Cattle Feedyards. Masters thesis, A&M University.
- Perillo, A, Paciello, O, Tinelli, A, Morelli, A, Losacco, C, Troncone, A (2009) Lesions associated with mineral deposition in the lymph nodes and lungs of cattle: a casecontrol study of environmental health hazard. *Folia Histochemica et Cytobiologica* **47**, 633-638.
- Perkins, N, 2013. Animal health survey of the Australian feedlot industry (2010) (P.PSH.0547). Meat & Livestock Australia Limited (MLA), North Sydney, NSW 2059.
- Prairie Swine Centre (1998) Environmental Issues Resource Centre: Dust Saskatoon, Saskatchewan CANADA. Available at <u>http://www.prairieswine.com/pdf/1191.pdf</u>.
- Pratt, DS, May, JJ (1984) Feed associated respiratory illness in farmers. *Archives of Environmental Health* **39**, 43-48.
- Purdy, CW, Straus, DC, Chirase, N, Parker, DB, Ayers, JR, Hoover, MD (2002a) Effects of aerosolised endotoxin in feedyard dust on weanling goats. *Small Ruminant Research* 46, 133-147.
- Purdy, CW, Straus, DC, Chirase, N, Parker, DB, Ayers, JR, Hoover, MD (2002b) Effects of aerosolized feedyard dust that contains natural endotoxins on adult sheep. *American Journal of Veterinary Research* **63**, 28-35.
- Purdy, CW, Straus, DC, Chirase, N, Parker, DB, Ayers, JR, Hoover, MD (2003) Effects of Aerosolized Dust in Goats on Lung Clearance of Pasteurella and Mannheimia species. *Current Microbiology* **46**, 174-179.
- Purdy, CW, Straus, DC, Parker, DB, Ayers, JR, Hoover, MD (2002c) Treatment of feedyard dust containing endotoxin and its effect on weanling goats. *Small Ruminant Research* 46, 123-132.
- Purdy, CW, Straus, DC, Parker, DB, Wilson, SC, Clark, RN (2004) Comparison of the type and number of microorganisms and concentration of endotoxin in the air of feedyards in the Southern High Plains. *American Journal of Veterinary Research* **65**, 45-52.
- Queensland Government (2003) Feedlot Waste Management Series. Department of Primary Industries and Fisheries Available at

http://www.dpi.qld.gov.au/environment/5243.html.

- Queensland Health (2010) 'Q fever: Queensland Health Guidelines for Public Health Units.' Available at https://<u>www.health.qld.gov.au/cdcg/index/qfever.asp</u> [Accessed 2 December 2016].
- Rahman, S, Mukhtar, S, Wiederhold, R (2008) Managing odor nuisance and dust from cattle feedlots. North Dakota State University, Fargo, North Dakota Fact sheet.
- Rengasamy, P, Greene, RSB, Ford, GW (1984) The role of clay fraction in the particle arrangement and stability of soil aggregates a review. *Clay Research* **3**, 53-67.
- Robertson, AP, Hoxey, RP, Demmers, TGM, Welch, SK, Sneath, RW, Stacey, KF, Fothergill, A, Filmer, D, Fisher, C (2002) Commercial-scale studies of the effect of broiler-protein intake on aerial pollutant emissions. *Biosystems Engineering* **82**, 217-225.
- Rogge, WF, Medeiros, PM, Simoneit, BRT (2006) Organic marker compounds for surface soil and fugitive dust from open lot dairies and cattle feedlots. *Atmospheric Environment* 40, 27-49.
- Rogge, WF, Medeiros, PM, Simoneit, BRT (2012) Organic Compounds in Dust from Rural and Urban Paved and Unpaved Roads Taken During the San Joaquin Valley Fugitive Dust Characterization Study. *Environmental Engineering Science* **29**, 1-13.
- Romanillos, A, Auvermann, BW (1999) 'Effect of Stocking Density on Fugitive PM10 Emissions From a Cattle Feedyard, ASAE Annual International Meeting.' Sheraton Centre Hotel, Toronto, Ontario Canada, July 18-21, 1999.
- Roser, D, Tucker, R, Khan, S, Klein, M, Coleman, HM, Brown, L, Davies, C, Trinh, T, Wang, S, Peters, G, Stuetz, R, Ashbolt, N, Baker, K, Burger, M, Davis, R (2011a) FLOT.333 Managing the contaminants in feedlot wastes: Development of realistic guidelines – Final Report. Meat & Livestock Australia, North Sydney.
- Roser, D, Tucker, R, Khan, S, Klein, M, Coleman, HM, Brown, L, Davies, C, Trinh, T, Wang, S, Peters, G, Stuetz, R, Ashbolt, N, Baker, K, Burger, M, Davis, R (2011b) FLOT.333A Managing the contaminants in feedlot wastes: Development of realistic guidelines Summary Report. Meat & Livestock Australia, North Sydney.
- Safe Work Australia (2011) Workplace Exposure Standards for Airborne Contaminants. Canberra, ACT. Available at <u>http://www.safeworkaustralia.gov.au/AboutSafeWorkAustralia/WhatWeDo/Publications</u> /Pages/Exposure-Standards-Airborne-Contaminants.aspx [Accessed 20 June 2016].
- Safe Work Australia (2012) Guidance on the interpretation of workplace exposure standards for airborne contaminants. Canberra, ACT. Available at <u>http://www.safeworkaustralia.gov.au/sites/swa/about/publications/pages/interpretation-airborne-contaminants-guide</u> [Accessed 20 June 2016].
- Sanderson, MW, Dargatz, DA, Wagner, BA (2008) Risk factors for initial respiratory disease in United States' feedlots based on producer-collected daily morbidity counts. *Canadian Veterinary Journal* **49**, 373–378.
- Schiffman, SS, Studwell, CE, Landerman, LR, Berman, K, Sundy, JS (2005) Symptomatic effects of exposure to diluted air sampled from a swine confinement atmosphere on healthy human subjects. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **113**, 567-576.
- Seedorf, J, Hartung, J., Schröder, M., Linkert, K. H., Phillips, V. R., Holden, M. R., Sneath, R. W., Short, J. L., White, R. P., Pedersen, S., Takai, H., Johnsen, J. O., Metz, J. H. M., Groot Koerkamp, P. W. G., Uenk, G. H., & Wathes, C. M. (1998) Concentrations and emissions of airborne endotoxins and microorganisms in livestock buildings in Northern Europe. *Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research* 70, 97-109.
- Seifert, SA, Von Essen, S, Jacobitz, K, Crouch, R, Linter, CP (2003) Organic Dust Toxic Syndrome: A Review. *Journal of Toxicology* **41**, 185-193.
- Skloss, SJ (2008) Evaluation of the TEOM Method for the Measurement of Particulate Matter from Texas Cattle Feedlots. Master of Science thesis, Texas A&M University.
- SKM (2005) Improvement of NPI Fugitive Particulate Matter Emission Estimation Techniques. Sinclair Knight Merz, Perth, Australia.
- Smit, LAM, Beer, FvdS-d, Winden, AWJO-v, Hooiveld, M, Beekhuizen, J, Wouters, IM, Yzermans, J, Heederik, D (2012) Q Fever and Pneumonia in an Area with a High Livestock Density: A Large Population-Based Study. *Plus One* **7**,

- Smith, DR (2007) The Effects of Aerosolized Feedlot Dust on the Health and Performance of Young Calves. Submitted in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science thesis, West Texas A & M University.
- Sowiak, M, Bródka, K., Buczyńska, A., Cyprowski, M., Kozajda, A., Sobala, W. & Szadkowska-Stańczyk, I. (2012) An assessment of potential exposure to bioaerosols among swine farm workers with particular reference to airborne microorganisms in the respirable fraction under various breeding conditions. *Aerobiologia* **28**, 121-133.
- Spencer, R, Alix, CM, 2006. Dust management, mitigation at composting facilities. BioCycle Magazine. 55-57.
- Sweeten, J, Parnell, C, Shaw, B, Auvermann, B (1998) Particle size distribution of cattle feedlot dust emission. *Transactions of the ASAE* **41**, 1477-1481.
- Sweeten, JB, Parnell, CB, Etheredge, RS, Osborne, D (1988) Dust emissions in cattle feedlots. *The Veterinary Clinic of North America Food Animal Practice* **4**, 557-578.
- Sweeten, JM (1998) Cattle Feedlot Manure and Wastewater Management Practices. In 'Animal Waste Utilization: Effective Use of Manure as a Soil Resource ' (Eds JL Hatfield, BA Stewart.) pp. 125-157. (CRC Press LLC: Boca Raton, Florida)
- Takai, H, Pedersen, S, Johnsen, JO, Metz, JHM, Groot Koerkamp, PWG, Uenk, GH, Phillips, VR, Holden, MR, Sneath, RW, Short, JL, White, RP, Hartung, J, Seedorf, J, Schröder, M, Linkert, KH, Wathes, CM (1998) Concentrations and emissions of airborne dust in livestock buildings in northern Europe. *Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research* 70, 59-77.
- Tan, ZZ, Y. (2004) A review of Effects and Control Methods of Particulate Matter in Animal Indoor Environments. *Journal of the Air & Waste Management Asociation* **54**, 845-854.
- Taylor, JD, Fulton, RW, Lehenbauer, TW, Step, DL, Confer, AW (2010) The epidemiology of bovine respiratory disease: What is the evidence for predisposing factors? *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, **51**, 1095-1102.
- Thompson, RJ, Visser, AT (2007) Selection, performance and economic evaluation of dust palliatives on surface mine haul roads. *The Journal of The Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy* **107**, 435-450.
- Todd, RW, Guo, W, Stewart, BA, Robinson, C (2004) Vegetation, phosphorus, and dust gradients downwind from a cattle feedyard. *Journal of Range Management* **57**, 291-299.
- Tri-Tech Forensics (2016) 'Mask Nuisance Odor/Dust.' Available at <u>http://tritechforensics.com/store/product/mask-nuisance-odordust/</u> [Accessed 2 December 2016].
- TSI (2005) Model 8520 DUSTTRAKTM Aerosol Monitor: Operation and Service Manual 1980198, Revision Q. Available at <u>http://ecoenvironmental.com.au/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/dust_Dustrak_8520_AM_Operations_Manual.pdf</u> [Accessed 21 December 2016].
- Tucker, RW, Lott, SC, Watts, PJ, Jukes, PD (1991) Lot feeding in Australia a survey of the Australian lot feeding industry. Department of Primary Industries, Brisbane.
- Turner, JH, Branscome, MR, Chessin, RL, Damle, AS, Kamath, RV, Northeim, CM, Allen, CC (1987) Methods for Estimating Fugitive Particulate Emissions from Hazardous Waste Sites. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Research Triangle Park, North Carolina, USA.
- Tyndall, J (2008) The Use of Vegetative Environmental Buffers for Livestock and Poultry Odor Management. Department of Natural resource Ecology and Management, Iowa State University, Iowa, USA. Available at
- http://lib.dr.iastate.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1018&context=nrem_conf.
- U.S. EPA (1986.) AP-42 Compilation of Air Pollution Emission Factors Volume I: Stationary Point and Area Sources. Research Triangle Park, North Carolina.
- Ullman, JL, Mukhtar, S, Lacey, R, Carey, J (2004a) A review of literature concerning odors, ammonia, and dust from broiler production facilities: 4. remedial management practices. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research* **13**, 509-513.

- Ullman, JL, Mukhtar, S, Lacey, RE, Carey, JB (2004b) A Review of Literature Concerning Odors, Ammonia, and Dust from Broiler Production Facilities: 4. Remedial Management Practices. *World's Poultry Science Journal* **59**, 340-349.
- Upadhyay, JK, Auvermann, B. W., Paila, A. N., & Hiranuma, N. (2008) Open-path transmissometry to determine atmospheric extinction efficiency associated with feedyard dust. *Transactions of the ASABE (American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers)* **51**, 1433-1441.
- US DOT (2013) Unpaved Road Dust Management. U.S. Department of Transportation No. FHWA-CFL/TD-13-001, Lakewood, Colorado, US.
- US EPA (1977) Source Assessment: Beef Cattle Feedlots. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Research Triangle Park, North Carolina.
- US EPA (2001) Emissions From Animal Feeding Operations Draft. Emission Standards Division, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, Triangle Park, North Carolina.
- US EPA (2006) Chapter 13: Miscellaneous Sources. In 'AP-42: Compilation of Air Emission Factors.' Vol. 1
- US EPA (2016a) List of Designated Reference and Equivalent Methods. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Research Triangle Park, NC 27711. Available at https://www3.epa.gov/ttnamti1/files/ambient/criteria/reference-equivalent-methodslist.pdf [Accessed 21 December 2016].
- US EPA (2016b) 'NAAQS Table ' Available at https://www.epa.gov/criteria-airpollutants/naags-table
- USDA (2008) Soil Quality Indicators. United States Department of Agriculture. Available at https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/nrcs142p2_053281.pdf [Accessed December 13, 2016].
- USDA (2011a) Cattle Death Loss. USDA National Agricultural Statistics Service Available at <u>http://usda.mannlib.cornell.edu/usda/current/CattDeath/CattDeath-05-12-2011.pdf</u> [Accessed 23 December 2008].
- USDA (2011b) 'United States Department of Agriculture.' Available at https://www.nass.usda.gov/ [Accessed 25 July 2016].
- Van der Heyden, C, Demeyer, P, Volcke, EIP (2015) Mitigating emissions from pig and poultry housing facilities through air scrubbers and biofilters: State-of-the-art and perspectives. *Biosystems Engineering* **134**, 74-93.
- Vesilind, PA, Peirce, JJ, Weiner, RF (1994) 'Environmental Engineering.' (Butterworth Heinemann: Burlington, Massachusetts)
- Wang, L, Parnell, CB, Shaw, BW, Lacey, RE, Buser, MD, Goodrich, LB, Capareda, SC (2005) Correcting PM₁₀ Over-Sampling Problems for Agricultural Particulate Matter Emissions: Preliminary Study. *American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **48**, 749–755.
- Wang, Z, Wu, L, Wu, QJ (2000) Water-entry value as an alternative indicator of soil waterrepellency and wettability. *Journal of Hydrology* **231–232**, 76–83.
- Wanjura, JD, Parnell, CB, Shaw, BW, Lacey, RE (2004) 'A Protocol for Determining a Fugitive Dust Emission Factor from a Ground Level Area Source, 2004 ASAE/CSAE Annual International Meeting.' Ottawa, Ontario, Canada, 1-4 August 2004.
- Wanjura, JD, Shaw, BW, Parnell Jr., CB, Lacey, RE, Capareda, SC (2008) Comparison of Continuous Monitor (TEOM) and Gravimetric Sampler Particulate Matter Concentrations. *American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers* 51, 251-257.
- Wathes, CM (1994) Air and Surface Hygiene. In 'Livestock Housing.' (Eds CM Wathes, DR Charles.) (CAB international: Wallingford, England)
- Wathes, CM, Phillips, V. R., Holden, M. R., Sneath, R. W., Short, J. L., White, R. P., Hartung, J., Seedorf, J., Shröder, M., Linkert, K. H., Pedersen, S., Takai, H., Johnsen, J. O., Groot Koercamp, P. W. G., Uenk, G. H., Metz, J. H. M., Hinz, T., Caspary, V., & Linke, S. (1998) Emissions of aerial pollutants in livestock buildings in northern Europe: Overview of a multinational project. *Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research* 70, 3-9.

- Watts, P, Ni Cheallaigh, A, Valentine, J, Tucker, R, O'Keefe, M (2014) Environmental Performance Review of Australian Feedlots (2012). FSA Consulting, Toowoomba, QLD.
- Watts, PJ, Tucker, RW (Eds) (1994) 'Designing Better Feedlots.' In 'Conference and Workshop Series QC94002'. (Department of Primary Industries: Brisbane, Queensland)
- Weiner, RF, Matthews, RA (2003) Chapter 20 Air Pollution Control. In 'Environmental Engineering.' pp. 385-410. (Butterworth Heinemann: Burlington, Massachusetts)
- WHO (1999) Hazard Prevention and Control in the Work Environment: Airborne Dust. Occupational and Environmental Health, Department of Protection of the Human Environment, Geneva.
- Wilson, SC, Morrow-Tesch, J, Straus, DC, Cooley, JD, Wong, WC, Mitlohner, FM, McGlone, JJ (2002) Airborne Microbial Flora in a Cattle Feedlot. *Applied and environmental microbiology* 3238-3242.
- Winkel, A, Mosquera, J, Groot Koerkamp, PWG, Ogink, NWM, Aarnink, AJA (2015) Emissions of particulate matter from animal houses in the Netherlands. *Atmospheric Environment* **111**, 202-212.
- Wooten, KJ, Blackwell, BR, McEachran, AD, Mayer, GD, Smith, PN (2015) Airborne particulate matter collected near beef cattle feedyards induces androgenic and estrogenic activity in vitro. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* **203**, 29-35.
- Work Cover Queensland (2016) 'Agriculture industry: Q fever.' Available at https://www.worksafe.qld.gov.au/agriculture/workplace-hazards/diseases-fromanimals/q-fever [Accessed 2 December 2016].
- WSDE (1995) Fugitive Dust Control Guidelines for Beef Cattle Feedlots and Best Management Practices. Washington State Department of Ecology Available at https://yosemite.epa.gov/r10/airpage.nsf/283d45bd5bb068e68825650f0064cdc2/0d37 370cca919ce38825700c0079d9da/\$FILE/Fugitive%20Dust%20Control%20Guidelines %20for%20Beef%20Cattle%20Feedlots.pdf [Accessed 15 June 2016].
- Wyatt, TA, Slager, RE, DeVasure, J, Auvermann, BW, Mulhern, ML, Von Essen, S, Mathisen, T, Floreani, AA, Romberger, DJ (2007) Feedlot dust stimulation of interleukin-6 and -8 requires protein kinase C_E in human bronchial epithelial cells. *American Journal of Physiology Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology* **293**, L1163-L1170.
- Wyatt, TA, Slager, RE, DeVasure, J, Auvermann, BW, Mulhern, ML, Von Essen, S, Mathisen, T, Floreani, AA, Romberger, DJ (2014) Feedlot dust stimulation of interleukin-6 and -8 requires protein kinase CE in human bronchial epithelial cells. *American Journal of Physiology - Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology* **30**, 815-824.
- Yu, CH, Park, S. C., McCarl, B. A., & Amosson, S. H. (2012) Feedlots, Air Quality and Dust Control-Benefit Estimation under Climate Change. In 'Agricultural & Applied Economics Association's Annual Meeting. Seattle, Washington', August 12-14.
- Zhaoa, Y, Aarninka, AJA, Hofschreudera, P, Groot Koerkamp, PWG (2009) Evaluation of an impaction and acyclone pre-separator for sampling high PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5} concentrations inlives to ckhouses. *Aerosol Science* **40**, 868-878.
- Zinn, R, Montano, M, Shen, Y (1996) Comparative feeding value of hulless vs covered barley for feedlot cattle. *Journal of Animal Science* **74**, 1187-1193.
- Zinn, R, Owens, F, Ware, R (2002) Flaking corn: processing mechanics, quality standards, and impacts on energy availability and performance of feedlot cattle. *Journal of Animal Science* **80**, 1145-1156.
- Zinn, RA (1993) Influence of processing on the feeding value of oats for feedlot cattle. *Journal of Animal Science* **71**, 2303-2309.

11 Appendix A – Dust measurement and monitoring

Numerous studies have documented the health and safety effects of feedlot dust emissions on humans and livestock. To safeguard against adverse health outcomes, various state and national guidelines for dust emissions have been developed and effective monitoring is required to ensure these guidelines are being met. Feedlots in NSW and QLD are required to record all community complaints (Lewis 2016b), with environmental monitoring data being used to substantiate the validity of these complaints and to minimise any impacts on the surrounding community. Complaints may relate both to nuisance dust (i.e. >10 μ m) and fine particulate materials (<10 μ m) which are the most damaging to human and animal health (see Section 4.2.1.

Watts and Tucker (1994) conclude that dust monitoring must account for the following variables:

- Seasonal conditions
- Time of day
- Surface wind speed
- Downwind distance
- Climatic factors affecting dispersion
- Background levels of dust: In agricultural settings there are often high background airborne dust emissions. Strategies such as the C18/C16 fatty acid ratio can be employed to characterise dust originating from cattle feedlots operations (Rogge *et al.* 2006).
- Type of sampling device used

It is noted that dust monitoring techniques have changed over time and techniques are specific to the intended use of the data (see above). Effective dust monitoring may be quite complex and this may be beyond the scope for routine measurement by lot feeders. A list of available dust monitoring techniques is shown below.

11.1 Personal aerosol samplers

Personal aerosol samplers could be used by feedlot staff to assess dust exposure levels. Internationally accepted sampling criteria for aerosol samplers have been developed by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO), the American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists (ACGIH) and the Comit Europen de Normalisation (CEN) for $PM_{2.5}$ and PM_{10} (Görner 2001). The measurement of fine $PM_{2.5}$ and PM_{10} fractions is of particular interest as these are the most likely to cause harm to human or animal health (Aizenberg 2001). Sampling criteria are currently under review and exposure limits are based on assumed inhalability of dust particles. For example, recent research by Brown *et al.* (2013) has suggested that thoracic inhalation has been overestimated with only 50% of particles with a diameter of 3 µm in adults or 5 µm in children being inhalable to the thoracic region.

11.2 Aerosol samplers

Environmental monitoring is assessed using automatic weather stations, and this is standard practice for feedlots in QLD and NSW (Lewis 2016a). Automatic weather stations typically record air temperature, wind speed, wind directionality and rainfall and can be used to model the effects of dust and air pollution on surrounding receptor localities (Lewis 2016a). The specific parameters measured differ based on jurisdictions and specific licensing conditions, although the Department of the Environment (2007) handbook details the methodology for reporting feedlot dust emissions in Australia. The Department of the Environment (2007)

handbook requires feedlots to report dust emissions (PM_{10}) if greater than 400 tonnes of fuel is combusted on site per year. The handbook does not otherwise require the reporting of dust emissions from feedlot pen or road surfaces and has recently been updated in 2007 in response to reports of overestimation of actual feedlot emissions.

11.3 Air Samplers

The use of air samplers is a more technical and costly monitoring approach compared to conventional dust deposition gauges. Advantages for the use of air samplers are the targeted measurement of fine dust size fractions ($PM_{2.5}$ and P_{10}), which is of benefit to environmental managers and regulators. Accepted methods have also been developed by Sweeten *et al.* (1998) for the estimation of PM_{10} emissions from TSP concentrations, although these methods are less accurate than direct measurement using air samplers.

Air samplers require basic training to operate and conventional gravimetric methods collect sampled dust on specialised filter paper which is sent away to an accredited laboratory for analysis. Lead times for laboratory analysis does not allow for the collection of real-time data, which gives the facility less guidance when responding to changes in dust emissions. More advanced TEOM samplers allow for the real-time monitoring of PM which may be of benefit to the Australian lot-feeding industry.

Air samplers are not suited to high dust environments where they are prone to becoming overloaded. The use of a cyclone pre-separator has been trialled in these dusty environments with promising results (Zhaoa *et al.* 2009), although high dust loads are less problematic for outdoor cattle feedlots where particulate emissions are more dispersed due to natural ventilation.

 $PM_{2.5}$ and PM_{10} samplers employ size selective inlets or pre-separators to remove the particle size classes not being measured (i.e. those greater than 2.5 or 10 µm). Pre-sampler removal efficiencies are not 100%, and the US EPA has developed size selective inlet guidelines of 2.5 µm +/- 0.2 µm for $PM_{2.5}$ samplers, and 10 µm +/- 0.5 µm for PM_{10} samplers. Size selective inlets for PM samplers have been designed based on aerosols with mass medium diameters (MMD) much less than typical feedlot dust. This has been found to result in oversampling bias (Auvermann 2016) which has mathematically been demonstrated by Buser *et al.* (2001). Oversampling bias may result in unequal reporting of PM emissions across industries where MMDs can differ significantly (Buser *et al.* 2001). Correction factors based on MMD can be applied to correct for sampling bias for more uniform reporting across industries (Buser *et al.* 2001; Wang *et al.* 2005).

11.4 Dust deposition gauge

Dust deposition gauges are simple inexpensive instruments for the collection of total PM. They are able to determine whether total dust deposition rates comply with guidelines developed by Safe Work Australia (2011) of 10 mg/m³ over eight hours (TWA). These guidelines are very similar to the total inhalable dust guidelines for livestock which would equate to 10.4 mg/m³ if adjusted linearly over eight hours (from 24 hours) (Wathes 1994). The main advantage of using simple dust deposition gauges is that dust levels can simply be determined in-house leading to significant cost saving for the facility.

Below is a guide for calculating feedlot dust emissions using a dust deposition gauge:

Guidelines for human exposure to nuisance dust are 10 mg/m³ over eight hours (Safe Work Australia 2011). Guidelines for livestock exposure to non-specific inhalable dust are 3.4 mg/m³ over 24 hours (Wathes 1994).Maximum daily (24 hour) inhalable dust fall for

livestock should not exceed 3.4 mg/m³. The majority of dust emissions should be inhalable (see

Table 3), although dust deposition gauges only measure TSP and are unable to distinguish between the inhalable and non-inhalable components. As such, for this example, guidelines for human exposure to nuisance dust have been adjusted over 24 hours (from 8 hours), giving a maximum daily allowable limit of 3 mg/m³. This value is slightly below livestock guidelines for non-specific inhalable dust (3.4 mg/m³).

- Dust deposition gauges typically have relatively small surface areas and a surface area of 61 cm³ (as used by Kwata (2014)) would result in a maximum allowable daily dust deposition rate of 0.18 mg/m³ (based on the above formulated guidelines of 3 mg/m³ over 24 hours, modified from Safe Work Australia (2011)).
- Dust values of 0.18 mg are quite low and may result in weighing inaccuracies. The feedlot may therefore wish to purchase multiple (or larger) dust deposition gauges, or to average dust fall over multiple days. For example, if allowable dust fall is 0.18 mg per day for a 61 cm³ collection vessel, allowable weekly dust fall would be 1.28 mg which would provide less measurement inaccuracies.

Dust deposition gauges are unable to quantify the proportion of fine particulate materials $(PM_{2.5} \text{ and } PM_{10})$ which are the most damaging to human and animal health (see Section 4.3. Livestock exposure guidelines for respirable particles are 1.7 mg/m³ (TWA over 24 hours), which are exactly half the safe guidelines for inhalable dust (3.4 mg/m³) (Wathes 1994). Fine dust (<10 µm) generally only makes up a small proportion of feedlot dust, typically reported as between 20 - 40% in US feedlots (Galvin *et al.* 2005) and up to 59% in Australia (Galvin *et al.* 2005). Not all fine dust is respirable with

Table 3 showing that approximately only 50% of particles $\leq 4 \ \mu m$ are respirable. As the respirable component of inhalable dust is likely less than 50%, in the absence of detailed data on PSD, if guidelines for inhalable dust are not exceeded, than guidelines for respirable dust should also be within safe limits.

11.5 New monitoring methods

There is the potential for significant advancement in monitoring methods to allow for the monitoring of 'real time' PM concentrations. This poses numerous advantages over current monitoring methods like air samplers where results generally need to be analysed in an accredited laboratory. Due to the complexities of these measurement techniques, consultancies are often employed to conduct air quality assessments and it may take weeks or months before finalisation of monitoring reports. Whilst this may satisfy regulatory requirements, it doesn't allow for the continuous supply of monitoring data which may be used by the facility to adjust their dust mitigation techniques.

New methods developed by Upadhyay (2008) investigate the use of transmissometers for the estimation of PM concentrations downwind of open-lot livestock facilities. Whilst this research is still in its infancy, it does allow for the collection of real-time data and is of great interest to the lot feeding industry. Correspondence with Dr Auvermann notes that technical limitations of transmissometers currently on the market restrict this method to measuring dust concentrations over relatively long paths (> 750 m) (Auvermann 2016). New methods, as noted in Bush *et al.* (2014) need to be developed for shorter path lengths, and this will allow research studies to more confidently distinguish dust concentrations between treatments. One promising method is the patented approach of (Kwon 2004), which is currently being testing in Texas using custom-designed, high-contrast targets with consumer-grade digital SLR cameras (Auvermann 2016).

Other new methods include TEOM samplers which are similar to conventional gravimetric air samplers in that they are fitted with size selective inlets for the measurement of PM_{2.5}, PM₁₀ and TSP particulates. Similar to gravimetric air samplers, these may also be prone to the same sampling biases (see Section 4.3). TEOM samplers are a US EPA approved method for measuring PM₁₀ concentrations which have been used over the past fifteen years by many US state air pollution regulatory agencies (SAPRAs) (Skloss 2008). Major advantages for TEOM samplers include automated operation, reduced maintenance, and continuous, real-time measurement of PM (Skloss 2008; Wanjura *et al.* 2008), which is not possible using conventional gravimetric air samplers. Major issues associated with using different sampling methods include non-uniform reporting of PM concentrations which can be troublesome for regulatory agencies. For example, although Wanjura *et al.* (2008) reported a significant positive relationship between TEOM and gravimetric TSP samplers, TEOM samplers typically recorded lower concentrations of TSP than gravimetric samplers.



Photograph 25 – Dust sampler used by Galvin et al. (2005)

Galvin *et al.* (2005) focused on the use of dust deposition gauges for the measurement of particulate matter deposition. This method was in accordance to AS NZS 3580.10.1-2003 which has since been superseded by <u>AS/NZS 3580.10.1:2016</u>. Galvin also used more modern methods including high volume samplers (TSP and PM₁₀), and real time samplers (DustTrak 8520). DustTrak 8520 is an out of date model and is not included in the list of designated reference and equivalent methods for air sampling (US EPA 2016a). Potential issues with this method include reduced sampling efficiency when wind speeds exceed 35.4 kph, resulting in measurements not conforming to specified PM₁₀ monitoring standards (TSI 2005). It is interesting to note that a review of the latest US EPA (2016a) list of designated reference and equivalent methods only included one approved method for real-time particulate monitors (Met One BAM-1022 Real Time Beta Attenuation Mass Monitor; Designation Number: EQPM-1013-209; Method Code: 209).

12 Appendix B – Fact Sheet

Fact Sheets:

- 1: Sources and characteristics description
- 2: Hazard hierarchy how to address
- 3: Road Dust how to address
- 4: Pen Dust Sprinkler Systems, stocking density

Fact Sheet 1

Summary of feedlot dust sources and characteristics

A large amount of dust can be produced in feedlots. This is a complex mix of organic and inorganic particles and is generated in feed preparation and delivery, cattle movement, manure and manure management. Traffic and pen maintenance also contribute to feedlot dust. Dust characteristics are a factor of the source material, although atmospheric dispersion may result in dust from multiple sources being blended together, giving more complex dust characteristics.

Key messages

- The main sources of dust for Australian feedlots are manure-related, traffic related and feed related dust.
- Manure and traffic-related dust are considered the most significant sources of dust in Australian feedlots, with feed-related dust typically making a minor contribution to overall dust emission rates.
- Manure and feed-related dust contain a high organic matter component, whilst trafficrelated dust tends to contain a greater proportion of non-biodegradable inorganic materials.
- Dust from different sources (i.e. manure and traffic related dust) may mix together, and final dust composition may differ from the original source material.

Manure-related dust



Photograph 1 – Manure-Related Dust

Sources

Manure-related dust is derived from manure from pen surfaces, which can be problematic when pad moisture is low (i.e. < 20%), see Photograph 1.

Low pad moisture may be the result of low stocking densities, or low rainfall, particularly during the summer months. These dry conditions increase dust generation, which is aided through wind and cattle movement, cattle handling and manure management.

Characteristics

Manure-related dust contains a complex mix of organic and inorganic particles. Bedding, hair, skin scurf, insect parts, mites, fungi, bacteria and toxins are all components of manure-related dust.

Traffic related dust



Photograph 2 - Traffic Related Dust

Sources

Dust is generated from unpaved road surfaces from wind, feed trucks, and other vehicle traffic. In similarity to manurerelated dust, emissions are greatest when surface moisture is low and when fines content is high.

Characteristics

Traffic-related dust contains a high inorganic component. Inorganic components may include abrasive nonbiodegradable particulates such as silica which can become deposited deep in the lungs. Organic matter components may also be present from manure and feed related dust.

Feed related dust



Photograph 3 - Feed Related Dust

Sources

Feed related dust may be created through tub grinding feed, depositing the feed into the hopper, and depositing the feed into the feed-bunk. Dust generation is increased if the feed material is very dry, or if wind speeds are increased.

Characteristics

In the US, dust emitted from grain handling facilities may comprise approximately 70% organic materials, 17% free silica (silica dioxide), and 13% other materials, including contamination from dust and debris (Billate et al. 2004). Particle size distribution varies depending on grain type and milling process.

References

Billate, RD, Maghirang, RG, Casada, ME (2004) Measurement of Particulate Matter Emissions from Corn Receiving Operations with Simulated Hopper-Bottom Trucks. *American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **47**, 521–529.

Fact Sheet 2: Summary of hazard hierarchy – How to address

Hierarchy of hazard control is a system used in industry to minimize or eliminate exposure to hazards. Current dust reduction strategies from within the feedlot industry have been reviewed using a hazard control hierarchy, as was any new or alternative technologies from other industries, such as construction, mining and quarrying. The hazard controls in the hierarchy, in order of decreasing effectiveness are shown in Fig. 1. If the hierarchy of hazard control is followed, dust should only be a nuisance.



Key messages

- Hierarchy of hazard control is a system used in industry to minimize or eliminate exposure to hazards.
- The hazard controls in the hierarchy, in order of decreasing effectiveness, are:
- Elimination;
- Substitution;
- Engineering;
- Administration; and
- Personal protective equipment (see Fig. 1).

 If the hierarchy of hazard control is followed, dust from Australian feedlots should not be a health issue to humans or animals and should only be a nuisance.

Elimination

Elimination of the hazard (i.e. physically removing it) is the most effective hazard control. For example, bitumen sealing of all feedlot roads may eliminate dust generated by traffic.
Substitution

Substitution, the second most effective hazard control, involves replacing something that produces a hazard (similar to elimination) with something that does not produce a hazard. For example, substituting the preparation of feed rations onsite to offsite could eliminate feed related dust at the feedlot, with the risk being transferred somewhere else.

Engineered and other physical controls

The third most effective means of controlling hazards are engineered and other physical controls. These do not eliminate hazards but rather they isolate people and livestock from hazards. Capital costs of engineered controls tend to be higher and less effective in the hierarchy. "Enclosure and isolation" creates a physical barrier between personnel and hazards. An example is feedlot employees and contractors only working within airconditioned tractors and other mobile machinery. Extraction fans can remove airborne dust from feed processing as a means of engineered control.

Administrative controls

Administrative controls are changes to the way people work. Examples of administrative controls include procedure changes, employee training, and installation of signs and warning labels. Administrative controls do not remove hazards, but limit or prevent people's exposure to the hazards. For example, an administrative control to dust on feedlot access roads could be to limit traffic to those times of day when dust is rapidly dispersed, rather than late evenings when dust will remain at ground level and not disperse.

Personal protective equipment (PPE)

Personal protective equipment (PPE) includes gloves, respirators, hard hats, safety glasses, high-visibility clothing and safety footwear. PPE is the least effective means of controlling hazards because of the high potential for damage to render PPE ineffective. Additionally, some PPE, such as respirators, increase physiological effort to complete a task and, therefore, may require medical examinations to ensure workers can use the PPE without risking their health. Dust masks are a form of PPE for feedlot employees and contractors.

Fact Sheet 3:

Summary of road dust – How to address

Traffic related dust is a significant contributor to feedlot dust emissions, although hazards may be effectively managed using the hierarchy of dust hazard control (see Fig. 1). Elimination is the most effective hazard control technique, and road dust elimination may be achievable through the sealing of unpaved roads. Numerous other dust control options are also available, although these may require frequent reapplication, and strategies may have different dust control efficiencies.



Fig. 1 – Hierarchy of dust hazard control

Key messages

- Dust is generated from unpaved road surfaces from wind, feed trucks, or other vehicle traffic.
- Dust emissions are greatest when surface moisture is low and when fines content is high.
- Emissions should be controlled in accordance to the hierarchy of dust hazard control (see Fig. 1).
- Elimination is the most successful dust control strategy and this may be achieved through road sealing.

In accordance with the hierarchy of hazard control (Fig. 1), dust may be controlled by:

Elimination

Road dust can be effectively eliminated through bitumen sealing of feedlot roads (see Photograph 1).



Photograph 1 – Road dust elimination through sealing of unpaved roads

Road design

Effective road design can significantly reduce dust emissions from unpaved road surfaces. Potential dust generating material is generally considered to be less than 75 µm in diameter. For this reason, many unpaved road specifications in the US limit fines content to 5% for dust mitigation purposed (US DOT 2013). This strategy may significantly reduce dust generation on unpaved roads, although research by US DOT (2013) shows that low concentrations of fines (i.e. <10 %) indicate the road may be prone to corrugation and may require regular grader maintenance. Thompson and Visser (2007) concludes that some fine material is required to bind the larger size fractions together, which improves soil cohesion and reduces road erodibility. Fine material (<75 µm) should be optimised to between 10 to 20 % (Thompson and Visser 2007). The US DOT (2013) supplies further information for optimising road design based on grading analysis, plasticity tests and bar linear shrinkage and strength tests.

Road wetting

Road wetting reduces dust generation by increasing the energy required for material to become airborne.

Both clean water and effluent water can be employed for this purpose.



Photograph 2 – Watering unpaved road

Road additives

Road additives may include salts (especially chlorides and bicarbonates), and vegetable oils such as soybean, cottonseed and canola oil. Mineral oils should not be used for dust control purposes in Australia. Spent oil is a regulated waste product under Schedule 2E of the Queensland Environmental Protection Regulation (2008) and needs to be disposed of appropriately. Effluent water contains high salt concentrations and may have added dust suppression benefits. The difference between clean water, effluent water or clean water with an additive (i.e. a water based polymer) in regards to dust suppression has not been investigated.

Substitution

No methods identified

Engineering and other physical controls

Engineered and other physical controls may include windbreaks and air-tight vehicle cabins which physically restricts worker contact with dust.

Administrative controls

Speed restrictions

Effective administrative controls for road dust emissions include speed restrictions (Photograph 3). The Australian lot-feeding industry may enforce speed restrictions of 20 or 40 km/h on unsealed roads (Division of Air Quality 2016; Government of Western Australia 2012).

Administrative controls may also include travel restrictions on unpaved surfaces and weather monitoring for the planning and readiness of appropriate dust controls.



Photograph 3 – Speed restrictions

Personal protective equipment (PPE)

Personal protective equipment may include the use of dust masks (Photograph 4). A specific protection measure for road dust emissions may be the mandatory requirement that all vehicles have air-tight, air-conditioned cabins with dust filters. This recommendation has been taken from the mining industry where many enclosed cabs on rock drills and bulldozers do not provide adequate dust protection (Organiscak and Page 1999), as cited in (Kissell 2003).



Photograph 4 - Dust mask

References

Division of Air Quality (2016) 'Top Ten Dust Control Techniques ' Available at https://dec.alaska.gov/air/anpms/Dust/topten_dustctrl2.htm

Environmental Protection Regulation, 2008. Queensland Government, Australia

Government of Western Australia (2012) Environmental Protection Act 1986 - Amendment to Works Approval. Department of Environment and Conservation, Government of Western Australia, Perth, Western Australia. Available at https://www.google.com.au/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact =8&ved=0ahUKEwjksvaBrZLOAhXEI5QKHeITD_0QFggbMAA&url=https%3A%2F%2Fw ww.der.wa.gov.au%2Fcomponent%2Fk2%2Fitem%2Fdownload%2F438_01739c83c241 3382fd0b0daa62f06e35&usg=AFQjCNGh-f5Q3hqbf8_aF2ilCm8BhNBHfg&bvm=bv.128153897,d.dGo [Accessed 27 July 2016].

- Kissell, FN (2003) Handbook for Dust Control in Mining. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Pittsburgh, US.
- Organiscak, JA, Page, SJ (1999) Field assessment of control techniques and long-term dust variability for surface coal mine rock drills and bulldozers. *International Journal of Surface Mining Reclamation and Environment* **13**, 165-172.
- Thompson, RJ, Visser, AT (2007) Selection, performance and economic evaluation of dust palliatives on surface mine haul roads. *The Journal of The Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy* **107**, 435-450.
- US DOT (2013) Unpaved Road Dust Management. U.S. Department of Transportation No. FHWA-CFL/TD-13-001, Lakewood, Colorado, US.

Fact Sheet 4:

Summary of manure dust – How to address

Manure-related dust is most likely to be an issue when surface moisture is low (i.e. < 20%). Pen moisture needs to be carefully managed since low surface moisture leads to increased dust generation, and excessive moisture may create odor problems. Surface pen moisture kept to within 25 and 40% is typically recommended for the minimization of dust emissions (Davis *et al.* 1997; Auvermann *et al.* 2000; Lorimor 2003), and this may achieve a balance between dust mitigation whilst minimizing odor generation potential. The maintenance of stable pen moisture requires an understanding of long-term moisture inputs from seasonal rainfall and cattle effluent, and moisture losses though evaporation. Seasonal conditions may create moisture surpluses or moisture deficits, and strategies like variable stocking densities can be employed to increase or decrease pen moisture when required (through increased or decreased cattle effluent application).

Careful moisture management and regular pen cleaning are both considered successful strategies for the reduction of hazards associated with manure-related dust. These strategies have been classed as elimination controls (see Fig. 1), although manure-related dust cannot entirely be eliminated due to continual manure excretion by livestock, presenting an ever-present source material for dust generation.



Fig. 1 – Hierarchy of dust hazard control

Key messages

- Manure-related dust is largely generated by the action of cattle hooves causing dry manure to be broken down into fine particles and become suspended.
- Dust emissions are greatly influenced by animal activity, and emissions are highest when surface moisture is low (i.e. <20 %).
- Emissions should be controlled in accordance to the hierarchy of dust hazard control (see Fig. 1).

• There are no effective manure dust elimination techniques, although frequent manure removal and effective moisture management (including stocking density manipulation) are effective dust control strategies.

In accordance with the hierarchy of hazard control (Fig. 1), dust may be controlled by:

Elimination

Manure-related dust cannot entirely be eliminated, although manure removal and effective moisture management are both effective in significantly reducing the potential for dust generation (elimination controls).

Manure removal

Manure removal reduces the source material for dust generation, although this source material cannot entirely be eliminated due to constant manure excretion. The use of box scrapers is the current best practice for manure removal in Australia (Auvermann 2001; Lorimor 2003; Watts 2016). Box scrapers use a pulled blade which is able to carefully remove surface manures whilst leaving a beneficial layer of thin compacted manure (interface layer) intact (Auvermann 2001).



Fig. 2 – Manure removal during dry conditions

Manure removal activities may increase dust generation during dry conditions (Fig. 2), and very dry manure often lacks cohesion making manure removal more difficult. Anecdotal evidence suggests that manure removal efficiencies are greatest at 30-40% moisture content. Dust generation is also reduced during these conditions.

Moisture management

Water reduces dust generation by holding fine particulates together through ionic bonds. This increases the energy required for materials to become airborne, and is an effective dust suppression strategy.

Research confirmed the critical threshold moisture content for dust control is about 20% (Bonifacio 2013; Bonifacio *et al.* 2015), and water needs to be applied at depth due to disturbance of surface manures by cattle hoof action. Pen moisture can be maintained by reducing evaporation rates (i.e. through bedding material or shades), or by increasing moisture inputs (i.e. through increased stocking densities, or the use of sprinkler systems).

Stocking densities

Increased stocking density under dry conditions have been shown to significantly reduce dust emissions in the range of 80% (Bush et al. 2014). Stocking densities can easily be manipulated by increasing or decreasing the available pen area, i.e. with temporary electric fencing. This will allow the maintenance of high stocking densities during dry conditions when dust loads are likely to be problematic, and reduced stocking densities during times of increased rainfall.

This is an effective low cost dust suppression technique, although this is subject to regulatory approval. Further research investigating the manipulation of stocking densities as a means for dust control need to consider:

- A viable means of decreasing available pen area (e.g. by using electric fencing or similar) needs to be developed and trialled for existing feedlots.
- 2. For new feedlots in winterdominant rainfall zones, a new pen design should be developed where winter-tosummer pen changes can be made to easily change stocking density. This would require a review of water trough and shade location as well as a sound temporary fencing design.
- 3. Negotiations with different State regulators would need to occur to allow flexible stocking density management.

Comparison of sprinkler systems versus stocking density management

In similarity to increased stocking densities, sprinkler systems suppress dust by helping to maintain ideal pen moisture conditions. Unfortunately, very few feedlots in Australia have excess clean water availability and large quantities of water are required to successfully and consistently eliminate dust from pens.

Water availability constraints are very significant for sprinkler systems, and this appears to be the main factor limiting their use. These constraints are less applicable for stocking density manipulation where increased manure (water) inputs are a byproduct of increased cattle densities. Increased stocking densities do not require an overall change in cattle numbers, meaning that overall water consumption will remain largely unchanged. Stocking densities may instead be increased by reducing the pen area made available for cattle (i.e. through electric fencing). Dust may still be emitted from the excluded pen areas, although this will be dramatically reduced since cattle hoof action is the main mediator for manure-related dust emissions.

Substitution

Not applicable

Engineering and other physical controls

Engineered controls such as buffer distances provide effective separation distances to reduce dust concentrations to levels suitable for the surrounding community, although emissions themselves are not reduced. Other effective engineered or physical controls include windbreaks, good pen design, bedding materials and water curtains.

Administrative controls

Administrative controls help manage dust suppression efforts. For example, the use of variable stocking densities may require administrative controls to specify the conditions/threshold values required for stocking densities to be increased, or decreased.

Personal protective equipment (PPE)

In addition to generic PPE such as dust masks and eye wear (wrap-around sunglasses), bandannas are worn in the US by feedlot workers (i.e. pen riders) as a specific aid against manure-related dust. Pen riders typically keep bandanas around their necks and use them occasionally over their noses and mouths when dust concentrations are high. The effectiveness of this approach is not believed to have been evaluated in any sophisticated way (Auvermann 2016).

References

- Auvermann, BW, Parker, DB, Sweeten, JM (2000) Manure harvesting frequency The key to feedyard dust control in a summer drought, Report no. E-52-11-00. Texas Agricultural Extension Service.
- AAWS (2013) Cattle Standards and Guidelines Beef Feedlots: Discussion Paper. Australian Animal Welfare Standards and Guidelines, Braddon, Australia.
- Auvermann, BW (2016) Feedlot Dust Suppression Review. A&M Agrilife Research & Extension Center, Personal Communication.
- Auvermann, BW (2001) Lesson 42, Controlling Dust and Odour from Open Lot Livestock Facilities. Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa. Available at http://infohouse.p2ric.org/ref/42/41277/Lesson42/42_Controling_Dust_Odor.html [Accessed 15 June 2016].
- Bonifacio, HF (2013) Estimating Particulate Emission Rates from Large Beef Cattle Feedlots. PhD thesis, Kansas State University.
- Bonifacio, HF, Maghirang, RG, Trabue, SL, McConnell, LL, Prueger, JH, Bonifacio, ER (2015) TSP, PM₁₀, and PM_{2.5} emissions from a beef cattle feedlot using the flux-gradient technique. *Atmospheric Environment* **101**, 49-57.
- Bush, KJ, Heflin, KR, Marek, GW, Bryant, TC, Auvermann, BW (2014) Increasing stocking density reduces emissions of fugutive dust from cattle feedyards. *Applied Engineering in Agriculture* **30**, 815-824.
- Davis, JG, Stanton, TL, Haren, T (1997) Feedlot Manure Management. Colorado State University Cooperative Extension. Publication no. 1.220.
- Lorimor, J (2003) Module 8: Open Feedlot Construct ion and Management for Water and Air Quality Protection. Iowa State University Available at <u>http://docslide.us/documents/module-8-open-feedlot-construction-and-management-for-water-and-air-quality.html</u> [Accessed 16 June 2016].
- Watts, PJ (2016) Guide to Feedlot Management in Australia. FSA Consulting, Personal Communication.